
Mrs J Wallace
Head of Paid Service
Torridge District Council
Riverbank House
Bideford
Devon
EX39 2QG

DX 53606 BIDEFORD
Tel : Bideford (01237) 428700

Date: 15 April 2019

MEETING OF COMMUNITY & RESOURCES
On: Tuesday 23 April 2019 At: 10.00 am

Venue: Town Hall - Bridge Street, Bideford, EX39 
2HS

NOTICE OF MEETING
To: Councillor D Hurley (Chair)

Councillor A Dart (Vice-Chair)
Councillors: D Brenton, K Davis, P Hackett, R Hicks, J Himan, S Inch, R Lock, 
D McGeough, J Whittaker and R Wiseman

Members are requested to turn off their mobile phones for the duration of the meeting

AGENDA
PART I - (OPEN SESSION)

1.  Apologies for Absence 
To receive apologies for absence from the meeting.

2.  Minutes of the Community & Resources Committee meeting held on 4 March 
2019 (Pages 4 - 10)

3.  Public Contributions 
Public contributions in accordance with the current scheme

4.  Forward Plan (Page 11)

5.  Declarations of Interest 
Members with interests to declare should refer to the Agenda item and describe the 
nature of their interest when the item is being considered.



- 2 -

6.  Agreement of Agenda between Parts I and II 

7.  Urgent Matters of information to be brought forward with the permission of the 
Chair and the Committee 

8.  Adoption of an Updated Devon Wide Housing Assistance (Pages 12 - 43)
To receive the report of the Environmental Health and Community Safety Manager

9.  Household Waste Duty of Care - setting of Fixed Penalty Notice Levels (Pages 
44 - 46)
To receive the report of the Environmental Health and Community Safety Manager

10.  Bideford Port Safety Management System (Pages 47 - 76)
To receive the report of the Planning and Economy Manager

11.  Adoption of the North Devon Coast Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
Management Plan 2019 -2024 (Pages 77 - 128)
To receive the report of the Planning and Economy Manager

12.  Devon County Council Grant Funding for Community Groups and Local 
Projects (Pages 129 - 131)
To receive the report of the Planning and Economy Manager

13.  Torridge District Council Play Strategy (Pages 132 - 136)
To receive the report of the Planning and Economy Manager

14.  Fees & Charges - Lease Agreements (Recommendations from Internal Overview 
& Scrutiny Committee) (Pages 137 - 139)
To receive the report of the Strategic Manager (Resources)

15.  Transforming Torridge Programme 
To receive a verbal update 

16.  Exclusion of the Public 
The Chair to move:

That the public be excluded from the remainder of the meeting because of the likely 
disclosure of exempt information by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part I and paragraph 10 
of Part 2 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

17.  PART II (CLOSED SESSION) 

18.  Property Purchase (Homeless Accommodation) (Pages 140 - 146)
To receive the report of the Strategic Manager (Resources)



- 3 -

19.  Application for Hardship Relief (Pages 147 - 149)
To receive the report of the Customer Support Manager

Meeting Organiser: Democratic Services



1

TORRIDGE DISTRICT COUNCIL

COMMUNITY & RESOURCES MEETING

Town Hall - Bridge Street, Bideford, EX39 2HS

Monday, 4 March 2019 - 6.30 pm

PRESENT Councillor D Hurley (Chair)
Councillors A Dart, D Brenton, K Davis, P Hackett, R Hicks, 
J Himan, S Inch, R Lock, D McGeough and R Wiseman

ALSO PRESENT J Wallace - Head of Paid Service
S Hearse - Strategic Manager (Resources)
S Dorey - Senior Solicitor
S Kearney - Planning & Economy Manager
C Fuller - Economic Development Officer
S Cawsey - Democratic Services Officer
M Richards - Democratic Services Officer
K Hewlett - Electoral and Democratic Services Officer
H Roper - Service Improvement Officer

                       Councillors T Inch, P Pennington, A Eastman, P Christie, N Laws
                       and G Dezart

 Approximately 115 members of the public

97.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

An Apology for absence was received from Councillor Whittaker.

97.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

An Apology for absence was received from Councillor Whittaker.

98.   MINUTES OF THE COMMUNITY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 14 January 2019 were agreed.

(Vote:  For – 7, Abstentions 4) 

The Minutes of the Budget Special meeting held on 4 February were agreed.

(Vote:  For – 9, Abstentions 2) 

99.   ACTION LIST 

The Action List was noted.

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



2

100.   PUBLIC CONTRIBUTIONS 

The following members of the public addressed the meeting opposing to the 
recommendation for Agenda item 9 (Avon Lane Site):

Roger Tisdale, Christine Hutchins, Avril Jewell, Zoe Morrow, Claire Hodson, Adrian 
Attrel.

The following comments were made:

The development proposal was not in keeping with the Green Infrastructure 
Strategy introduced by Full Council in 2014, particularly in terms of health and 
social wellbeing.  It did nothing to promote a healthier lifestyle.

The council claims it is customer focused yet it had chosen to ignore the voice of 
4,000 people who had signed a petition.

The public were losing their confidence in elected members.

Friends of Westward Ho! Park had been set up in November 2018.  106 
households, local and from further afield, had subscribed to the Group.  The Group 
was working voluntarily to tidy up and maintain the park.

Younger people needed somewhere to go to participate less formally in outdoor 
activities.

The current park offers an opportunity for play whilst at the same time being  a safe 
place.  

Reference was made to the Northam Town Council Business Plan and Councillors 
were implored to give NTC some credit in respect of their assessment of their 
capacity to manage the park.  The Town Council has a vision to access funding.

Having an outdoor space is so important for people’s mental health.

The state of repair of the pavilion was brought into question and a copy of the 
independent surveyors report was requested.  A freedom of information request to 
have access to the document will be submitted.

A call was made that the whole of the park be returned to the community.

Councillors were invited to visit the park.

101.   FORWARD PLAN 

The Forward Plan was noted.  

Page 5



3

102.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Declarations of interest were made when the specific agenda items to which they 
related were under discussion.

103.   AGREEMENT OF AGENDA BETWEEN PARTS I AND II 

There were no Part II items.

104.   URGENT MATTERS OF INFORMATION TO BE BROUGHT FORWARD WITH 
THE PERMISSION OF THE CHAIR AND THE COMMITTEE 

There were no urgent matters brought forward.

105.   AVON LANE SITE 

Councillors J Himan and K Davis declared interests – dual hatted – Northam Town 
Council

Prior to the presentation of this item, the Head of Paid Service addressed the 
meeting and clarified the two roles of the Authority - one as a Planning Authority 
and the other as landowner of the particular site.  She emphasised that this 
Committee would be dealing only with the ownership of the land and the principles 
of the future of the site, and not with any planning issues.  Members were reminded 
that at a previous meeting of Community & Resources Committee in January 2018 
a decision had been made to progress with the development of the site and to 
submit a planning application for that development.    Officers have been working 
toward that based on that decision.

This Committee had also considered the application from Northam Town Council 
for a Community Asset Transfer, but this had been rejected.  

The Head of Paid Service explained that because of the highly contentious nature 
relating to the future of this asset and the comments being made, questions being 
asked it had become necessary to deal with this application in a manner not 
normally followed with similar applications.   As such the application and Business 
Plan had been reviewed by an external person.  This was not the normal process 
followed by the Authority and in particular when Members had already made a 
decision, as Officers would normally simply reject the application on that basis.

The Head of Paid Service reiterated her comments that this Committee would only 
be looking at the principles of this particular matter, and would have to decide on 
whether to progress with the original decision to develop, keep in house and retain 
the park or to look at some way of a community asset transfer, which would be at a 
value.  If the latter option was to be supported, it would involve further negotiations 
and it would be at this point that the Business Plan submitted by Northam Town 
Council would be considered in detail.

Page 6



4

She also explained that the site had been Registered as an Asset of Community 
Value and such assets were dealt with under a separate process.

Following an enquiry from Councillor Lock, Chair of Plans Committee, the Senior 
Solicitor advised that Plans Committee Members could participate in the debate 
and decision making as no discussions would involve the planning application.

The Planning and Economy Manager gave a brief overview of the report, the 
purpose of which was to update Members in respect of the Land at Avon Lane, and 
to make recommendations about how to proceed.  

A proposal was put forward by Councillor Brenton that Torridge District Council 
transfer the whole of the park to Northam Town Council on a 99 year lease.  There 
was no seconder.  He also called for suspension of standing orders to allow for 
discussions to take place in relation to the transfer of a community asset, this was 
seconded by Councillor Davis.    The Head of Paid Service clarified that the 
suspension of standing orders would not be needed as the matter was being 
debated.

Councillor McGeough proposed to refuse the recommendation and the proposed 
development and to sell to Northam Town Council for £1.  He sought an 
explanation from the Senior Solicitor if she were minded not to accept his proposal.  
When giving Legal advice the Senior Solicitor advised that to dispose of the land for 
£1 would be unlawful.    This advice was disputed by Members. There was no 
seconder to the motion.  The Senior Solicitor and Head of Paid Service responded 
outlining that there was no need to propose to refuse the recommendation as 
voting against it would achieve that outcome, and that Councillor McGeough could 
propose an amendment to the recommendation contained in the report.

Councillor A Inch addressed the Committee and stated that when this matter had 
first been put forward, he had been supportive of the Council disposing of the land 
for proposed development.   He had now had a change of mind, and was of the 
opinion that the way forward would be by a Lease to Northam Town Council, and to 
include clauses stating that work within the park to start within 12 months and to be 
finished within three years.  If this was not achieved then the park to come back to 
this Authority.   He suggested this item should be deferred for further investigation.

During the debate the Head of Paid Service reminded Members on numerous 
occasions of the issues to be debated and voted upon, which had been outlined 
before the item was presented.

The Head of Paid Service addressed concerns raised in relation to the Business 
Plan.   She advised that the Plan had been circulated by Northam Town Council, 
and confirmed that Torridge District Council had not imposed any restrictions to the 
Plan.  She further explained that this was not included in the report as Members 
needed to confirm their original decision or reverse/change that decision.

Councillor Laws addressed the meeting in support of Westward Ho! Park and 
outlined the arguments against developing the site.

Page 7



5

It was proposed by Councillor McGeough that the recommendation be refused and 
the development proposal not be progressed and that it be kept as an asset of 
Torridge District Council with a condition that the residents of Westward Ho! 
maintain the park at no cost to this Authority.    This motion was seconded by 
Councillor Brenton.   No vote was taken.

A discussion followed on the voting protocol regarding recommendations and 
amendments.

Councillor Wiseman proposed that this Council cease the proposed development in 
Westward Ho! Park.  This was seconded by Councillor Davis.  No vote was taken.

Councillor Dart expressed her support for the park and suggested that the 
recommendation be amended to state that the Asset Transfer Application by 
Northam Town Council be revisited and the development proposal is not 
progressed.

The Head of Paid Service again reiterated that Officers had been working to 
Members instructions, and Members were now required to make a decision on 
whether they wished to change their original decision.   If Members were minded to 
support the Asset Transfer Application, the same process would be followed as 
other asset transfers and discussions would need to take place with Northam Town 
Council.   A report would be brought back to Members.

Councillor Hicks commented that he had concerns with transferring an asset with 
an unknown value.   He put forward an amendment to the recommendation, that 
the Transfer be held in abeyance, and Northam Town Council prepare a Business 
Plan once the value of the land is known, and that the development proposal is put 
on hold.  He stated that the planning application should be submitted as this would 
be a means of therefore determining the value of the site.

It was proposed by Councillor Brenton, seconded by Councillor Dart that the 
recommendation be refused.   No vote was taken.

Councillor Laws, although supportive of the Park, acknowledged the following:

 the Business Plan having been reviewed by an independent assessor 
 it would not be feasible for the Park to be given to the residents of Westward 

Ho!
 it cannot be transferred for £1, Northam Town Council would need to pay the 

price, but should be entitled to 1/3 discount. 

Motions previously put forward were withdrawn.

It was proposed by Councillor Dart, seconded by Councillor Davis -

That the Asset Transfer Application by Northam Town Council be revisited and the 
development proposal is not progressed.

Page 8



6

A recorded vote was requested and supported by more than five Members as 
required by the Constitution.

COUNCILLOR FOR AGAINST ABSTAIN

Hurley D X

Dart A X

Brenton D X

Davis K X

Hackett P X

Hicks R X

Himan J X

Inch S X

Lock R X

McGeough D X

Wiseman R X

(Vote:  For 9, Against 2)

Resolved:

That the Asset Transfer Application by Northam Town Council be revisited and the 
development proposal is not progressed.

106.   TORRIDGE BUSINESS INVESTMENT GRANT 

The purpose of the report, presented by the Economic Development Officer, was to 
update Members about the Torridge Business Investment Grant Scheme and to 
seek final approval for roll-out.

A short PowerPoint presentation was delivered to supplement the report.  
Feedback received had been very positive and a lot of people were keen to learn 
more about the scheme.

Members raised concerns with the number of pages on the application form and felt 
this may well put people off applying.  It was recommended by the Planning and 
Economy Manager that a review of the form at officer level, in conjunction with the 
Lead Member for the Economy, be undertaken.

A question was raised about widening the catchment area to include agriculture 
and care for the elderly.  The Economic Development Officer responded that the 
scheme aimed to create jobs, regardless of which sector of employment, and he 
welcomed suggestions of any other groups to be incorporated in the scheme.

Page 9



7

The Planning & Economy Manager clarified that the funding was to support the 
recruitment of a first employee.

It was proposed by Councillor Hackett, seconded by Councillor McGeough and - 

Resolved:

1. That The Torridge Business Investment Grant scheme to support the 
recruitment of a first employee for a qualifying Torridge-based business be 
rolled out offering a grant of up to £5000.

2. That the scheme be open to applicants until June 30th. After this the scheme 
will be closed to applicants and the grant panel will meet to consider 
applications and to propose grant awards.

3. That the Grant panel to consist of: 

 The Leader of the Council; 
 Lead Member for the Economy; 
 Economic Development Officer; 
 Senior Revenue Accountant; 
 An independent accountant.

4. That sign-off for the grant awards be assigned to the following officers: 

 Head of Paid Services
 Strategic Manager (Resources)
 Planning and Economy Manager

(Vote: For – unanimous)

The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm and closed at 8.40 pm

Chair: Date:

Page 10



COMMUNITY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE FORWARD PLAN – 2019/20

Leadership 21 May 2019
2pm 

25 June 2019
2pm

30 July 2019
2pm 

24 Sept 2019
2pm 

12 Nov. 2019
2pm 

7 January 2020
2pm 

18 February 2020
2pm 

7 April 2020
2pm 

Community 
& Resources

(Mondays)

10 June 2019
10am 

15 July 2019
6pm

TUESDAY
27 August 2019

10am

14 October 2019
6pm 

25 November 2019
10am

20 January 2020
6pm 

16 March 2020
6pm

TUESDAY
27 April 2020

10am

Finance Draft Outturn Report 
(DH)

Performance QBR Q1
(Any 

recommendations 
from Internal Scrutiny)

QBR Q2
(Any recommendations 
from Internal Scrutiny)

QBR Q3
(Any recommendations 
from Internal Scrutiny)

Other Leisure contract - 
options appraisal 

(JJ)

Proposed alteration 
to Covenant - Hotel 
Site Westward Ho! 

(AW)

Petition 
Stirlings/Fireworks 

(SK)

Call In – Avon Lane 
(SK)?

3 February 2020 – 
10am

Budget Special

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 4



REPORT OF Environmental Health and Community Safety Manager
To: Community and Resources Committee
Subject: Adoption of an Updated Devon Wide Housing Assistance 
Date: 23rd April 2019 Reference:RRO2

PURPOSE OF REPORT: To present an updated Housing Assistance Policy under Article 4 of 
the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002 for 
consideration. The policy has been agreed across Devon for the improved delivery of the 
Better Care Fund.  This will update the existing policy that was agreed and adopted in June 
2018 for the 18/19 financial year.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 In 2015 the Government introduced the Better Care Fund (BCF) in an attempt to 
bring health and social care together in an integrated way. The fund is a combination 
of government funding from the Department of Health and the Department for 
Communities and Local Government and includes the grant allocation for disabled 
facilities grants (DFG). The 2017-19 Integration and Better Care fund policy 
framework document lists the conditions that the better care fund must be used to 
address and in particular this includes working together on a jointly agreed plan.

1.2 In 2018 the Devon Authorities developed and collectively adopted a Devon Wide 
Housing Assistance policy. This allowed each council to fully utilise the Better Care 
Fund allocation to meet specific needs across the county that may fall outside of the 
scope of the mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant scheme. The 2018/2019 policy was 
to be reviewed by the group in preparation for 2019/20, which has been carried out 
and the revisions put forward in this policy are as a result of that review. 

1.3 At the time of writing this report, end of year figures on DFG spend are not available 
but they have increased over the previous year, however is still well within the 
allocation given to TDC. BCF allocation is due to increase but the exact amount each 
authority will receive has yet to be determined. At the current time, it is anticipated 
that the broadening of this policy can be met through available funds. 

1.4      A copy of the proposed policy is given in appendix 1 to this report.

2. REPORT

2.1 The policy aims to provide a consistent approach to the delivery of the Better 
Care Fund across Devon that satisfies the terms of the funding agreement. This 
consistency has been particularly apparent with our work with delivery partners such 
as Care Direct’s Occupational Therapists, Devon County Council and the range of 

Page 12

Agenda Item 8



contractors  used to carry out the works. The benefits of a single Devon wide 
approach have been established. 

2.2 The policy will provide the flexibility and discretion for the councils to provide 
appropriate assistance to meet the following objectives:

Objective 1 - Assist disabled residents to remain in their own homes through supporting 
the provision of adaptations (so far as this is necessary, appropriate and reasonably 
practicable) to prevent admissions to care and to assist with delayed transfers where 
possible.

Objective 2 – Safeguard the health and well-being of vulnerable residents by removing 
unnecessary hazards to health and safety in the home to reduce avoidable emergency 
admissions

Objective 3 – Provide adaptations that are suitable for the future by ensuring the scheme 
of works is dementia aware.

Objective 4 – Assist vulnerable people to afford to heat their homes through appropriate 
energy efficiency and heating measures.

2.3 These objectives meet the combined priorities of the BCF, the district councils and 
the county council in Devon.

3.0 Summary of the Assistance contained in the policy

Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG)

3.1 The delivery of the Disabled Facilities Grant programme is mandatory and a 
statutory function of the local housing authority (Housing Renewal Team). The 
delivery of this function is governed by the Housing Grants, Construction and 
Regeneration Act 1996.

3.2 There are no proposed changes to this part of the policy other than to introduce 
clarification that additional works specifically required to manage disability caused by 
dementia or related conditions are eligible.

Accessible Homes Grant  

3.3 The Accessible Homes Grant enables an enhanced offer in addition to the 
Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant subject to available funding. 

3.4 This grant is available in the following circumstances:

 Where a mandatory grant has been approved but the cost of the work exceeds 
£30,000.

 Where there are works that may not be covered by the DFG in relation to adapting 
the home and making it safe.

 Where the means test identifies that a contribution is required.

Page 13



 Where moving house more appropriate than adapting the existing property. 

3.5 The main change to this part of the policy is the introduction of a stair lift grant. This 
grant is not means tested and is available to provide an internal stair lift where a 
need has been identified by an NHS Occupational Therapist or a Social Services 
Occupational Therapist. This means that we can help people be discharged from 
hospital much more quickly. 

3.6 Mid Devon together with Exeter City Council have been piloting this change 
successfully since December 2018.

 
Healthy Homes grant

3.4 The Healthy Homes grant is a flexible grant to provide urgent/essential repairs to the 
home to ensure the health, safety and welfare of the occupier. This has been 
extended to include helping those residents at risk due to hoarding or accumulations 
in their property and removes the age minimum requirement (60) that was in the 
previous policy.

Home Improvement Loan 

3.8 Wessex Resolutions Community Interest Company (WRCIC) currently 
administers loans within the requirements of this policy and the local policies of each 
district council within Devon. The Home Improvement Loan is a flexible product that 
can be used for the following purposes:

 Home repairs and improvements
 Adaptation works where grant is not available
 To cover a client contribution to a grant
 To cover the cost of the work over the DFG or Accessible Homes grant maximum.
 To bring empty homes back into use
 For landlords to carry out repairs or improvement to rented accommodation 
 For energy efficiency improvements

3.10 There are no proposed changes to this part of the policy.

ECO flex top up

3.6 This grant is to provide top up funding for energy efficiency measures where Energy 
Company Obligation (ECO) Flex funding and ECO top ups (HHCRO) have been 
provided by energy providers but the available funding does not cover the full cost of 
the work. The policy increased this top up from £1000 to £2000. In areas such as this 
where take up of Ecoflex has been particularly high, specific criteria to access the 
higher level of this funding is currently being developed. 

3.7 The eligibility for ECO Flex funding itself is subject to a separate Statement of Intent 
issued by each Local Authority setting our local criteria. All ECO funding is not 

Page 14



provided by the Local Authority and is accessed by installing contractors directly 
under the national Energy Company Obligation scheme.

4. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications

The Council must have an up to date and relevant Housing Assistance Policy under Article 
4 of the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002 in order 
to be able to provide assistance across the district.

Financial Implications

The assistance detailed in the policy will utilise the Better Care Fund (BCF) allocation 
received by the Council. The delivery of the assistance will be dependent on available 
external funding from the BCF pot held by Devon County Council.

The Council is not expected to provide its own capital towards the delivery of the assistance 
as the BCF is currently sufficient to cover existing demand.

Future allocations of the BCF from Devon County Council will be made on a demand basis 
and therefore the allocation may differ from that published by DCLG. This is to ensure that 
the basic demand for mandatory disabled facilities grants (DFG) is met first as a priority for 
the whole of the County before any remaining funding is distributed to the district councils 
for the other forms of assistance found in the policy.

There is an ability for the Council to suspend all or parts of the discretionary elements of the 
policy locally (i.e. everything except the mandatory DFGs) if BCF funding is not adequate 
within any given year due to exceptional demand. 

Human Resources Implications

Since the previous policy was adopted, TDC has entered into an arrangement with a 
neighbouring authority who are currently processing DFG applications on our behalf. This 
arrangement will continue in 2019/20 and that authority has agreed that any additional work 
arising will fall under this arrangement. We will monitor the additional workload this will 
generate over the coming year and this will be used to determine arrangements for 20/21. 
As such, there are minimal impacts on our own resources for the coming year in adopting 
this policy. 

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications

None 

Equality/Diversity

Allocation of funding support is in line with all requirements of equality legislation and 
standards.

Page 15



Risk Management

Failure to adopt the policy will mean that the additional elements of funding, beyond our 
statutory DFG obligations, will not be available to our residents and TDC will not be able to 
access BCF funding that is available to neighbouring authorities. This may result in risk to 
the reputation of the council, as well as loss of support to the most vulnerable of our 
residents.

Compliance with Policies and Strategies

The Housing Assistance Policy sets out the forms of financial assistance that may be 
available subject to available funding. The policy concentrates on disabled adaptations and 
assisting elderly and vulnerable people. The policy will help the Council meet the goal to 
deliver stronger, safer, and healthier communities. It also meets BCF goals by reducing the 
impact of an aging population and helping the elderly to retain their independence and 
remain in their own home.

Data Protection (GDPR) Implications

None

Ward Member and Lead Member Views

The Housing lead member has been consulted on these proposals and is supportive.

4. CONCLUSIONS

Adoption of the policy is in line with Devon wide best practice and policy and will allow 
enhanced access to BCF funding for the benefit of the most vulnerable of our residents. 

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

That the revised Housing Assistance Policy attached in appendix 1 be approved for TDC

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Members 
Consulted:

Cllr Simmons

Contact Officer: Janet Williams
Janet.williams@torridge.gov.uk
01237 428857

Background 
Papers:

TDC’s current Housing Renewal Policy can be found at 
https://www.torridge.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=18649&p=0
 

TDC’s Ecoflex Statement of Intent: 
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=18418&p=0 

Page 16

mailto:Janet.williams@torridge.gov.uk
https://www.torridge.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=18649&p=0
http://www.torridge.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=18418&p=0


Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

1

HOUSING ASSISTANCE POLICY FOR THE BETTER 
CARE FUND 2019-22

Adopted xxx

Page 17



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

2

CONTENTS

1.0 Introduction
1.1 Purpose
1.2 Review
1.3 Funding 

2.0 Context
2.1 Housing and Health
2.2 Better Care Fund
2.3 Delayed transfers of care

3.0 Priorities

4.0 Types of Assistance
4.1 Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG)
4.2 Accessible Homes Grant
4.3 Healthy Homes Grant
4.4 Home Improvement Loans
4.5 Top up to Eco-Flex

5.0 Exceptions to the policy 

6.0 Appeals and Complaints

Appendix One - Eligible works

Appendix Two – Local Policies

Appendix Three – Summary Table 

Page 18



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

3

HOUSING ASSISTANCE POLICY FOR THE BETTER CARE 
FUND 2019-22

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Purpose
This policy is required under Article 4 of the Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance)
(England and Wales) Order 2002. The Order provides councils with the discretion to 
develop schemes to provide financial assistance to deal with a range of housing 
issues. This policy sets out the areas on which Devon will focus any available 
resources in order to improve housing conditions across the district. With limited 
resources available it is essential that funding is targeted to those areas that 
contribute to the delivery of the Better Care Fund and Health and Wellbeing Board 
priorities and local district council priorities.

The policy covers a three-financial year period: 2019/20, 2020/21 and 2021/22

This policy provides the Devon Councils with the flexibility and discretion to provide 
appropriate assistance to meet the aims and priorities set out in section 3 below. 

Appendix 2 allows for each local authority to deliver its own local schemes that may 
be available over and above the Devon wide schemes. 

This policy is owned by the following Councils:
Devon County Council
East Devon District Council
Exeter City Council
Mid Devon District Council
North Devon District Council
South Hams District Council
Teignbridge District Council
Torridge District Council
West Devon District Council

1.2 Review 
The policy will be reviewed if any significant changes to policy or funding occur, or at 
the expiry of this current policy

1.3 Funding

Page 19



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

4

The assistance contained within this policy is only available subject to the availability 
of funding. Where funding is limited priority for spend will be given to the Mandatory 
Disabled Facilities Grant across the County.

2.0 CONTEXT

2.1 Housing and Health
Housing is a key determinant of health, and by promoting good quality housing this 
policy can contribute to reducing health inequalities for the residents of Devon.

In 2008, flexibilities were introduced enabling councils to use government grant that 
has been allocated for disabled facilities grants to be used more intelligently to 
deliver adaptations for disabled people outside of the mandatory grant regime.  

Research has shown that there is a direct impact on the health and well-being of 
residents resulting from the homes in which they live; therefore, poor housing can 
contribute to poor health.

Each year hazards in the home result in unnecessary injuries, episodes of ill-health, 
and harm to mental health and in many cases the occupiers do not link the poor 
condition of their homes with a potential negative impact on their health. The poorest 
housing stock can be found in the private sector, and in some cases residents who 
own their own home are not able to maintain them and as a result hazards can 
develop. 

An estimated 34,400 excess winter deaths were recorded in England and Wales in 
2016/17 as reported by the Office of National Statistics (ONS) in their document 
Excess Winter Mortality in England and Wales 2016-17.

Many of these people die unnecessarily as a result of living in cold homes each year. 
Although the data collected does not identify the number of people that die directly 
as a result of the home environment various studies have found a link and these are 
detailed within the ONS report. In extreme cases the inability to afford to heat the 
home results in cold temperatures that create hypothermic conditions; however, for 
many individuals (particularly older persons) cold homes may result in trips, slips and 
falls, or injuries/health impacts resulting from cardiovascular, circulatory diseases 
and respiratory disease.

2.2 Better Care Fund 
In 2015 the government introduced the Better Care fund in an attempt to bring health 
and social care together in an integrated way. The fund is a combination of 

Page 20



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

5

government funding from the Department of Health and the Department for 
Communities and Local Government and includes the grant allocation for disabled 
facilities grants (DFG). The 2017-19 Integration and Better Care fund policy 
framework document lists the conditions that the better care fund must be used to 
address.

These are:
Condition 1: Plans to be jointly agreed – The plan to use the BCF allocation must be 
jointly agreed and signed off by the Health and Wellbeing Board, and constituent 
councils and clinical commissioning groups. The local housing authority must also be 
involved due to the inclusion of the DFG allocation, which forms part of the fund.

Condition 2: NHS contribution to social care is maintained in line with inflation. -  
The funding must be used to contribute to the maintenance of adult social care 
services in each local authority, which also has a health benefit. However, beyond 
this broad condition, the Department of Health wants to provide flexibility for local 
areas to determine how this investment in adult social care services is best used.

Condition 3: Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out of hospital services, 
which may include 7 day services and adult social care - This should be achieved by 
funding NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services, which may also include 7-day 
services and adult social care, as part of the agreed BCF plan. 

Condition 4: Managing Transfers of Care - Plans should set out how local partners 
will work together to fund and implement transfers of care effectively.
More detail can be found in the 2017-19 Integration and Better Care Fund Policy 
Framework.

Based on these broad conditions, Devon county Council and the District Councils 
have identified an opportunity to provide additional grant and loan products to meet 
these conditions and deliver against the Health and Wellbeing Board priorities.

2.3 Delayed transfers of care.
Delayed transfers of care, sometimes referred to as ‘bed-blocking’, occur when a 
patient is ready to depart from care and is still occupying a bed. According to NHS 
England, a patient is ready to depart when:

a. A clinical decision has been made that the patient is ready for transfer AND
b. A multi-disciplinary team decision has been made that the patient is ready 
for transfer, AND
c. The patient is safe to discharge/transfer.

Page 21



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

6

In 2016/17 there were 2.3 million total delayed days in England with 1.3 million of 
these attributable to the NHS, averaging around 6,200 delayed transfers of care per 
day with around 3,600 of these attributable to the NHS. Delayed transfers of care in the NHS 
Briefing paper number 7415, 20 June 2017.

The longer a patient stays in hospital the more detrimental this can be in terms of 
patient morale, mobility, and an increase in the risk of hospital-acquired infections.

Older patients are particularly susceptible to negative effects around mobility with 
studies suggesting that a wait of more than two days negates the benefit of 
intermediate care, and a wait of seven days or more is associated with a 10% 
decline in muscle strength.

Delayed transfers of care are also costly for hospital trusts as insufficient beds can 
mean elective procedures need to be cancelled, resulting in the hospital trust losing 
these as a source of income. 

A survey in 2015 by the Guardian found that at least 10% of beds were occupied by 
patients who were ready to be discharged and the NHS providers’ audited accounts 
for 2016/17 estimated that delayed transfers of care cost £173 million.

Much of the recent debate around delayed transfers of care attributes rising numbers 
to pressures in social care. 

The number of delayed days attributable to social care had been in decline until 
August 2013, after which the figure began to rise sharply. When looking at the 
specific reasons for delayed transfers of care, there are notable increases in non-
healthcare reasons as indicated below:

Page 22



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

7

3.0 PRIORITIES

In Devon, the Better Care Fund priorities aim to achieve the following outcomes:
 Reduced admissions to residential and nursing care homes
 Reduce delayed transfers of care
 Reduce avoidable emergency admissions
 Increase dementia diagnosis rates 

To meet these priorities this policy aims to focus on the following areas:

Objective 1 - Assist disabled residents to remain in their own homes through 
supporting the provision of adaptations (so far as this is necessary, appropriate and 
reasonably practicable) to prevent admissions to care and to assist with delayed 
transfers where possible.

Objective 2 – Safeguard the health and well-being of vulnerable residents by 
removing unnecessary hazards to health and safety in the home to reduce avoidable 
emergency admissions

Objective 3 – Provide adaptations that are suitable for the future by ensuring the 
scheme of works is dementia aware.

Page 23



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

8

Objective 4 – Assist vulnerable people to afford to heat their homes through 
appropriate energy efficiency and heating measures.

4.0 TYPES OF ASSISTANCE 

4.1 Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG)
The delivery of the disabled facilities grant programme is mandatory and a statutory 
function of the local housing authority. The delivery of this function is governed by 
the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996. 
 
Eligibility 
Any disabled householder seeking financial assistance with the cost of adaptations 
to their home must be assessed by an occupational therapist (OT) working on behalf 
of, or approved by Devon County Council. 

For the purposes of the DFG a person is considered disabled if they meet any of the 
following criteria:

 their sight, hearing or speech is substantially impaired,

 they have  a mental disorder or impairment of any kind, or

 they are physically substantially disabled by illness, injury, impairment present 
since birth, or otherwise.

A person aged eighteen or over shall be considered disabled if:

 they are registered under section 29(1) of the National Assistance Act 1948 
(disabled persons’ welfare), or

 they are a person for whose welfare arrangements have been made under 
that provision or, in the opinion of the social services authority, might be made 
under it.

A person under the age of eighteen shall be considered disabled if:

 they are on a register of disabled children maintained under paragraph 2 of 
Schedule 2 to the Children Act 1989, or

 they are in the opinion of the social services authority a disabled child as 
defined for the purposes of Part III of the Children Act 1989 (local authority 
support for children and their families).

All owner-occupiers, tenants, licensees or occupiers who meet the above criteria are 
eligible to apply for a DFG. 

Page 24



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

9

Conditions 
1. All grants other than those for children are subject to a test of financial resources, 

which is prescribed by The Housing Renewal Grants Regulations 1996. 
2. The grant maximum is £30,000
3. The disabled person must intend to occupy the property as their only or main 

residence for a period of five years after the works are complete (or such shorter 
period as the person’s health or other relevant circumstances permit). 

4. In order to make an application the client must supply the following:
 A completed and signed application form
 Evidence of financial situation
 Evidence of ownership of the property or the right to reside at the property
 Permission for the works to be carried out
 A detailed schedule of works and plans for complex works that must be 

agreed by the council 
 Any planning or building regulation approvals
 2 tenders for the works unless using an agreed framework.

5. Only the works agreed by the council will be covered by the grant.
6. If the grant is approved there are 12 months to complete the works
7. The works must be completed by the contractor stated on the approval document
8. No grant works should proceed until the grant application has been processed 

and all relevant planning, Building Regulation or landlord approval has been 
obtained. 

9. Owner occupiers may have a local land charge placed on their property on 
completion of the grant. If the property is sold, assigned or transferred within 10 
years of the grant being completed then the grant may have to be repaid. The 
council will have regard to The Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration 
Act 1996: Disabled Facilities Grants (Conditions relating to approval or payment 
of Grant) General Consent 2008 when deciding whether to demand repayment. 
The charge only applies where the grant is more than £5,000. Where the grant is 
more than £5000 only the amount over the first £5,000 is added as a charge. 
There is a charge limit of £10,000.

10. If the applicant has a contribution to pay they must ensure they have the money 
to cover their share of the costs before the work begins on site.

11.Unforeseen and additional costs will only be paid for where they are necessary to 
complete the adaptation and must be agreed by the council before they are 
undertaken.

12.Any increase in the grant may have an impact on the charge placed against the 
property.

13.Where the cost of the work exceeds the mandatory grant limit of £30,000 the 
applicant may be eligible to apply for the Accessible Homes Grant subject to 
available funds.

Page 25



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

10

14.Applicants who are successful in their application for assistance will be required 
to maintain the adaptation. 

15.The contract for the works is the responsibility of the applicant.
16.The grant will normally be paid direct to contractors in all but the most exceptional 

cases.
17.The council will only offer grant for those works that are considered mandatory to 

meet the needs of the disabled person. 
18.No grant will be paid until a satisfactory invoice has been received and the works 

have been carried out to the satisfaction of the client and Council.

4.2 Accessible Homes Grant  
The Accessible Homes Grant enables an enhanced offer in addition to the 
Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant subject to available funding. 
This grant is available in the following circumstances:

 Where a mandatory grant has been approved but the cost of the work 
exceeds £30,000

 Where there are works that may not be covered by the DFG in relation to 
adapting the home and making it safe or in relation to fees associated with  
feasibility works to determine if the adaptation can proceed

 Where the means test identifies that a contribution is required.
 Where moving house more appropriate than adapting the existing property. 

Eligibility  
To be eligible for this grant the applicant must meet the following:

 The applicant must have applied for and be eligible for the DFG first before 
the discretionary grant can be considered.

 All applicants are subject to a means test including the parents and/or 
guardians of a disabled child. Adult clients will have been means tested as 
part of the formal DFG application. In the case of a child’s application the 
means test will be applied to the parents or guardians of the disabled child 
before an application for a discretionary grant can be made.

 As an alternative to the adaptation of an applicant’s home, consideration will 
be given to the option of re-housing to more appropriate or adapted 
accommodation. 

 An applicant will only be eligible to apply for additional grant to cover any 
identified contribution where the amount the client has to pay represents at 
least a third or more of the applicant’s savings. 

Conditions 
1. Conditions relating to the DFG as described above also apply.
2. The grant maximum is £20,000. Anything over £20,000 will not attract any 

further public grant unless in exceptional cases. 

Page 26



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

11

3. Where additional funding is required to cover either a contribution or the cost 
of works over £50,000 (£30,000 from the Disabled Facilities Grant and 
£20,000 from the Accessible Homes Grant), then a Home Improvement Loan 
application can be made.

4. The DFG paperwork will be used to assist the applicant in making an 
application for this grant. 

5. Only the works agreed by the council will be covered by the grant
6. If the grant is approved there are 12 months to complete the works
7. The works must be completed by the contractor stated on the approval 

document
8. No grant works should proceed until the grant application has been processed 

and all relevant planning, Building Regulation or landlord approval has been 
obtained. 

9. Owner occupiers will have a local land charge placed on their property on 
completion of the grant. If the property is sold, assigned or transferred within 
10 years of the grant being completed then the grant will need to be repaid. 

10.Unforeseen and additional costs will only be paid for where they are 
necessary to complete the adaptation and must be agreed by the council 
before they are undertaken.

11.Any increase in the grant may have an impact on the charge placed against 
the property.

12.Applicants who are successful in their application for assistance will be 
required to maintain the adaptation. 

13.The contract for the works is the responsibility of the applicant.
14.The grant will normally be paid direct to contractors in all but the most 

exceptional cases.
15.The council will only offer grant for those works that are considered 

appropriate to meet the needs of the disabled person. 
16.No grant will be paid until a satisfactory invoice has been received and the 

works have been carried out to the satisfaction of the client and Council.
17.Housing association properties - where the mandatory DFG does not fully 

cover the cost of the adaptation then the client and/or council may approach 
the housing association for a contribution towards the cost.

4.3 Accessible Homes Grant – Stair lift Grant
This grant provides internal straight track or curved track stair lifts without a means 
test for the applicant.

Eligibility
To be eligible for this grant the following must be in place:
 A referral or statement of need must be received from a social services OT or 

from an NHS OT.

Page 27



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

12

 Where additional works are required to install the stair lift these will be covered as 
part of this grant.

 Where a client requires multiple adaptions in addition to the stair lift, the stair lift 
will be provided through this grant and the other adaptions through the DFG or 
accessible homes grant where the client is eligible.

Conditions
1. The applicant must have permission from the owner of the property for the 

work to be carried out. The council will require an owners certificate if the 
property is rented.

2. The applicant agrees to live in the property as the only or main residence for 
the period of 5 years or for a shorter period as health or other relevant 
circumstances permit.  

3. The contractor must be sourced from the stair lift company determined by the 
Devon Framework agreement. Where the Council does not use the 
framework it should be sourced in a manner determined by them.

4. Only the works agreed by the Council will be will be covered by the grant.
5. If the grant is approved there are 8 weeks to complete the works.
6. The works must be completed by the contractor stated on the approval 

document 
7. No grant works should proceed until the grant application has been processed 

and all relevant planning, Building Regulation or landlord approval has been 
obtained. 

8. Unforeseen and additional costs will only be paid for where they are 
necessary to complete the adaptation and must be agreed by the council 
before they are undertaken.

9. Applicants who are successful in their application for assistance will be 
required to maintain the stair lift and have it regularly serviced. 

10.The contract for the works is the responsibility of the applicant. 
11.The grant will be paid direct to the stair lift contractor. 
12.No grant will be paid until a satisfactory invoice has been received and the 

works have been carried out to the satisfaction of the client and Council.

4.4 Accessible Homes Grant - Moving application
This grant may be available to assist a disabled person to move to more suitable 
accommodation subject to available funding.

Eligibility 
An applicant will be eligible for this grant where:

 Where the Occupational Therapist and/or the Council consider re-housing to 
be more appropriate than adapting the existing accommodation.

Page 28



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

13

 Where the landlord has refused permission for any adaptation works to be 
carried out and therefore it is no longer feasible for the occupier to remain in 
the property.

 Where it is possible to carry out works at the existing property the total cost 
incurred in the eligible ‘moving on’ expenses and any estimated eligible 
adaptation costs at the ‘new’ property should not be greater than the cost of 
adapting the applicant’s current home. 

 The ‘new’ property shall in the opinion of the Council provide a long term, 
sustainable home for the person for whose benefit the works are required. 

 If the property is within a neighbouring authority covered by this policy then 
the new authority will need to ensure the new property is suitable. This should 
also be agreed with the occupational therapist. The applicant must ensure 
that the relevant council’s officers and Occupational Therapist have been 
consulted.

In determining the ‘reasonable expenses’ regard shall be had to the following criteria: 
 The cost of the eligible works at the applicants existing property are not 

deemed reasonable, or; 
 The eligible works at the applicants existing home are not technically feasible, 

or; 
 The adaptation of the applicants existing property does not provide a 

sustainable, long term solution for their housing needs, or;
 The landlord of the property refuses to give permission for the necessary 

works to be carried out.

Eligible Expenses
Owner Occupier
The expenses that can attract grant under this section may include the cost of: 

 Any arrangement fee charged by a lender to cover the formation of a 
mortgage. 

 Conveyancing fees. 
 Land Registry Fee 
 Local Authority Searches 
 Stamp Duty 
 Valuation, Homebuyers or Full Structural Survey 
 Professional or other removal costs 
 Estate Agent Commission. 

The maximum grant payable for eligible expenses under this heading for an owner 
occupier is £10,000.

Tenant
For a tenant the expenses that can attract grant under this section may include the 
cost of: 

Page 29



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

14

 Letting agent fees
 Rent deposit
 Professional or other removal fees

The maximum grant payable for eligible expenses under this heading for a tenant is 
£5000. 

Conditions
1. Grant assistance is only payable to an owner occupier upon the successful 

completion of the purchase of the ‘new’ property and the disabled person then 
occupying that property as their only and main residence. 

2. When moving to rented accommodation the applicant must obtain permission 
from the landlord for any adaptations to be carried out before the grant will be 
paid.

3. To qualify for this grant the applicant must have been resident in the property 
for at least 2 years prior to making an application to move.

4. The applicant must agree to live in the property as their only or main 
residence for a period of 5 years (or such shorter period as the person’s 
health or other relevant circumstances permit).

5. For owner occupiers a local land charge will be placed against the property for 
a period of 5 years.

4.5 Healthy Homes grant
The Healthy Homes grant is a flexible grant to provide urgent/essential repairs to the 
home to ensure the health, safety and welfare of the occupier. This includes 
assisting an occupier with accumulations (hoarding) where this poses a risk to health 
and safety. 

Eligibility 
 Only those works agreed by the Council as urgent or essential will be eligible 

for this grant. A loan application will be required for all other types of works 
and repairs.

 To qualify for this grant the applicant must be in receipt of one of the following 
benefits:

o Housing benefit
o Disability Living Allowance
o Personal Independent Payment with the daily living component
o Attendance Allowance
o Guarantee Pension Credit
o Income support
o Council tax benefit (not the single person discount)
o Universal Credit – universal credit replaces the following means tested 

benefits – Housing Benefit, income related ESA, Income based JSA, 
Child tax credit, working tax credit and income support.

Page 30



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

15

Conditions 
1. The maximum grant available is £5000 over a rolling two year period. 
2. For owner occupiers a local land charge will be placed against the property for 

5 years.
3. For tenants the grant may only be available to assist with immediate repairs or 

to deal with hoarding and accumulations. The landlord is responsible for the 
general repair of the property and the Council may require the landlord to 
carry out works as appropriate. 

4. An applicant must apply for a loan for any substantial work beyond removing 
the immediate health and safety risk.

4.6 Home Improvement Loans
Wessex Resolutions Community Interest Company (WRCIC) is a not-for-profit 
company contracted to deliver loans to residents in the Devon area. 

WRCIC administer loans within the requirements of this policy and the local policies 
of each district council within Devon. The Home Improvement Loan is a flexible 
product that can be used for the following purposes:

 Home repairs and improvements
 Adaptation works where grant is not available
 To cover a client contribution to a grant
 To cover the cost of the work over the DFG or Accessible Homes grant 

maximum.
 To bring empty homes back into use
 For landlords to carry out repairs or improvement to rented accommodation 
 For energy efficiency improvements

Eligibility 
This will vary and is based on the individual circumstances of each client. Loan 
advisors will carry out an assessment and provide independent advice on ethical and 
responsible lending the most appropriate product to suit their needs.

Conditions 
Conditions may vary depending on the loan product selected and the individual 
circumstances of each applicant.

Loans are subject to status and Wessex Resolutions CIC may insist on loans being 
protected at the Land Registry by a Title Restriction. Missing any payments could 
affect your credit rating and ability to obtain credit in the future. 
The typical APR for this loan is 4.2%. 

4.7 Top up to Eco-Flex

Page 31



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

16

This grant is to provide top up funding for energy efficiency measures where EcoFlex 
funding and ECO top ups (HHCRO) have been provided by energy providers but the 
available funding does not cover the full cost of the work. 

Eligibility 
 Applicants must have been identified through each Council’s Statement of 

Intent which can be found on the council’s website.
 To qualify for the top up a survey must be carried out by the energy provider, 

a local installer, or an agent and qualifying works identified.
 For owner occupiers and private landlords a maximum of up to £2000 is 

available.
 If more than £2,000 is needed then the client should apply for a Wessex loan 

subject to availability and eligibility (see 4.6)

Conditions 
1. The applicant must agree to live in the property as their only or main 

residence for a period of 5 years (or such shorter period as the person’s 
health or other relevant circumstances permit). 

2. A local land charge will be placed on their property on completion of the grant. 
If the property is sold, assigned or transferred or the tenant vacates within 5 
years of the grant being completed then the grant may have to be repaid.

3. Any increase in the grant may have an impact on the charge placed against 
the property.

4. The contract for the works is the responsibility of the applicant.
5. The grant will normally be paid direct to contractors in all but the most 

exceptional cases.
6. No grant will be paid until a satisfactory invoice has been received and the 

works have been carried out to the satisfaction of the client and Council.

5.0 EXCEPTIONS TO THE POLICY 

The Councils accept that applications may be received for adaptations not covered 
by the circumstances listed above which will need to be formally determined. Any 
such application will be referred through the appropriate process of the council 
managing the application. 

Page 32



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

17

6.0 APPEALS AND COMPLAINTS

 Where the applicant has a complaint about the manner in which a council is 
applying this policy, then they should follow that Councils formal complaints 
process.

 Where there is a complaint about the content of this policy this should be made to 
Devon County Council so that it can be considered on a Devon wide basis.

 Where the complaint is in respect of works, the complaint should be made to the 
contractor in the first instance, if this does not resolve the problem then the 
appropriate council should be contacted for advice.

 Where an applicant wishes to appeal against a decision of the Council in respect 
of any of the grants contained in this policy this should be made to the 
appropriate Council. Where agreement cannot be reached then the appeal 
should be escalated to the Devon wide group of Councils for a decision. 
Consensus between all the participating Councils will need to be reached as any 
decision may result in an amendment to the policy.

Page 33



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

18

APPENDIX ONE – ELIGIBLE WORKS

Disabled Facilities Grant and Accessible Homes Grant

This is a guide and there may be scope for discretion on the works that can be 
included under the Accessible Homes Grant in some circumstances.

Facilitating access
Facilitating access by the disabled occupant

 to and from the dwelling
 to a room used or usable as the principle family room
 to a room used for or usable for sleeping
 to a room in which there is a lavatory
 to a room in which there is a bath or shower
 to a room with a wash hand basin

Such works may include:
 Ramping and/or handrails to the main external door. This could instead be a rear 

door in the case of a rear access. Only one access point will be allowed for each 
dwelling. External stair lifts will be considered if reasonably practicable and they 
are not prone to vandalism.

 Widening the main entrance door and the doorways to the bedroom, bathroom 
and living room. Automatic door opening to main entrance doors will only be 
allowed for persons who are otherwise unable to open the door. Door entry 
systems will be considered where the person has severe mobility problems.

 Alterations to facilitate wheelchair access to the bedroom, bathroom and living 
room. Access to other rooms may be considered where the disabled person is 
also a carer.

 Other adaptations that are necessary to facilitate access to any of the relevant 
rooms by the disabled person, for example, stair lifts or vertical lifts in some 
cases. Where a stair lift breaks down and it is 5-10 years old, a manufacturers 
report is needed before it can be replaced. If it is over 10 years, a report may not 
be required.

 Provision of hard standings (3.6 m x 4.8 m max unless exceptional 
circumstances) and associated crossover for vehicle access where the disabled 
person is in a wheelchair or has difficulty walking to the house. This will only be 
given where existing on-street parking is considered unsatisfactory and a marked 
disabled parking bay is not possible or where it affords a more economical 

Page 34



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

19

solution than providing additional paths/ramping from the roadside. Provision of 
off-street parking on its own is not eligible.

Please note: Being a holder of a blue badge is not an eligibility criterion for this item.

Washing facilities
Facilitating the use of washing facilities by the disabled occupant

 Adaptation of the facilities in the bathroom and toilet, including the provision of 
flush floor showers, lever taps, specialist WCs, Clos-o-mat or Geberit etc. The 
adaptation or provision of more than one bathroom to a house e.g. additional 
ground floor wc, will only be considered if evidenced by functional need.

Kitchen Facilities
Facilitating the preparation and cooking of food

 Where someone other than the disabled person does and will continue to do 
the cooking and preparation of meals, normally it will not be necessary to 
carry out full adaptations. However, it may be possible to carry out minor 
adaptations to allow the disabled person to prepare light meals or hot drinks, 
typically this may include a low-level worktop with power points for a 
kettle/microwave.

 Full adaptations can be considered where the disabled person is the only or 
main user of the kitchen. The following adaptations can be considered:

a. Kitchen sink, including alteration to its height or position or the type of 
taps fitted to it. Powered, adjustable-height sinks will not generally be 
allowed, as the provision of a second sink is a more economic solution.

b. Cooker point and oven-housing unit ensuring its height and position is 
in a safe location and the provision of worktops on either side.

c. Work surfaces located beside the sink and on each side of the cooker 
having a total length of approximately 1.5m, all at a suitable height for 
the disabled person.

d. Food storage in an accessible position, usually space for a refrigerator 
with power supply.

e. Wheelchair access, if necessary, including wider doors, rearrangement 
of facilities etc.

f. Alterations to the kitchen door, light switches and power points, but 
only if it is necessary.

g. Extensions or enlargement to kitchens can only be agreed where they 
are absolutely necessary in order to provide turning space for a 
wheelchair and if suitable space cannot be achieved by rearrangement 
of the existing facilities.

Page 35



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

20

h. The provision of cupboard and storage units on an "essential" basis. 
(2x1m base units and baskets or equivalent).

i. Mechanical ventilation where kitchen schemes require Building 
Regulation approval. 

Other works that may be considered for grant assistance

Electrical work
 Alterations to the height and/or position of light switches and power points to 

make them accessible to the disabled person.
 Upgrading of electrical installation where the current installation is considered 

unsafe.

Heating 
 Heating the rooms that are in everyday use by the disabled person where a 

medical need can be demonstrated. Changes to the type of heating system will 
only be allowed if evidenced by medical need (e.g. change from solid fuel to gas 
where applicant can no longer carry fuel) and the applicant is not eligible for other 
types of grant such as ECO Flex.

 Upgrading/replacing of boilers/radiators where the property has been extended 
as part of the adaptation.

Guarding 
 Provision of laminate glass or specialist lighting or guards to fires and around 

radiators where disabled children with violent behavioural problems may harm 
themselves. 

 Restrictors or works to windows for the safety of the disabled person.

Alarms
 Provision of enhanced fire alarm systems for those with hearing difficulties.

Structural alterations
 Carrying out structural alterations where necessary to provide fixings for disabled 

equipment provided by Social Services e.g. fixing for tracking /overhead hoists.

 Storage or space for essential medical equipment as part of the adaptation works 
but not as a stand-alone item.

 Where an adaptation is required to a listed building and additional works are 
required to comply with requirements.

Page 36



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

21

 Where an adaptation cannot be carried out due to disrepair issues those repairs, 
within reason, may be carried out. Such works may include replacement of rotted 
flooring or strengthening of the floor as part of a flush floor shower installation, 
electrical repairs to enable works to be carried out safely, and dealing with low 
water pressure. More substantial repairs that are not directly affecting the 
adaptation will need to be referred to a home improvement loan or healthy homes 
grant.

 Additional bathrooms or bedrooms may be allowed where they are specifically for 
the disabled person and it can be demonstrated that adaptation of other rooms or 
space or access to those rooms in the property is unsuitable. Extensions will 
only be allowed following a detailed cost/benefit analysis of alternative 
options.

 Requests are sometimes received to provide separate bedrooms where disabled 
children with behavioural difficulties share a room with other siblings and disturb 
their sleep. This will only be considered where it can be demonstrated the child is 
prone to violent outbursts and there is risk of physical harm to the child or to the 
other siblings. Families will first be expected to re-arrange the sleeping 
arrangements in their home to try to eliminate the need for extra bedrooms. If 
there is more than one reception room the family will be expected to use the extra 
room(s) for sleeping purposes.

Garden and external access
 In cases of small terraced properties with narrow passageways or very difficult 

access, effective adaptation can only proceed where it can be reasonably and 
practicably carried out without having a detrimental impact on neighbouring 
properties.

 Access to the garden may be given to improve an existing access to make it safe 
for the disabled occupant to use. It does not include extending an existing access 
e.g. creating a side access so a person can also go around the side of a house. 
Generally, the most modest solution for providing access to both the house and 
the garden will be considered and this can mean that one access may be 
sufficient to access both the house and the garden. Where homes have 
communal gardens, e.g., blocks of flats served by a single access, grants will not 
normally be provided for an individual access to the garden unless it can be 
demonstrated that because of the disabled persons condition the travel distance 
to the garden would be excessive and unreasonable.

 The grant will only be for providing immediate access to the garden and does not 
include landscaping gardens to make them more suitable for the disabled person 

Page 37



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

22

to access. However, to assist a disabled person to live independently, an 
allowance of 4m² of pathway, (which may include a turning circle for a wheelchair 
user), will be considered to assist access to any specific areas enjoyed by the 
disabled person.

 Provision of fencing or guarding for the safety of the disabled person when in the 
garden.

Fees and feasibility works
 The Accessible Homes Grant may be available to cover the cost of works 

associated with assessing whether an adaption is reasonable and practicable 
and/or necessary and appropriate. These costs can be covered even if the 
works do not go ahead, at which point a moving grant may be more suitable.

Additional Adaptations for Dementia (or related conditions)
 Replacing floor coverings that cause confusion or safety issues
 Replacing tiling or bathroom fittings (such as toilet seats and rails) to improve 

visual perception
 Changing cupboards to glass fronted doors, to enable recognition of where 

items are in the kitchen
 Changing lighting schemes to improve visibility around the home
 Installing noise reduction measures

Healthy Homes grant 

An assessment of the property may be necessary to determine the scope of the work 
and does not cover the full renovation of a property. It is intended that the grant is 
sufficient to make safe a defect that is considered to pose a risk to the health, safety 
or welfare of the occupier. 

This could include but is not limited to the following:

 Hoarding and accumulations – where the conditions pose a serious risk to the 
safety of the occupier.

 Electrical safety- where the condition of the electrical wiring could lead to 
imminent risk of electrocution or fire or accidents as a result of inadequate 
lighting.

 Falls – where the condition of the stairs or floors are in such a state as to 
provide an imminent risk of a fall in the home.

Page 38



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

23

 Cold – where the heating is inadequate or lacking, and the condition of the 
doors and windows are contributing to the home being cold in the winter and 
there is a risk of falls or other ill effect from cold temperatures.

 Dampness – damp conditions so significant that a roof is failing and water is 
visibly entering the property. Rising damp, condensation or minor leaks may 
not be covered by this grant.

 Structural collapse- where a structural part of the building is in such a state as 
to constitute an imminent risk.

 Amenities – the lack of a functioning basic amenity such as a toilet, bath, 
wash hand basin or kitchen sink.

 Hot water – where there is no hot water available for the occupier due to a 
fault with a boiler or hot water tank.

This list is not exhaustive and each case will be assessed based on its individual 
circumstances.

Home Improvement Loan

The loan will cover those works covered by this policy and any other works specified 
by each individual Council involved in the Home Improvement Loan scheme.

ECO Flex Top up

Works will generally include:
 Mains gas boiler replacement, 
 Loft insulation, 
 Cavity wall insulation, 
 Heating controls, 
 Replacement storage heaters, 
 Internal or external wall insulation, 
 Room in roof insulation, 
 Flat roof insulation

Page 39



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

24

APPENDIX TWO – LOCAL POLICIES
The following councils have their own additional policy that can be viewed on their 
websites. 

East Devon District Council
Exeter City Council
Mid Devon Council
North Devon District Council
South Hams District Council
Teignbridge District Council
West Devon District Council

Page 40



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

25

APPENDIX THREE – SUMMARY TABLE 

Type of 
assistance

Scope Grant Max Eligibility Main Conditions

Mandatory DFG Disabled adaptations as 
described by the Housing 
Grants Construction and 
Regeneration Act 1996. 

Up to £30,000 Meets disability criteria

Assessed by an OT

Subject to means test

No means test for Children

Must remain in the property 
as only or main residence 
for 5 years

Local land charge for 10 
years for owner occupiers in 
some circumstances

Accessible 
Homes Grant 

Cover the costs of 
adaptations over the 
mandatory DFG limit
Cover some contributions 
identified under mandatory 
DFG
Cover some works not 
covered by the DFG

Up to £20,000 Meets disability criteria

Assessed by an OT

Subject to means test for 
children’s applications

Contribution constitutes 
more than a 1/3 of available 
savings

Must remain in the property 
as only or main residence 
for 5 years

Local land charge for 10 
years for owner occupiers

Accessible 
Homes Grant – 
Stair lifts

Cover the cost of internal 
straight track and curved 
track stair lifts

No grant max Assessed by the OT or 
referred by NHS OT

Must have permission from 
the property owner

Must remain in the property 
as only or main residence 
for 5 years

P
age 41



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

26

Type of 
assistance

Scope Grant Max Eligibility Main Conditions

Accessible 
Homes Grant – 
Moving 

Cover some of the costs 
associated with moving to a 
more suitable property

Owner occupier 
up to £10,000

Tenant up to 
£5000

Suitable property has been 
identified

Cost of moving with any 
adaptation to the new home 
is less than adapting 
existing home

Been resident in existing 
property for 2 years prior to 
making the application

For tenants – landlord has 
referred t make adaptations

Must remain in the property 
as only or main residence 
for 5 years

Local land charge for 5 
years for owner occupiers

Healthy Homes 
Grant 

Works to make safe a defect 
or hoarding/accumulation  
that is considered to pose a 
risk to the health, safety or 
welfare of the occupier.

Up to £5000 over 
a 2 year rolling 
period

In receipt of a qualifying 
benefit

Works agreed by the 
Council

Local land charge for 5 
years for owner occupiers

Must apply for a loan for 
more substantial works and 
repairs

Council may require 
landlord to carry out repairs

Home 
Improvement 

Cover works identified in the 
other grants

Based on 
affordability

Based on local criteria Based on local criteria

P
age 42



Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

27

Type of 
assistance

Scope Grant Max Eligibility Main Conditions

Loan As determined by each 
Council policy

ECOFlex Top 
up

Energy efficiency works Up to £2000 Qualify for ECO funding

Meet the councils statement 
of intent criteria

Owner occupier or private 
landlord

Must remain in the property 
as only or main residence 
for 5 years

Local land charge for 5 
years

P
age 43



REPORT OF Environmental Health and Community Safety Manager
To:  Communities and Resources Committee
Subject: Household Waste Duty of Care – setting of Fixed Penalty Notice Levels
Date: 23rd April 2019 Reference: JW1

PURPOSE OF REPORT:    

 To inform committee of changes to the Household Waste Duty of Care provisions.
 To set fixed penalty levels for offences under these provisions. 

1. INTRODUCTION

Section 34 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 places a duty on householders to 
ensure that they take all reasonable measures to ensure that waste is only removed from 
their property by registered waste carriers. 

The waste duty of care is an important weapon against waste crime. Unlicensed waste 
carriers are likely to cut corners in order to be able to offer their services at lower prices than 
the going rates, unfairly undercutting legitimate businesses who take their environmental 
responsibilities seriously.

Unlicensed carriers may be tempted to illegally fly tip the waste they collect in order to avoid 
the charges for proper disposal - not only does this have the obvious consequences of 
pollution and environmental damage, but the Council Tax payer has to fund the clear-up 
costs of waste dumped on public land, and landowners have to bear this cost themselves if 
waste is fly tipped on private land.

If waste originating from domestic property is found to have been fly tipped, we contact the 
householder concerned to seek the details of the person given the waste so we can take the  
matter  up with them. If however the householder did not check that the person taking the 
waste was authorised, and can not provide this information when asked, then the 
householder may be prosecuted and run the risk of a £5,000 fine and a criminal record.

Previously prosecution was the only option for this offence, however this has been amended 
by The Environmental Protection (Miscellaneous Amendments) (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2018 which came into force in January. This now allows the council to issue a 
fixed penalty notice (FPN) for a breach of this duty of care as an alternative to prosecution.

This FPN is not applicable where an individual intends for waste to be collected by the local 
authority, for instance where this is put out in household waste or recycling bins. It is 
reasonable to believe the local authority or any contracted provider working on their behalf is 
an authorised person and so in putting the waste out for collection by a local authority, the 
individual has taken all reasonable steps to ensure the person they transfer it to is 
authorised.

2. REPORT

In order to make use of these provisions, the level of FPN must be set by committee.

Page 44

Agenda Item 9



The maximum full fixed penalty that can be applied is £400, and a discount can be applied 
for early payment. The current FPN levels for waste offences are given below:

FPN  level Level if paid within specified 
time

Littering £150 £100 if paid within 10 days
Littering from 
vehicles

£150 (28 days for payment allowed)              £100 if paid within 14 days

Fly tipping £400 £250 if paid within 10 days

Following consultation at Leadership it is proposed to set the Household Waste Duty of Care 
fixed penalty notice level at £300 discounted to £180 if paid within 10 days. This 
acknowledges that the court does not recognise this offence as having the same severity as 
fly tipping and will be an incentive for the offender to admit the offence and accept the fixed 
penalty, rather than seeking a lower penalty in court. 

Where a householder provides us with information that secures enforcement action for fly 
tipping against the perpetrator, we would discharge the Duty of Care offence by alternative 
means. 

The adoption of the FPN provisions will provide a means to publicise this Duty of Care,  in 
order to act as a deterrent. 

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications

The changes reflect the robustness with which Regulatory Services tackles waste offences 
and should act as a deterrent to offenders.

Financial Implications

All income from fixed penalties is used to support our enforcement functions.

Human Resources Implications

None

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications

None

Equality/Diversity

Enforcement activity will always be in line with all requirements of equality legislation and 
standards.

Risk Management

None

Page 45



Compliance with Policies and Strategies

All enforcement activities will be in accordance with our Corporate Enforcement Policy and 
associated regulatory guidance.
 
Data Protection (GDPR) Implications

None

Ward Member and Lead Member Views

The Environmental Health lead member has been consulted on these proposals and is 
supportive.

4. CONCLUSIONS

These provisions close a loophole whereby fly tipping offences can be dealt with by FPN, 
while a duty of care offence had to be prosecuted in court. The adoption of these provisions 
gives flexibility to our enforcement team and allows a proportionate and efficient approach to 
this offence. It is important to make use of any powers given to us by  Government in order 
to maximise our effectiveness and send out a clear message that waste offences will not be 
tolerated by the local authority in our communities. 

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

That these provisions are noted and the level of fixed penalty for this offence, along with the 
discount for early payment as given in this report, is approved.  

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Members Consulted: Cllr James

Contact Officer: Janet Williams
Janet.williams@torridge.gov.uk

Background Papers: Guidance for Local Authorities on household waste duty of 
care fixed penalty notices can be found 
at:https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/household-
waste-duty-of-care-fixed-penalty-notice-guidance/guidance-
for-local-authorities-on-household-waste-duty-of-care-fixed-
penalty-notices 

Page 46

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/household-waste-duty-of-care-fixed-penalty-notice-guidance/guidance-for-local-authorities-on-household-waste-duty-of-care-fixed-penalty-notices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/household-waste-duty-of-care-fixed-penalty-notice-guidance/guidance-for-local-authorities-on-household-waste-duty-of-care-fixed-penalty-notices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/household-waste-duty-of-care-fixed-penalty-notice-guidance/guidance-for-local-authorities-on-household-waste-duty-of-care-fixed-penalty-notices
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/household-waste-duty-of-care-fixed-penalty-notice-guidance/guidance-for-local-authorities-on-household-waste-duty-of-care-fixed-penalty-notices


REPORT OF Planning and Economy Manager
To: Community and Resources Committee
Subject: Bideford Port Safety Management System
Date: Tuesday 23rd April 2019 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:    
To ask that members accept the Bideford Harbour Board Working Group recommendation to 
approve the Port Safety Management System, risk assessments and Marine Safety Plan

1. INTRODUCTION

           Torridge District Council is the Statutory Harbour authority of the Port of Bideford, which 
includes responsibilities associated with its function as the Statutory Pilotage area.

2. REPORT

Port Marine safety Code 

Bideford Harbour Authority has a Safety Management system and a set of risk assessments 
in compliance with the Port Marine Safety Code.

Through dialogue with the Harbour Board and recent meetings with our Environmental 
Health and Community Safety Manager, our Health and Safety Officer, our Harbour Master 
and our Senior Pilot we have agreed to review and amend the safety management system 
for the port in compliance with the PMSC.

This report serves to update Committee on what has been achieved to date and seek 
approval of the System

The next stage of this process will be to review the ports current risk assessments for the 
port area, which will include the Appledore Fish Dock.

Risk assessments will also need to be reformatted into the new TDC risk assessment 
format.

Whilst there is a requirement to publish the ports safety management system on the ports 
website it has been deemed not necessary to do so by the Maritime and Coastguard Agency 
for the ports risk assessment register.

This report presents the Port of Bideford Safety Management System: section one, The 
compliance plan for the port and; section two, its Marine Safety Plan.

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications
A Harbour Master should familiarise himself with the extent of his legal power under general 
and local legislation

Page 47

Agenda Item 10



Financial Implications

None.

Human Resources Implications

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications

Equality/Diversity

There are no equality or diversity issues raised in the report

Risk Management

Bideford Harbour Authority is committee to reviewing its risk assessments and safety 
management system on a yearly basis in compliance with the port marine safety code.

Compliance with Policies and Strategies

Bideford Harbour authority seek to comply with the Port Marine safety code and all other 
legislation pertaining to the safe and efficient management of the port.

Ward Member and Leader Member Views

The Harbour Board Working Group have considered and endorsed the Safety Management 
System and Risk Assessment and recommend its approval.

4. CONCLUSIONS

This report serves to advise committee that the port Bideford continues to comply fully with 
the Port Marine Safety Code.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that the Community and Resources Committee approve publication of 
the Port of Bideford Safety Management System and that the Harbour Master is 
instructed to publish such on the Harbour website.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Date of Consultation –15/01/2019
Officers Consulted – Sean Kearney 
Staci Dori, Janet Williams, Sarah Pennington, Andrew Waite, 
Chris Parkhouse, Paul Brown

Contact Officer:Paul 
Labistour Harbour 
Master 
Background 
Papers:Port of Bideford 
Safety management 
system section one 
compliance plan and 
section two, the SMS 
Marine Safety Plan

Page 48



Port of Bideford

Safety Management System 

Section 2 - Marine Safety Plan
2019 - 2021

Page 49



                                                                        Page 1 of 8                       Port of Bideford /Section 2/Issue 01

Index

1. Scope and Impact Page 1

2. Safety Plan Elements Page 1-2

3. Performance Objectives Page 3-5

Page 50



                                                                        Page 2 of 8                       Port of Bideford /Section 2/Issue 01

1. Scope and Impact

The Port of Bideford, place responsible safety and security management at the core of our activities 
ensuring a safe environment for all those who work in or visit the Port of Bideford .  In compliance 
with the Port Marine Safety Code (PMSC), as the Competent Harbour Authority (CHA)  for the Port,  
we publish  the following Marine Safety Plan for marine operations in the Port of Bideford  for the 
period of 2019 – 2021.

The impact of the Marine Safety Plan is to ensure safe and effective management and regulation of 
marine operations within the Port of Bideford  and to continuously develop and improve our safety 
and environmental management culture and performance.

This Marine Safety Plan commits the Port of Bideford  to undertake  the management and regulation 
of marine operations and in particular safe navigation.  It is within the scope of its powers and 
authorities to ensure that it safeguards the Port infrastructure, users of the Port including members 
of the public and the marine environment.

Port of Bideford  will undertake its role and responsibilities to ensure that, whenever possible, it 
provides efficient and effective services for the regulation of both commercial and leisure vessel 
movements in the Harbour, to ensure the safe and prompt transit of all such vessels through the 
Port.

In ensuring the continued provision of services, the Port of Bideford will always regard the safety of 
its personnel, customers, the environment and vessels as a priority.  At times this may mean that 
services and therefore vessel movements or activities are subject to delay in order to preserve safety 
of life and maintain overall marine safety of navigation standards. 

2. Safety Plan Elements

The Port of Bideford  has published a number of Marine Policies and Plans in support of the SMS as 
follows: -

Port of Bideford SMS Policy Statement
Port of Bideford SMS Compliance Plan
Marine Enforcement and Prosecution Policy
Torridge District CouncilPort of Bideford  Health & Safety Policy
Port of Bideford  Environmental Policy
Pilotage Enforcement Policy

Page 51



                                                                        Page 3 of 8                       Port of Bideford /Section 2/Issue 01

The Port of Bideford  provides the following services to ensure safety of navigation.

Pilotage Port of Bideford  provides a pilotage service with fully authorised pilots, a pilotage 
direction programme policy and a Pilotage Exemption Certification programme.  
These are reviewed on an anuual basis. 

Conservancy  Port of Bideford  ensures its harbour approaches, estuaries and Harbour have an 
adequate depth for safe navigation of Port users which is determined by 
hydrographic surveys. 

Other Marine Services are provided as required to ensure the safe navigation, enforcement and 
good practice for all vessels who use the Port of Bideford.  All marine staff are qualified in 
compliance with applicable legislative requirements and undertake continuous professional 
development (CPD).

Communication, consultation and feedback is a fundamental requirement in ensuring the safety and 
navigational requirements are understood and  continually reviewed.  The following processes are 
undertaken to ensure the maintenance of an effective safety management system in support of 
compliance with the requirements of the PSMS:-

 Three monthly reports to the Board by the Harbour Master regarding Port of Bideford SMS 
related matters.

 Annual Designated Person report and presentation to the Board (undertaken each January).
 Annual Port of Bideford SMS audit carried out by the Designated Person.
 Quarterly meetings (with a minimum of 3 per year) of Harbour Master and Pilots.
 Port User Group meetings.
 Annual Report.
 Dedicated Risk Assessments of new and existing marine operations and services including 

liaison with Port of Bideford Engineering Services on marine related projects. 

Page 52



                                                                        Page 4 of 8                       Port of Bideford /Section 2/Issue 01
Page 53



Marine Safety Plan 2019 - 2021

                                                                        Page 4 of 8                                                                                    PoDMSC/Section 03/Issue 02

3. Performance Objectives

No. Objective Action By when Completion Measure Achievement

Port of Bideford SMS Policy Statement
Port of Bideford SMS Compliance Plan
Marine Enforcement and Prosecution Policy

2019 All documents fully 
reviewed  and uploaded.

Not Yet 
achieved

Port of Bideford SMS Policy Statement
Port of Bideford SMS Compliance Plan
Marine Enforcement and Prosecution Policy

2020

1 To review Port of Bideford SMS 
Policies and Compliance Plan on 
an annual basis.

Port of Bideford SMS Policy Statement
Port of Bideford SMS Compliance Plan
Marine Enforcement and Prosecution Policy

2021

2019 Full review to be carried out 
in October 2019.

2020

2 To ensure the current Policies and 
Marine Safety Plan are published 
on the Port of Bideford  Website.

Document Control

2021
2019 All Port of Bideford SMS 

procedures reviewed during 
2019.

Not yet 
achieved

2020

3 To review Port of Bideford SMS 
procedures on an annual basis or 
after accident/incident.

Marine Investigations & Responsibilities

2021
2019 New Byelalws Issued 2019. Not Yet 

Achieved 
2020

4 To complete a review of harbour 
leglislation

To keep a rolling review of changes required to 
harbour leglislation identified through 
accident/incident/audit/ operations changes.
Create new Harboiur Byelaws.

2021 

2019 Navigational Risk 
Assessment  (NRA) 
completed.  Published 
01/05/19

Not Yet 
Achieved 

2020

5 Proactive and reactive review of 
existing and any new identified 
hazards to navigation.

To identify navigational hazards and risk assess.   
To identify & document controls to mitigate risks to an 
acceptable level (ALARP)

2021

P
age 54



Marine Safety Plan 2019 - 2021

                                                                        Page 5 of 8                                                                                    PoDMSC/Section 03/Issue 02

No. Objective Action By when Completion Measure Achievement

2019 All navigational incidents 
investigated and reported 
within one calendar month. 

Met

2020

6 To investigate and complete all 
navigational incidents within one 
month.

Identify opportunities for improvement and ensure 
policies and procedures reviewed where applicable.

2021
2019 Annual DP internal audit 

carried out by 01/07/2019
Not Yet 
Achieved 

2020

7 Regular Internal and External audits 
and reviews of the navigational 
SMS, its functions and procedures.

An annual internal review, annual DP review  and 
three year peer review to ensure effectiveness of the 
Safety Management System and compliance to the 
PMSC. 2021

2019 Annual Oil Spill drill with 
Adler & Alan and the MCA 
by august 2019.

Not yet 
achieved 

2020

8 The maintenance, exercising and 
regular review of Emergency Plans 
and procedures including the 
Marine Pollution Response Plan.

Port of Bideford EX  (Port of Bideford  Exercises) 
Annual Review of Marine Emergency Plans and 
Procedures.

2021
2019 All annual appraisals carried 

and appropriate training & 
development needs 
indentifed.

Not yet 
achieved 

2020

9 To ensure required qualifications 
are current for all Port of Bideford  
staff with Marine responsibilities 
and any on going professional 
development and training needs 
are identified, to ensure they are 
competent to undertake their 
duties.

Undertake annual appraisals with all staff, to ensure 
training needs are met.
Job descriptions for HM, Pilot, Cranes Driver and 
Crew issued. 

2021

2019 Published Dec  2019
2020

10 Publish Performance to the Marine 
Safety Plan annually.

Publish to the Port of Bideford  Website how we 
have performed in relation to this plan, in line with 
the Port of Bideford  Annual Report. 2021

2019 Met
2020

11 Annual compliance check by Trinity 
House.

Ensure navigational aids are incorporated in the 
inspection and maintenance regime.

2021

P
age 55



Marine Safety Plan 2019 - 2021

                                                                        Page 6 of 8                                                                                    PoDMSC/Section 03/Issue 02

No. Objective Action By when Measure of success Achievement

2019 Latest hydrographic charts 
produced.

Met

2020

12 To provide a annual updated Port 
sounding chart for internal and 
external use.

Make available hydrographoc data to stakeholders. 
Provide shoreline surveys to enable sounding surveys 
throughout the Port.

2021

2019 Annual reassessments 
carried out as per planned 
schedule.

Met

2020

13 To ensure all PEC Holders are 
competent to navigate & operate 
within the confines of the Port of 
Bideford .

PEC Regime
A rolling annual re-assessment programme 

2021

2019 All Harbour Board meetings 
attended, appropriate 
information communicated 
and CEO/Duty Holder 
provided with relevant 
information in a timely 
manner.

Met

2020

14 The Harbour Master  to attend 
Harbour Board meetings to ensure 
projects, plans and development 
compliment, improve or have no 
negative impact on marine 
operations.

To attend Harbour Board meetings.
To communicate effectively with all other operations 
within the Port.
To provide relevant and timely information to the CEO 
and Duty Holder as required.

2021

P
age 56



Port of Bideford

Safety Management System 

Section 1 - Compliance Plan to the Port 
Safety Management System 

 

Page 57



                                                                             Page 1 of 20          Section 1 / Edition 1 / Dated January 2019

Index

1. Introduction ..............................................................................................................................................................................3

2. Method .....................................................................................................................................................................................3

3. Port of Bideford  Safety Management System Policy Statement………………………………………………………………………………..…..3

4. Map of Port of Bideford ...........................................................................................................................................................5

5. The Safety Management System ..............................................................................................................................................6

5.1 Safety Management System Overview:...........................................................................................................................6

5.2 Measuring Performance: .................................................................................................................................................6

5.3 Auditing and Reviewing Performance: ............................................................................................................................7

5.4 Monitoring Compliance ...................................................................................................................................................7

5.5 Document Reviews ..........................................................................................................................................................7

5.6 Annual Reports ................................................................................................................................................................7

6. Torridge District Council Positions, Duties, Powers and Authorities ........................................................................................8

6.1 Key Positions....................................................................................................................................................................8

a) The Duty Holder...............................................................................................................................................................8

b) Chief Executive Officer – (CEO)........................................................................................................................................8

c) Designated Person ..........................................................................................................................................................8

d) The Harbour Master ........................................................................................................................................................9

6.2 Duties and Powers.........................................................................................................................................................10

a) Open Port Duty:.............................................................................................................................................................10

b) Civil Contingencies Duty - (Emergency Planning) ..........................................................................................................11

c) Services and Facilities ....................................................................................................................................................11

d) Dangerous Goods ..........................................................................................................................................................11

e) Powers ...........................................................................................................................................................................11

f) Enforcement: .................................................................................................................................................................12

7. General & Special Directions...................................................................................................................................................13

7.2 Special Directions ..........................................................................................................................................................13

a) Incidents Threatening Pollution & Safety ......................................................................................................................14

b) Dangerous Vessels.........................................................................................................................................................14

8. Consultation Between the Council and Marine Stakeholders ................................................................................................14

8.1 External..........................................................................................................................................................................14

8.2 Internal ..........................................................................................................................................................................14

9. Statutory Reporting Requirements .........................................................................................................................................15

Page 58

http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738096
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738097
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738099
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738100
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738101
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738102
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738103
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738104
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738105
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738106
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738107
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738108
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738109
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738110
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738111
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738112
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738115
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738116
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738117
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738118
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738119
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738120
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738121
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738122
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738123
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738124
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738125
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738126
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738127
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738128
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738129


                                                                             Page 2 of 20          Section 1 / Edition 1 / Dated January 2019

9.1 Statutory Reporting Requirements – Procedure flow chart. .........................................................................................16

10. Risk.....................................................................................................................................................................................16

10.1 Risk Control: ..................................................................................................................................................................17

10.2 Reviews:.........................................................................................................................................................................17

11. Competencies ....................................................................................................................................................................17

11.1  Pilotage Direction and Pilot Exemption Certificates  (PECs)...............................................................................................18

12. Drink & Drugs.....................................................................................................................................................................18

13. Conservancy.......................................................................................................................................................................18

14. Aids to Navigation..............................................................................................................................................................18

14.1 General Lighthouse Authority (GLA)..............................................................................................................................19

a) Local Lighthouse Authority (LLA) ...................................................................................................................................19

b) LLA Duties ......................................................................................................................................................................19

c) LLA Reporting ................................................................................................................................................................19

15. Passage Plans .....................................................................................................................................................................19

15.1 Collision Regulations......................................................................................................................................................20

16. Charges ..............................................................................................................................................................................20

16.1 Pilot Charges and Exemption.........................................................................................................................................20

Associated Documents

Navigation Risk Assessment
Marine Safety Plan
General Directions
Pilotage Direction
Pilotage Enforcement Policy

Page 59

http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738130
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738131
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738132
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738133
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738134
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738135
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738136
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738137
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738138
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738139
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738140
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738141
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738142
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738143
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738144
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738145
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#_Toc370738146
http://vifs.pod.local:62080/client/runtime/hybrid.application?url=ifsapf%3AtbwDocIssues%3Faction%3Dget%26key1%3D9800%255E1016434%255E1%255E1%26COMPANY%3D10
http://vifs.pod.local:62080/client/runtime/hybrid.application?url=ifsapf%3AtbwDocIssues%3Faction%3Dget%26key1%3D9500%255E1009245%255E1%255E1%26COMPANY%3D10
http://vifs.pod.local:62080/client/runtime/hybrid.application?url=ifsapf%3AtbwDocIssues%3Faction%3Dget%26key1%3D9800%255E1003954%255E1%255E1%26COMPANY%3D10
http://vifs.pod.local:62080/client/runtime/hybrid.application?url=ifsapf%3AtbwDocIssues%3Faction%3Dget%26key1%3D9800%255E1021440%255E1%255E1%26COMPANY%3D10
http://vifs.pod.local:62080/client/runtime/hybrid.application?url=ifsapf%3AtbwDocIssues%3Faction%3Dget%26key1%3D9800%255E1003955%255E1%255E1%26COMPANY%3D10


                                                                             Page 3 of 20          Section 1 / Edition 1 / Dated January 2019

1. Introduction

This document is the first of a family of documents which makes up the Port of Bideford Safety 
Management System (SMS) and describes how it is that the port aims to gain compliance with the 
standards identified in the Port Safety Management System of 2016. The aim of the Port Safety 
Management System is to enhance safety for those who use or work in Ports, their ships, 
passengers and the maritime environment.   The code applies to all harbour authorities in the UK 
that have statutory powers and duties.   The Code provides a measure by which Torridge District 
Council can be accountable for the legal powers and duties which it has to operate the Port of 
Bideford , safely and to discharge it’s obligations effectively.

The Port of Bideford  Safety Management System applies to marine operations within the Port 
including Pilotage, Hydrographic and Survey requirements, Mooring, Towage, Navigational Aids, 
Salvage and Workboats.

The responsibility for implementation and compliance with the Code rests with the Duty Holder.   In 
terms of the Port of Bideford , the Duty Holder is Torridge District Council.

2. Method

The Port of Bideford  Safety Management System is published as an electronic paperless document.  
It is located within the Torridge District Councils IT system and is a controlled document 
management system.  A Reference Copy will be made available to external parties and agencies at 
the discretion of the Harbour Master.  

In addition a Navigation Risk Assessment for the Port is produced and published.  The Harbour 
Master identifies marine hazards that present at the Port of Bideford and highlight associated 
potential marine risks inherent in the activities undertaken within the Port.  

3. Port of Bideford  Safety Management System Policy Statement

It is the Torridge District Council’s policy that in delivering marine operations and services, the 
protection of the health and safety of its employees, customers, users and contractors and the 
protection of the Port environment will be given the highest priority.  Torridge District Council 
requires that all maritime statutory duties, applicable laws and regulations are met and that codes 
of practice and relevant guidelines are adhered to at all times.  Regulations and best practice are 
defined in the Port Safety Management System, (known as the Code and can be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/port-marine-safety-code ) and it’s accompanying 
Guide to Good Practice  (https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-guide-to-good-practice-
on-port-marine-operations). The Port of Bideford  Compliance plan defines how the Port meets the 
Code’s requirements.  The Port of Bideford  will provide the Marine Coastguard Agency with a 
written statement of compliance, signed by the Head of Paid Service of Torridge District Council, on 
a tri-annual basis.

Page 60

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/port-marine-safety-code
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-guide-to-good-practice-on-port-marine-operations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-guide-to-good-practice-on-port-marine-operations


                                                                             Page 4 of 20          Section 1 / Edition 1 / Dated January 2019

The Port of Bideford  aims to minimise work-related injuries and illnesses by demanding high 
standards of working practices and providing a safe working environment.  Any Health and Safety 
risks identified are addressed by the Council’s Safety Management System.  Port of Bideford  
employees are involved in achieving these aims by reporting previously unidentified safety risks, 
regularly reviewing existing risks, maintaining safe working practices and monitoring, reviewing the 
effectiveness of improvements to the Marine Safety Management System and compliance with the 
Health and Safety at Work Act 1974.

All employees are required to be committed to achieving and maintaining Port of Bideford ’s high 
standards of health & safety and environmental protection and receive training and support to 
enable them to meet these standards.  

The Council seeks to identify, analyse and fulfil employee training requirements by regularly 
reviewing and consulting with staff in order to continuously improve their skills, particularly in 
relation to marine safety and environmental management. 

All Port of Bideford  staff directly employed in delivering marine operations or services or indirectly 
providing support to marine operations must understand, implement and comply with this policy.

Signed

Head of Paid Service Torridge District Council (HoPS) – Jenny Wallace

Harbour Master – Paul Labistour

Designated Person – Janet Williams; Environmental Health and Community Safety Manager, Torridge 
District Council   

Page 61



                                                                             Page 5 of 20          Section 1 / Edition 1 / Dated January 2019

4. Map of the Limits of the Port of Bideford and the Taw and Torridge Pilotage Area 

Insert Here 

Page 62



                                                                             Page 6 of 20          Section 1 / Edition 1 / Dated January 2019

5. The Safety Management System

a. Measuring Performance  

Any Safety Management system require means of pro-active and reactive monitoring to 
ensure that the system is working well, or if incidents occur to discover why and action what 
needs to be undertaken to prevent recurrence.  This will include reviews of existing risk 
assessments during Quarter 1/2 of 2019 and procedures or drawing up new procedures 
where required. 

Proactive measures employed are:

 Periodic audits both internal and external carrie out by the Designated Person.
 Monitoring by Pilots, Pilot Cutter crew and any marine staff.
 Establishing and monitoring  a complaints procedure.

Reactive measures employed are:

 Investigation of accidents, occurrences, near misses and complaints making the results
available to the Harbour Board and other relavent organisations.  

 Monitoring MAIB reports for learning opportunities.  All MAIB Reports are monitored by the 
Harbour Master, any reports relevant to marine operations within the Port of Bideford are 
distributed to all relevant marine personnel, MAIB Safety Digests are also distributed to all 
marine personnel who sign an acknowledgement sheet to confirm receipt.  

b. Auditing and Reviewing Performance

The safety management system is subject to a systematic review of how well it functions 
based on information from monitoring and independent audits.  This is to ensure that 
continuous improvement is made in the development of policies, procedural systems and risk 
control.

Performance is assessed by reference to internal indicators and external comparison with 
other similar organisations for good practice.

The Designated Person will ensure that the safety management system is audited at least 
once a year, this audit will be undertaken by the Designated Person.  Audit results are 
reported formally by the Designated Person to the Duty Holder (The Council) in April of each 
year.

Any non-compliances, actions or observations arising from the audit process must be 
addressed to the satisfaction of the Designated Person, who will then confirm the completed 
actions to the Council.

Any performance indicators and/or trends will be kept under review by the Harbour Master 
and brought to the attention of the Council as necessary.  

Page 63



                                                                             Page 7 of 20          Section 1 / Edition 1 / Dated January 2019

c. Monitoring Compliance

Once every three years Torridge District Council is required to confirm in writing, to the MCA, 
that the Council is complying with the Code.

This will be done by the HoPs once verification of compliance has been confirmed by the 
Designated Person.  This verification is achieved through the audit process.
 
The statement of compliance was first made in March 2019.  
See Statement of Compliance

d. Document Reviews

 The Port of Bideford  MSC Compliance Plan and Port of Bideford  MSC Procedures are 
controlled documents that will be reviewed every year and after a reported incident and 
will also be subject to a formal review every 3 years.  

 Bye Laws will be reviewed every 3 years.
 Marine Safety Plan will be reviewed and published every 3 years.  The Hydrographic survey 

plan will be assessed annually to address any changes needed.
 General Directions will be reviewed during each calendar year or following a marine 

incident.

e. Annual Reports

The Port of Bideford  MSC will be reviewed by the Harbour Master annually and after any 
recorded incident to ensure the validity and effectiveness of the information it contains.  The 
results of the annual review will be included in the Torridge District Council Annual Strategic 
Review.   This document is made available to the public and discussed at an Annual 
Consultative Meeting to which members of the Port Community and the public are invited. 

6. Torridge District Council Positions, Duties, Powers and Authorities

Duties and powers relating to the safety of Marine Operations of the Port of Bideford  have been 
entrusted to Torridge District Council, both individually and collectively, and it retains a strategic 
oversight and direction of all aspects of the Harbour operation.  The Council has powers to appoint 
a Harbour Master and to authorise Pilots and may properly entrust the operation of the Harbour 
to such professional people, but it cannot assign or delegate its accountability for compliance with 
the Code.

6.1 Key Positions

a) The Duty Holder

Torridge District Council will:

 Take reasonable care, so long as the Harbour is open for the public use, that all who 
may choose to navigate in it may do so without danger to their lives or property.

 Conserve and promote the safe use of the Harbour; and prevent loss or injury caused 
by the authority’s negligence.

Page 64

http://dms/site/qual_stand/marine_safe/PMSC/Reference%20Library/PMSC%20Statement%20of%20Compliance%202%20March%202015.pdf
http://vifs.pod.local:62080/client/runtime/hybrid.application?url=ifsapf%3AtbwDocIssues%3Faction%3Dget%26key1%3D9500%255E1009245%255E1%255E1%26COMPANY%3D10


                                                                             Page 8 of 20          Section 1 / Edition 1 / Dated January 2019

 Have regard to efficiency, economy and safety of operation as respects the services 
and facilities provided.

 Take such action that is necessary or desirable for the maintenance, operation, 
improvement or conservancy of the Harbour.

In addition, Torridge District Council will ensure that enough resources are available to 
discharge their marine safety obligations and set the level of dues accordingly.  Where 
required the necessary Consents or Authorisations will be obtained before carrying out 
works in the Harbour.

b) Head Of Paid Service

The Head of Paid Service is accountable for the operational and financial control of the 
Port of Bideford .

He or she advises the Council on all matters related to its duties and powers, with 
appropriate advice from the Harbour Master and other officers. He will:

 Oversee the implementation of its policies and decisions.

 Have overall executive responsibility for the safety of marine operations and staff

c) Designated Person 

Torridge District Council has appointed– Janet Williams; Environmental Health and 
Community Safety Manager, Torridge District Council as the “Designated Person.” 

Contact Details: Janet.Wiliams@Torridge.gov.uk 

The Designated Person is required under the code to provide independent assurance 
directly to the Duty Holder that the marine safety management system is working 
effectively.  The Designated Person’s main responsibility is to determine through 
assessment and audit, the effectiveness of the Port of Bideford Safety Management 
System in ensuring compliance with the code.  The Designated Person must therefore 
have a thorough knowledge and understanding of the requirements of the PMSC (and 
supporting Guide to Good Practice and associated Port and Marine legislation).

d) The Harbour Master

The Harbour Master has day to day responsibility for safety of navigation and the safe 
operation of associated marine activities in the Harbour and its approaches.  The post 
holder must be suitably qualified and experienced for the role.

Specifically the Harbour Master:

Page 65

mailto:Janet.Wiliams@torridge


                                                                             Page 9 of 20          Section 1 / Edition 1 / Dated January 2019

 Has powers of direction to regulate the time and manner of ships entry to, departure 
from and movement within Harbour waters.

 Ensures the co-ordination and regulation of all vessels within the Harbour and its 
approaches in particular in relation to General Directions and Bye-laws.

 In relation to the Port Authorities conservancy duties the Harbour Master has overall 
responsibility for the provision and maintenance of aids to navigation.

 The Harbour Master may delegate his powers for the purposes of complying with the 
Code and in this regard the delegated officers are the authroised pilots and the crew 
of the Pilot Cutter “Two Rivers 2.”

6.2  Duties and Powers

Torridge District Council’s duties and powers are mainly set out in various statutes and 1894 
Byelaws, copies of which can be found in the Torridge District Council website. 
 
The power for Torridge District Council to make bye-laws is derived from a range of 
legislation, both general and local.  The main sources are:-

 Harbour, Docks, Piers Clauses Act 1847
 Bideford Harbour Act 1894 and 1925
 Bideford Harbour Revision Order 1988
 Pilotage Act 1987
 Merchant Shipping Act 1995.

The Council has specific duties and powers which are relevant to Port safety including the 
following:-

 Powers to direct vessels are available and are used to support safe navigation.
 Dangerous vessels and dangerous substances (including pollution) are effectively managed.
 A Pilotage service is provided in the interests of safety of navigation. 
 As the local lighthouse authority Torridge District Council has the duty and power to 

provide and properly maintain aids to navigation and thereby effectively manage any 
dangers to navigation presented by known hazards such as wrecks or obstructions.

a) Open Port Duty:
Under Clause 33 of the Harbour, Docks and Piers Clauses Act 1847, Port of Bideford  is 
subject to what is called the “Open Port Duty”.  This means that the Harbour must be 
open to anyone “for the shipping and unshipping of goods and the embarking and 
landing of passengers”, on payment of the rates and other conditions set by the Council.  
Conditions set by the Council and Tariifs for use of the Port are published on the 
website.

b) Civil Contingencies Duty - (Emergency Planning)
Emergency Plans are published by Port of Bideford and are held on the Councils IT 
system. Port of Bideford  emergency exercises are carried out each year.

Page 66

http://dms/site/qual_stand/CHEQS/Emergency%20Site/default.aspx


                                                                             Page 10 of 20          Section 1 / Edition 1 / Dated January 2019

c) Services and Facilities
Under Section 40 of the Harbours Act 1964, Torridge District Council has the power to 
set Terms and Conditions for the use of services and facilities provided by them for users 
in the Port.
These Terms and Conditions can be found as described under a) Open Port Duty above.

d) Dangerous Goods
All Dangerous Goods shipped through the Port of Bideford  are subject to, and must 
conform to The Dangerous Substances in Harbour Areas Regulations (DSHA 87).   
Guidance regarding all aspects of the handling of Dangerous Goods within the Port of 
Bideford  can be found by following the links below.
HSE.WI.0034 - Dangerous Goods 

The Council has additional powers through local legislation to further control the 
movement of such goods.

e) Powers
Bye-laws will be approved by the Council and are subject to formal approval by the 
Department for Transport.

General Directions shall be approved by the Council via presentation by the Harbour 
Master, and are applicable to all Port users following a consultation process set out by 
the Department for Transport as defined in section 7.2.

Powers of General Direction have been identified and are exercised.  The current 
General Directions for the Port of Bideford  can be found through the link: General 
Directions 2016
See section 7.1.

Harbour (Special) Directions shall be given by the Harbour Master or his delegated 
representatives.  See section 7.2.

Directions under the Dangerous Vessels Act shall be given by the Harbour Master or his 
delegated officers.  

The use of all these powers is governed by the Council’s formal risk assessment which 
supports the safety management system.  The use of these powers is based on a proper 
assessment of the safety of the Harbour, the hazards that present and the number, type 
and activities of vessels using it.  These powers are reviewed by the Harbour Master  
periodically, if any action is found to be necessary the Council will be advised and 
appropriate action confirmed.

Where major risks are highlighted by the risk assessment process, the Harbour Master 
will notify the Designated Person, who will then be fully involved in the process  to 
determine what further action needs to be taken.

Page 67

http://dms/site/qual_stand/CHEQS/WI/HSE.WI.0034.doc
http://vifs.pod.local:62080/client/runtime/hybrid.application?url=ifsapf%3AtbwDocIssues%3Faction%3Dget%26key1%3D9800%255E1003954%255E1%255E1%26COMPANY%3D10
http://vifs.pod.local:62080/client/runtime/hybrid.application?url=ifsapf%3AtbwDocIssues%3Faction%3Dget%26key1%3D9800%255E1003954%255E1%255E1%26COMPANY%3D10
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#GD
http://mysite/personal/nick%20shearman/Shared%20Documents/Port%20Marine%20Safety%20Code/PMSC%20%20000.docx#SD


                                                                             Page 11 of 20          Section 1 / Edition 1 / Dated January 2019

Where as a result of the formal risk assessment it is found that legal powers are 
insufficient to control the safety of navigation, the Harbour Master will notify the 
Council and the Head of Legal Services who will take appropriate steps to gain the 
necessary powers, if feasible.

Should the need be identified to amend Torridge District Council’s existing statutory 
powers, then a Harbour Revision Order (HRO) would be raised.  Examples of when a 
HRO may be required could include:-

 Improving, maintaining or managing the Harbour (including Harbour reorganisation 
schemes);

 Marking or lighting the Harbour, raising wrecks or otherwise making navigation safer;
 Regulating the activities of other individuals and groups in connection with the 

Harbour and the marine/shoreside interface;
 Setting the limits within which the authority is to have jurisdiction (eg, to extend 

compulsory pilotage beyond the current Harbour limits).

It is to be noted, in this connection, that the Master or Pilot of a vessel is not obliged to 
obey directions if he believes that compliance would endanger the vessel.

Local Notices to Mariners are used to inform marine users and marine staff of any 
changes to important operational navigation information relevant to the Port of 
Bideford .

f) Enforcement
Any infringement of a Direction or Bye-law is to be reported to the Harbour Master.  
Transgressions will be investigated and dealt with directly by the Harbour Master who 
will, if appropriate, notify the Council  if it is considered that the offence warrants a 
prosecution.

Torridge District Council has in place a Marine Enforcement & Prosecution Policy

7. General & Special Directions

7.1 General Directions  

Torridge District Council does not have the power to make General Directions.  

7.2 Special Directions

Special Directions may also be referred to as “Directions” or “Harbour Directions”.
Dangerous Vessel directions are also classed as Special Directions.

The Harbour Master has powers of Direction to regulate the time and manner of ship’s entry 
to, departure from and movement within the Harbour waters.  These powers are for the 
purpose of giving specific directions to specific vessels for specific movements.

Page 68

http://vifs.pod.local:62080/client/runtime/hybrid.application?url=ifsapf%3AtbwDocIssues%3Faction%3Dget%26key1%3D9800%255E1012675%255E1%255E1%26COMPANY%3D10


                                                                             Page 12 of 20          Section 1 / Edition 1 / Dated January 2019

Special Directions are not for setting general rules but relate to specific vessels - or in an 
emergency, to a class of vessels - on particular occasions.

The Harbour Master’s powers of Direction are also exercisable by those who carry his 
delegated authority, i.e. the authorised Pilots and Pilot Cutter Crew.

It is an offence not to comply with Special Directions but the Master, or Pilot, of a vessel is not 
obliged to obey the Special Direction if he believes that compliance would endanger the 
vessel.

It is the duty of the Harbour Master in exercising these powers to consider the interests of all 
shipping in the Harbour.

It is to be noted that when a pilot is on board a vessel in his capacity as a Pilot, he is acting 
as a “servant of the ship” and whilst so doing he cannot exercise the delegated Harbour 
Master’s powers of Direction.  Once he has been released from his duties as Pilot, only then 
does he regains the delegated powers of the Harbour Master.

Special Directions may include the use of tugs and other forms of assistance.

Special Directions may or may not be given in writing, though if not given in writing they will 
be confirmed in writing as soon as is reasonably practicable.

A copy of any Special Direction issued by a Harbour Master’s delegated Officer is to be passed 
to the Harbour Master for retention.  

a) Incidents Threatening Pollution & Safety

In the event of an incident or accident on a vessel within the Port of Bideford , which has 
resulted in a pollution incident or given rise to the risk of pollution by a hazardous 
substance or a risk to safety, the Harbour Master may be obliged to follow directions 
issued by the Secretary of State’s Representative (SOSREP).

The Directions may require the Harbour Master to take, or refrain from taking, such 
actions as may be specified.  Among other things, the Direction may require that the 
vessel is moved or not moved, to or from a specified area, locality or place, that any oil 
or cargo should or should not be discharged, or that specific salvage measures should be 
taken.  The Secretary of State also has wide powers to take action or authorise others to 
do so where it is considered that issuing directions would not be sufficient.

The Harbour Master must try to comply with the Direction in a manner which avoids 
risk to human life. 

b) Dangerous Vessels

Under the Dangerous Vessels Act 1985, the Harbour Master may give Directions 
prohibiting the entry into, or requiring the removal from, the Harbour of any vessel if, in 
his opinion, the condition of that vessel, or the nature or condition of anything that it 
contains, is such that it’s presence in the Harbour might involve a grave and imminent 

Page 69



                                                                             Page 13 of 20          Section 1 / Edition 1 / Dated January 2019

danger to the safety of persons or property or risk that the vessel may, by sinking or 
foundering in the Harbour, prevent or seriously prejudice the use of the Harbour by 
other vessels.  He must have regard to all the circumstances and to the safety of any 
person or vessel.

Such Directions may be over-ridden by SOSREP who may issue contrary Directions to the 
Harbour Master.

8. Consultation Between the Council and Marine Stakeholders

The Council as the Duty Holder is consulted regularly on Port of Bideford PMSC compliance issues.  
The Council receives an annual formal report on the health of the Port of Bideford PMSC, this will be 
delivered by the Designated Person.

The Designated Person is in constant liaison with the Harbour Master and his delegated Officers and 
has direct access to the Council and will keep the Council informed at all times on matters 
pertaining to compliance with the code.  The Council in the person of the Chief Executive will be 
required to formally sign a letter of compliance to the MCA every 3 years.  Consultation with marine 
stakeholders is maintained by means of the following forums/mechanisms:

8.1 External:

 Port of Bideford Harbour Liaison Forum
 Port of Bideford  Website

8.2 Internal:

 Harbour Board Meetings (quarterly) 
 Harbour Master and Pilot meetings (monthly)
 Vessel Safety Management Review and Safety of Navigation Review Group (6 monthly)

9. Statutory Reporting Requirements

Torridge District Council is subject to the following Statutory reporting requirements in the event of 
a marine based accident or pollution incident within the Port of Bideford :-

Accident - Any accident which meets the criteria established by the MAIB to be reported to the 
Chief Inspector by completing and forwarding an MAIB Accident Report Form by quickest means 
available, eg e-mail to: maib@dft.gsi.gov.uk or fax to: 023 8023 2527.

See Marine Accident Investigation: Report an accident for the appropriate form format.  Guidance 
on statutory accident reporting is given below.

Pollution Incident - Any incident involving pollution of Harbour waters, eg Oil spill, is to be reported 
to the MCA by the Harbour Master using a POLREP Form..

Page 70

mailto:maib@dft.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.maib.gov.uk/report_an_accident/index.cfm
http://vifs.pod.local:62080/client/runtime/hybrid.application?url=ifsapf%3AtbwDocIssues%3Faction%3Dget%26key1%3D9800%255E1013426%255E1%255E1%26COMPANY%3D10


                                                                             Page 14 of 20          Section 1 / Edition 1 / Dated January 2019

The Marine Safety (Accident Reporting and Investigation) Regs 2012 came into force on 31st July 
2012. Details of these can be found by following the link:
The Merchant Shipping (Accident Reporting and Investigation) Regulations 2012.

Guidance on reporting under these regulations is given in MGN 458 which includes definitions of 
reportable accidents in the attached Annexes.

Further guidance is available in the PMSC Guide to Good Practice Chapter 12.

 The Harbour Master will ensure that an MAIB Report Form is completed and forwarded.
 Copies of the completed form (and any additional related reports) will be retained by the 

Harbour Master who will oversee all MAIB correspondence.
 

9.1 Statutory Reporting Requirements – Procedure flow chart. 

Reportable Marine 
Incident

Complete MAIB 
Marine Incident 

Report Form
Complete POLREP 
Form (Initial Info)

Fax/E-Mail to 
MAIB Fax/E-Mail to MCA

Copies to Harbour 
Master & Port 

Safety

Notify 
Environment 

Agency Tel: 0800 
807060

Update with 
Additional Info

PollutionAccident

10. Risk

Page 71

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1743/made
http://www.maib.gov.uk/cms_resources.cfm?file=/MGN_458MAIB.pdf


                                                                             Page 15 of 20          Section 1 / Edition 1 / Dated January 2019

Risk Assessment is a formal process upon which all necessary controls should be based.  It is a 
documented structured and systematic process that:-

 identifies a hazard and analyses the risks associated with the hazard.
 assesses the risks found against appropriate standards of acceptability.
 assesses the cost benefit of reduction measures where appropriate (in compliance with the 

ALARP (As Low As Reasonably Practicable) principle).
 is undertaken by qualified staff that have the appropriate skills and experience to do so.

A list of identified hazards and associated risks has been drawn up and assessed taking into account 
any relevant legislation which is regarded as the minimum standard and appropriate control 
measures detailed and put in place.  Details as per the Navigation Risk Assessment (NRA) 
Document. The Council is committed to reducing the risks identified by the Risk Assessment process 
in accordance with the ALARP principle.

Risks are scored against the available controls for adequacy.  Where the controls are not adequate, 
further action, responsibility and priority is then produced.  Where any marine risk cannot be 
controlled adequately, it must be notified to the Harbour Master and the Council who may seek 
legal advice where necessary and forward the result to the Council for their opinion. 
Where controls have an effect on other organisations they must be informed and consulted.

Specific Risk Assessments relating to particular Port operating limitations, commercial vessels, 
works in Harbour etc. can be found in the Port of Bideford Marine Risk Assessments (link needed 
here) . 

10.1 Risk Control

The following hierarchy of controls are applied:

i. Elimination of the risk – by avoiding a hazardous procedure, or by replacing the 
dangerous
     by the non-dangerous.

ii.  Combat the risk – by evaluating those which cannot be avoided, taking physically 
protective

      design measures to prevent risk as regards to the design of the workplaces, choice of 
work    
      equipment and choice of working methods.

iii. Minimise risk – by developing a coherent overall prevention policy which covers 
technology, 

      organisation of work, working conditions, social relationships and the influence of 
factors   
      relating to the working environment, by giving collective protective measures priority 
over  
     individual protective measures and giving appropriate instructions to employees.

Page 72

http://vifs.pod.local:62080/client/runtime/hybrid.application?url=ifsapf%3AtbwDocIssues%3Faction%3Dget%26key1%3D9800%255E1016434%255E1%255E1%26COMPANY%3D10


                                                                             Page 16 of 20          Section 1 / Edition 1 / Dated January 2019

Where controls are required they must then be made available to any person that may be 
affected or required to operate them by appropriate means i.e. Harbour Master’s Directions, 
Instructions, Manuals or Procedures.

Should additional powers be required in order to ensure the safety of navigation within the 
Port of Bideford , such available powers are detailed in Section 6.2.

10.2 Reviews

Within the Navigation Risk Assessment, risks are reviewed at intervals dependant on their 
rating (all being based on the gross, pre-controls rating of the risk):-

Red Risks -  90 days or if something changes, whichever is the sooner
Amber & Yellow Risks - 180 days or if something changes, whichever is the sooner
Green Risks - 360 days or if something changes, whichever is the sooner

All Marine Risk Assessments are reviewed annually by the Harbour Master.  Those Risk 
Assessments rated as “High” are reviewed every three months by the Harbour Master.

Prior to the introduction of a new marine operation, or any modification of an existing 
operation within the Port, a full assessment within the context of the safety management 
system shall be undertaken before implementation.

In the event of any works being planned within the Port of Bideford  which may affect the 
safety of navigation, the Harbour Master will be consulted by the Council Services Division so 
that risk assessments can be carried out and required actions/controls put in place and 
relevant notices distributed as appropriate.

11. Competencies

The Council assesses the level of competency required by the Harbour Master.  The Harbour Master 
assesses the level of competence required by other staff in relevant positions and of Pilotage 
Exemption Certificate holders.  Where applicable the Harbour Master shall ensure that statutory 
qualifications and medical standards are fully complied with, e.g. STCW’95 requirements.

Minimum qualifications for Authorised Pilots and the training process which apply in the Port of 
Bideford  are detailed in Port of Bideford Pilotage Directions.

11.1  Pilotage Direction and Pilot Exemption Certificates  (PECs)

The General Requirements for Pilotage Exemption Certificates for the Port of Bideford  are 
contained within the current Pilotage Direction.   

12. Drink & Drugs 

The Council has a Drugs and Alcohol Policy relating to it’s employees.

Page 73

http://dms/CorpLegal/procedures/Chapter2/Wiki%20Pages/Drugs%20and%20Alcohol%20Policy.aspx


                                                                             Page 17 of 20          Section 1 / Edition 1 / Dated January 2019

If the Harbour Master suspects that a mariner (Master, Pilot, Seaman) has committed a drink or 
drugs related offence when on duty, within the Harbour limits, then he has the power to detain that 
vessel.
This power can be exercised only if the Harbour Master summons a Police Officer before, or 
immediately after the vessel is detained. 

This power of detention lapses after the Police Officer has decided whether to administer a 
preliminary test and has notified the Harbour Master of that decision.

13. Conservancy

Information on Conservancy can be found in Port of Bideford Safety Management System 05 - 
Conservancy.

14. Aids to Navigation

Under the Merchant Shipping Act 1995 Local Lighthouse Authorities (LLAs) have a duty to seek prior 
consent to the establishment, alteration, removal etc., of any lighthouses, buoys or beacons.  The 
Harbour Docks and Piers Clauses Act 1847 applies to third party aids within the jurisdiction of the 
Harbour and to the establishment of temporary aids to navigation.  The consent of Trinity House 
must be sought before any changes to Aids to Navigation (AtoN) are made.  Standard forms of’ 
“Request for Sanction/Consent” are located on the Trinity House website.

Hazards to Navigation are identified through the Navigation Risk Assessment process in order to 
determine the position and type of Aid to Navigation required ensuring safety of navigation within 
the Port of Bideford. The Council has a duty to raise, remove, destroy and mark wrecks which lie in, 
or in or near any approach to any Harbour or tidal water under its control.  

All AtoN are maintained in accordance with the available criteria laid down by the General 
Lighthouse Authorities and are subject to periodic review.  Trinity House Lighthouse Service 
provides assistance and guidance on the provision and maintenance of all AtoN.

The Harbour Master reports to Trinity House using the Port Aids to Navigation ‘ATON REPORTING 
ONLINE’ system. (Check)

The monitoring of day to day operational effectiveness and the initial response to any AtoN casualty 
is co-ordinated by the Harbour Master (Port of Bideford Safety Management System 04 – Aids to 
Navigation).

14.1 General Lighthouse Authority (GLA)

The GLA for England is Trinity House Lighthouse Service and, as such, is responsible for the 
superintendence and management of all lighthouses, buoys or beacons within England, 
therefore including the Port of Bideford .

Page 74

http://vifs.pod.local:62080/client/runtime/hybrid.application?url=ifsapf%3AtbwDocIssues%3Faction%3Dget%26key1%3D9500%255E1009187%255E1%255E1%26COMPANY%3D10
http://vifs.pod.local:62080/client/runtime/hybrid.application?url=ifsapf%3AtbwDocIssues%3Faction%3Dget%26key1%3D9500%255E1009187%255E1%255E1%26COMPANY%3D10
http://vifs.pod.local:62080/client/runtime/hybrid.application?url=ifsapf%3AtbwDocIssues%3Faction%3Dget%26key1%3D9500%255E1008105%255E1%255E1%26COMPANY%3D10
http://vifs.pod.local:62080/client/runtime/hybrid.application?url=ifsapf%3AtbwDocIssues%3Faction%3Dget%26key1%3D9500%255E1008105%255E1%255E1%26COMPANY%3D10


                                                                             Page 18 of 20          Section 1 / Edition 1 / Dated January 2019

Trinity House has a duty to inspect all lighthouses, buoys, beacons and other navigational aids 
belonging to, or under the management of the Local Lighthouse Authority.  They may also give 
Directions concerning the provision and positioning of aids to navigation.

a) Local Lighthouse Authority (LLA)

Torridge District Council is the Local Lighthouse Authority (LLA) for the Port of Bideford  
and therefore has the power and responsibility to carry out and maintain the marking 
and lighting of any part of the Harbour within the authority’s area.

b) LLA Duties

Torridge District Council, as the LLA, will not, without the GLA’s consent, erect, remove 
or vary the character of any lighthouse, buoy or beacon.  All approved alterations will be 
notified to the UKHO. 

Torridge District Council will give the GLA all information concerning the lighthouses, 
buoys and beacons under their management as the GLA may require.

c) LLA Reporting

All  Aids to Navigation (A to Ns) maintained by Torridge District Council must be 
maintained in accordance with the availability criteria laid down by the GLA and will be 
subject to periodical review.

The characteristics of these Aids to Navigation comply with the International Association 
of Lighthouse Authorities (IALA) Guidelines and Recommendations.

Information is supplied to the GLA through the Ports Aids to Navigation ‘ATON 
REPORTING ONLINE’ system.  AtoN administration is overseen by the Harbour Master.

15. Passage Plans

Port passage guidance is to ensure that:-

 All parties know relevant details of any particular Port passage in advance;
 There is a clear, shared understanding of potential hazards, margins of safety and the ship’s 

characteristics;
 Intentions and required actions are agreed for the conduct of the Port passage, including the use 

of tugs and their availability.  Any significant deviation from the passage plan should be agreed 
and recorded.

The Council uses directions for the use of plans and the advance preparation of appropriate passage 
plans by visiting ship’s Masters, including Masters and ship’s Officers exercising Pilotage Exemption 
Certificates.  The Council shall monitor compliance with such requirements and therefore utilises 
General Directions.

Page 75



                                                                             Page 19 of 20          Section 1 / Edition 1 / Dated January 2019

15.1 Collision Regulations

There are no special rules which modify or exclude the application of any part of the 
International regulations for Preventing Collisions at Sea.  

15.2 Publication of Port Passage Guidance

Passage plans and guidance for all commercial vessels are published by the Harbour Master 
and are available via ship’s agent or direct from the Harbour Office upon request.  This 
guidance is contained in the General Directions. 

Passage guidance for leisure users is available from nautical publications, updated as 
necessary by the  Hydrographic Office.  Information is also available from the Port of Bideford  
website where you can view  Marina Facilities, Navigation & Berthing.

Any variations to these passage plans or passage guidance will be notified to Port users by the 
pilot on arrival or by Notice to Mariners published on the Council website.

Authorised Pilots, when piloting commercial vessels, will utilise a Passage Plan Chartlet when 
carrying out the Master/Pilot exchange immediately on boarding any such vessel, prior to 
commencing the act of pilotage.  Pilotage Plan Chartlet .

15.3 Passage Record Keeping

A Port passage plan should be used to discuss the planned passage between the Master and 
the Pilot. Both should sign the plan to confirm that the planned manoeuvre has been agreed.  
Completed Passage Plans are retained by the Pilot and held on file in the Harbour Office.  In 
the event of an incident the plan should be retained by the Pilot and submitted with the 
Pilotage Incident Report Form.

16. Charges

Torridge District Council has powers to collect dues from Port users to provide resources to pay for 
the discharge of their statutory functions. 

The level of dues are formally approved and determined by the Council.

The applicable charges are reviewed annually and are available in the annual tariff books published 
by the Council.  The three tariff books cover Commercial, Ferry and Marina activities.

16.1 Pilot Charges and Exemption

Torridge District Council makes charges in respect of any vessel subject to its Pilotage Direction 
which can be found in the Commercial and Ferry tariff booklets.  Such charges apply to vessels 
with an authorised Pilot on board or to vessels under the conduct of a Pilotage Exemption 
Certificate (PEC) holder.

Page 76

http://www.doverport.co.uk/marina/
http://vifs.pod.local:62080/client/runtime/hybrid.application?url=ifsapf%3AtbwDocIssues%3Faction%3Dget%26key1%3D9800%255E1005479%255E1%255E1%26COMPANY%3D10


REPORT OF Planning and Economy Manager
To: Community and Resources Committee 

Subject: Adoption of the North Devon Coast Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
Management Plan 2019 -2024 

Date: 23rd April 2019 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT:
To advise Members of the adoption under Urgency Procedure of the North Devon Coast 
AONB Management Plan 2019-2024

1. INTRODUCTION

The North Devon Coast Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty was designated in 1960, under 
the 1949 National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act. The primary purpose of AONB 
designations is: “To conserve and enhance natural beauty”.

In pursuing the primary purpose, account should be taken of the needs of agriculture, 
forestry and rural industries as well as the economic and social needs of local communities. 
Regard should be paid to social and economic development that conserves and enhances 
the environment. Whilst recreation is not an objective of the designation, the demand for 
recreation should be met insofar as it is consistent with the conservation of natural beauty.

With the introduction of the Countryside and Rights of Way (CROW) Act 2000, Section 85 
placed a duty on all public bodies to have due regard to the purposes of the AONB 
designation and to conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the AONB.

Section 89 places a statutory duty on local authorities with an AONB in their area to produce 
a Management Plan. The relevant authorities are North Devon Council, Torridge District 
Council and Devon County Council who contribute 25% of the annual core funding for the 
AONB to match the 75% from Defra.

2. REPORT

Management Plan 2014 - 2019

To fulfil the requirements of the CROW Act, local authorities must produce a Management 
Plan for the AONB at intervals of not less than five years. The purpose of the Management 
Plan is:
•To provide a statutory plan that sets out the policies and objectives for the AONB
•To inform public bodies how they can demonstrate compliance with their statutory duty to 
“have regard to” the AONB designation
•To facilitate engagement with people and organisations with a stake in the AONB and to 
encourage involvement in working in partnership to deliver the objectives laid out in the 
Management Plan

This is not a Management Plan to be delivered by the AONB team alone, it is a Management 
Plan for the area and requires all to work in partnership to deliver the objectives. An annual 
delivery plan is produced and regular monitoring carried out to report on progress.

The Management Plan is attached as Appendix 1

Page 77

Agenda Item 11



Reason for Urgency:

There was an urgent requirement to have the Management Plan approved in order that all 
partners are signed up for its delivery commencing April 2019.  DCC and NDC had already 
approved the plan and DEFRA were keen to see the commitment of Torridge DC.

The plan has been produced following and extensive consultation process.  Members with 
wards within the AONB have been engaged as has Cllr James as Lead Member for the 
environment.

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications
To fulfil the requirements of the CROW Act, local authorities must produce a Management 
Plan for the AONB at intervals of not less than five years.

Financial Implications
The Council currently provides £ of funding towards delivery of the management plan.  This 
arrangement is reviewed annually.

Human Resources Implications
Within existing resources

Sustainability Implications
The primary purpose of AONB designations is: “To conserve and enhance natural beauty” 
but there is a wider responsibility to help deliver a more sustainable economy for the area by 
delivering projects and programmes that are intended to create job, regenerate places and 
improve communities.

Equality/Diversity
Equality and diversity are at the heart of AONB policy.

Risk Management
N/A

Compliance with Policies and Strategies
The Management Plan has good strategic fit with the Council’s strategic priorities as set out 
in the TDC Strategic Plan 2016 -2020

Ward Member and Leader Member Views
None- Purdah regulations apply

4.        CONCLUSIONS

The Management Plan sets out sustainable proposals for the future management of the AONB 
area and there is a strong multi agency partnership and staff team to ensure its delivery.  The 
Council is fully engaged in every aspect of AONB Partnership activity.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that:

1. That Members note the adoption under Urgency Procedure of the North Devon Coast 
AONB Management Plan 2019-2024

Page 78



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Head of Paid Service, Strategic Manager (Resources), Cllr 
James. Senior Solicitor and Monitoring Officer. Leader and 
Deputy Leader.

Contact 
Officer: Sean Kearney – Planning and Economy Manager
Background 
Papers:

Page 79



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 1

Consultation Draft of the
North Devon Coast Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

Management Plan 2019 - 2024

Contents

 A 20 Year Vision

 Ministerial Foreword

 AONB Partnership Chairman Foreword

 Map of the AONB

 Summary of Objectives and Policies

 Statement of Significance and Special Qualities

1. Context
1.1. Purpose of the AONB Designation

1.2. State of the AONB

1.3. Strategic and Policy Context

1.4. The North Devon UNESCO World Biosphere

1.5. Setting and Boundary Review

2. Place
2.1 Landscape and Seascape

2.2 Biodiversity and Geodiversity

2.3 Historic Environment and Culture

2.4 Environmental Quality and Climate Change

3. People and Prosperity
3.1. Planning, Development and Infrastructure

3.2. Farming and Land Management

3.3. Sustainable Rural and Visitor Economy

3.4. Access, Health and Wellbeing

4. Communications and Management
4.1. Community Action, Learning and Understanding

4.2. Management and Monitoring

5. Appendices
5.1 Glossary

5.2 References

P
age 80



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 2

A 20 Year Vision
“The North Devon Coast AONB will remain as one of England’s finest landscapes and seascapes, protected, inspiring and valued by 
all. Its natural and cultural heritage will sustain those who live in, work in or visit the area. It will be valued by residents and visitors alike 
who will have increased understanding of what makes the area unique and will be addressing the challenges of keeping it special to 
secure its long-term future.”

Ministerial Foreword 
I am fortunate that England’s Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty are part of my 
Ministerial responsibilities. Whether it be rolling hills, sweeping coastline or a 
tranquil village, spending time in an AONB can stir the heart and lift the spirit. 

This is a pivotal moment for all AONBs. The Government has set its ambition in the 
25 Year Environment Plan which states clearly the importance of natural beauty as 
part of our green future, while AONBs retain the highest status of protection for 
landscape through national planning policy. Leaving the EU brings with it an 
opportunity to develop a better system for supporting our farmers and land 
managers, who play such a vital role as stewards of the landscape. And the 
Review of National Parks and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty led by Julian 
Glover - the first of its kind for generations - will make recommendations to make 
sure our designated landscapes can flourish in the years ahead.  

In my visits to AONBs around the country, I have been struck by the passion of many people - farmers, volunteers, and hard-working 
staff - for the beautiful places they live and work in. In this spirit I am delighted to welcome publication of this Statutory Management 
Plan for the North Devon AONB. It is significant that this plan will be delivered in partnership by those who value the North Devon 
AONB. I would like to thank all those involved in preparation of this document and wish you the best of success in bringing it to fruition.  
(insert signature)

AONB Partnership Chairman Foreword 
The production of this Plan has been an excellent example of the AONB Partnership working at its best, showing how dynamic and 
vibrant a group it is. The process was well managed and timely, with inclusive workshops and good debates informing its production. 
The level of agreement and support the Plan has received in development gives it great strength. It is a pleasure to be the Partnership 
Chairman working with such a wide cross section of local authorities, agencies, charities and community representatives, all dedicated 
to supporting the work of the excellent AONB team.

P
age 81



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 3

There have been significant changes since the last Plan in both legislation and forces for 
change. The National Planning Policy Framework and the new Local Plan for North Devon 
and Torridge have strengthened protection for the AONB. However, there is a visible impact 
from climate change on species, water, soils and land management practices, alongside the 
development and recreation pressures of a living and working landscape. 

Some of the highlights over the last five years have included: two Heritage Lottery Fund 
supported partnership projects on wildlife and built heritage delivering environmental 
enhancement and community engagement with the AONB; sustained community action to 
remove marine litter from our beaches to protect wildlife and people; increased engagement 
with schools, colleges and communities to support learning in the natural environment and 
wildlife monitoring; landscape enhancements through undergrounding of power lines; 
responding to the health and wellbeing agenda through information and pro-active 
engagement; continuing to offer the Defra supported Sustainable Development Fund small 
grants for local groups and businesses to deliver AONB priorities through innovative projects.

The North Devon coast is a national treasure that includes some of the best coastal scenery in the country, and this Plan demonstrates 
a clear, joint ambition to improve the Area within an interesting political, economic and cultural climate. I have great confidence that 
members of the Partnership will deliver the Plan with commitment, dedication and energy.
(insert signature)

P
age 82



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 4

Map of the North Devon Coast Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty

P
age 83



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 5

Summary of Objectives and Policies
Landscape and Seascape Environmental Quality and Climate Change Sustainable Rural and Visitor Economy

To conserve and enhance the natural beauty and 
special landscapes of the AONB

To promote the sustainable management of natural 
resources and of climate change impacts

To promote sustainable development within the 
AONB that is consistent with the designation

A1 Ensure that the landscape character, natural beauty and 
special qualities of the AONB are conserved, enhanced and 
fully respected in all decisions affecting the Area
A2 Preserve the dark skies, peace and tranquillity of the 
AONB
A3 Ensure developments both onshore and offshore, take 
account of open views, wilderness and maritime connections
A4 Recommend that no development should be permitted 
inside or outside the AONB that would harm the natural 
beauty, character or special qualities of the AONB
A5 Ensure developments comply with the North Devon 
Landscape and Seascape Character Assessments

D1 Increase understanding, adaptation and mitigation of 
climate change impacts on coastal landscapes and 
communities
D2 Contribute to marine planning to conserve and enhance 
seascape quality, coastal species and habitats
D3 Improve inland, coastal and bathing water quality through 
catchment management, local flood management and litter 
management

(Note: former ‘Coast’ objective and policies incorporated into 
this section and others)

G1 Take account of the value of the natural environment in 
economic development decisions using the Natural Capital 
and Ecosystem services approach
G2 Support partners to develop sustainable tourism 
opportunities that promote the special qualities of the AONB, 
without damaging protected sites and species

Biodiversity and Geodiversity Planning, Development and Infrastructure Access, Health and Wellbeing
To conserve and enhance the biodiversity and 
geodiversity of the AONB, in terrestrial, aquatic and 
marine habitats

To ensure the planning process and infrastructure 
development protects and enhances the designated 
AONB and its special qualities

To ensure sustainable access to the AONB for the 
benefit of the health and wellbeing of local people and 
visitors, consistent with the designation

B1 Support and promote approaches to conserve and 
enhance habitats and species, increase wildlife richness and 
ensure the resilience of the landscape
B2 Identify and address actual and potential impacts on 
biodiversity from invasive species, disease and climate 
change 
B3 Encourage actions to enhance, maintain and promote 
the geodiversity of the AONB through appropriate site 
management and public awareness 

(Note: former ‘Geodiversity’ objective and policies (C1-3) 
incorporated into this section)

I1 Provide planning advice and policy guidance to conserve 
and enhance the natural beauty and special qualities of the 
designated AONB
I2 Promote and maintain the local distinctiveness and 
historic character of the built environment
I3 Support affordable housing proposals to meet local 
housing needs, that take full account of the AONB 
designation
I4 Conserve and enhance the coast and marine environment 
in relation to onshore and offshore developments
I5 Support appropriate infrastructure, signage and transport 
networks in the AONB, for the benefit of local and visiting 
communities
I6 Ensure that new development delivers suitable 
biodiversity net gain

H1 Work with partners and landowners to develop improved 
access to and interpretation of the natural environment
H2 Support new opportunities and reduce barriers to 
improve the health and wellbeing of local people and visitors

Historic Environment and Culture Farming and Land Management Community Action, Learning and Understanding
To conserve, enhance and understand the historic 
and cultural features of the AONB

To promote farming, food production and land 
management practices that conserve and enhance 
the special qualities of the AONB

To support more people to learn about, understand 
and take action to conserve the AONB

E1 Support actions to conserve and enhance the historic 
and cultural features of the AONB, and their setting
E2 Develop approaches to increase understanding of local 
heritage and culture

F1 Support partners to deliver sustainable and exemplar 
land management, forestry and farming practices in keeping 
with the AONB designation
F2 Work with landowners and managers to maintain 
landscape features such as hedge-banks and woodlands
F3 Support approaches to enhance the Natural Capital 
within the AONB including carbon storage, clean water, 

J1 Raise awareness and understanding of the AONB, its 
special qualities, natural and cultural heritage
J2 Develop opportunities for people to volunteer and gain 
appropriate skills and knowledge to deliver AONB policies
J3 Support the provision of community facilities and services 
to improve the quality of life and sustainability of rural and 
coastal communities

P
age 84



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 6

clean air, timber, renewable energy and food, consistent with 
the designation

J4 Support communities and businesses to reduce carbon 
emissions from the designated AONB so long as they are 
complementary to the special qualities of the AONB

Statement of Significance and Special Qualities

The North Devon Coast Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) was designated in 1959 and confirmed by the Secretary of State in 
19601. It was the first of the five Devon AONBs to be designated. It covers 171 square kilometres (66 square miles) of mainly coastal 
landscape including special places such as Combe Martin, Lee Bay, Woolacombe, Croyde, Saunton, Braunton Burrows, Northam Burrows 
Country Park, Westward Ho!’s Pebble Ridge and the Hartland Peninsula. The extensive, mobile, dune system at Braunton Burrows has an 
immense diversity of wildlife and lies at the heart of the AONB. In 2002 Braunton Burrows earned the international status of a UNESCO 
World Biosphere with the AONB being an important part of its core and buffer zone.

Statement of Significance
The North Devon coast has a wide diversity of scenery including some of the of the finest cliff scenery in the country, the primary reason for 
its designation. Tall rugged cliffs and wave-cut platforms contrast with wide, sandy bays and sand dunes. In the north, steeply dipping rocks 
form hogsback cliffs at varied heights in a natural continuation of Exmoor’s coastline. To the south, facing the full force of the Atlantic, sheer 
crags and razor-like reefs present the coast at its most rugged and beautiful. The AONB reaches inland to the Hartland plateau, scored by 
deep valleys, which reach the coast as steep hanging gaps in the cliffs, often with spectacular waterfalls.

In contrast, the broad sweep of Bideford and Barnstaple Bay is a mixture of low cliffs, long sandy beaches and the dunes at Braunton 
Burrows. Inland a pastoral landscape of hedged fields complements the steep-sided wooded combes and valleys where villages shelter 
from the Atlantic winds. Whilst skirting larger settlements such as Ilfracombe and Westward Ho!, the AONB boundary takes in bustling 
seaside resorts such as Woolacombe and Croyde and picturesque fishing villages such as Clovelly and Bucks Mills along this spectacular 
coast.

Distinctive Coastal Scenery
Walking along the South West Coast Path across the open, windswept clifftops, and gazing westward across the seemingly infinite 
expanse of ocean, there is a sense of timelessness and of raw nature devoid of human influence. The feeling is sharpened when Atlantic 
storm waves crash against the twisted strata of exposed rocky cliffs, sending thunderous sprays of surf into the air. Dropping down into a 
coastal combe from the cliffs or farmland, a strong sense of refuge and shelter prevails, made more striking by the presence of enclosing 
woodland in the combes.

Where stretches of coastline are distant from the coast road, a sense of tranquillity and remoteness is strong. In Braunton Burrows, the vast 
sand-dune system, infinite sky and an expansive sandy beach are bordered by tranquil grazing marshes. Likewise, the Hartland Coast 
possesses a sense of wilderness, but this is a fragile quality, which can dissolve with the sight of a wind turbine or mast on a skyline, or a 

P
age 85



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 7

car parked in an open combe. Coastal landforms provide classic examples of erosion and deposition, as well as rare and characteristic 
landscape features.

A Landscape and Seascape of high visual quality
Panoramic views from elevated areas across rolling countryside are an important feature of the AONB. Within the combes, framed sea 
views are characteristic, and coastal vistas across to Lundy are wide and empty. Further north the view is framed by intimate distant views 
of the Welsh coast. Inland, the countryside, much of it undesignated, forms an important backdrop to the coast and is a defining element to 
the visual quality of the AONB providing a variety of open views. The coast path provides long views along the coast across the estuary 
and inland to the undeveloped skyline and downland.

A Significant Wildlife Resource
Much of the coastline is designated for its biological importance. The rarest AONB habitat is rush pasture, or Culm Grassland, small 
fragments of which are found on the wet inland moors of the Hartland area such as Bursdon and Brownsham Moors. Elsewhere, there are 
mosaics of maritime grassland, heathland and scrub, estuarine salt marsh, along with sea cliffs and rocky shores especially around Morte 
Point and Hartland Quay. There are internationally important sand dunes and hundreds of miles of hedgerows with isolated trees and 
Devon hedge-banks providing extensive havens throughout the inland area. Western oak woodland is found along the Clovelly coast and 
within the combes, whilst excellent air quality, constantly freshened by Atlantic westerlies, is a particular asset supporting a proliferation and 
variety of lichens, all contributing to the local landscape character.

A Varied Geology
Much of the coastline is also designated SSSI for its geological importance. Coastal landforms provide classic examples of coastal erosion 
and deposition as well as rare and unique landscape features. These include the pebble ridge at Northam Burrows, the mobile sand dune 
system at Braunton Burrows, Blackchurch Rock at Brownsham, the Tuts Hole anticline at Abbotsham and the dramatic waterfalls 
cascading on to rocky shores from truncated combes. The variety of coastal landforms from wave-cut platforms to wide sandy beaches 
offers an immense resource for marine wildlife that inhabit the foreshore.

A Remarkable Heritage
The legacy of a long history of human habitation in the area is woven into the landscape, with some threads tracing back to pre-historic 
times. The most extensive historic landscape features are the enclosed fields defined by ancient hedge-banks, from the narrow, enclosed 
strip fields of Combe Martin to the 19th century regular enclosures of the downland above Ilfracombe, their patterns reflecting centuries of 
agricultural change. This is made more appealing by historic farmsteads, hamlets and villages and the winding lanes which connect them.

Inland the ridgelines are marked by ancient burial mounds, whilst along the coast, promontory sites such as the ancient earthworks at 
Hillsborough and Embury Beacon, have been home to strategic defences from the Iron Age to the 20th Century wars. Devon’s seagoing 
heritage is represented by historic quays and fishing villages like Clovelly, with lime kilns in almost every inlet and wrecks of ships and 
planes on both land and sea.

P
age 86



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 8

Special Qualities (Text with 16 Photos)
This list of special qualities was drawn up by the Partnership to fully illustrate the landscape features of the designated area.

1. Diversity of scenery contained within a small area, including some of the finest cliff scenery in the country (as mentioned at designation)
2. Panoramic seascape, with seaward views to Lundy within the Atlantic Ocean, across the Bristol Channel to Wales and along the 

coastline. These views are of a landscape and seascape devoid of human influence.
3. Narrow framed views of the sea from coastal mouths of steep-sided combes
4. Panoramic views across a rolling landscape of pastoral farmland, wooded combes and valleys from elevated inland areas
5. Wild coastal scenery. In the north, hogsback cliffs of varying heights; in the south high, rugged cliffs, dramatic rock formations, exposed 

headlands, wavecut platforms and rocky coves.
6. A vast sand dune system at Braunton Burrows of exposed wild character, with high nature-conservation interest of international 

importance, and the pebble ridge at Westward Ho!
7. Long, broad sandy beaches backed by extensive dune systems
8. A strong sense of tranquillity and remoteness where the coast road is located away from the coastline
9. Rare and fragile quality of wilderness in Braunton Burrows and on the Hartland coast
10. Historic landscape pattern of hedge-banks, farmsteads, hamlets, villages and lanes
11. Historic coastal quays and fishing villages, coastal promontory sites for strategic defences and lighthouses.
12. Deep combes and cliffs cloaked in ancient woodland along the Bideford Bay coast
13. Small pockets of remnant lowland coastal heathlands around Morte Point and Hartland Quay
14. Tourist-orientated settlements in sheltered seaside locations
15. Secluded, secretive and tranquil steep sided valleys that dissect the high downland and coastal plateau
16. Dark night skies, particularly in the Hartland Peninsula

P
age 87



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 9

1. CONTEXT

1.1   Purpose of AONB designation
The North Devon Coast AONB was designated under the 1949 National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act. It is part of a family of 
protected landscapes of 34 AONBs in England including two conservation boards, plus ten National Parks. The primary purpose of AONB 
designation is:

“To conserve and enhance natural beauty”

Subsequent legislation has emphasised that in pursuing the primary purpose, account should be taken of the needs of agriculture, forestry 
and rural industries as well as the economic and social needs of local communities. Regard should be paid to social and economic 
development that conserves and enhances the natural and historic environment. Whilst recreation is not an objective of the designation, the 
demand for recreation should be met insofar as it is consistent with the conservation of natural beauty2. 

1.1.1 Duty of Regard
Several different guidance documents and legislative changes have amended or clarified the terms, duties and understanding of elements 
of the 1949 Act. The Countryside and Rights of Way (CRoW) Act 2000 subsumes and strengthens the 1949 Act:

 Section 85 places a duty on all public bodies ‘to have regard to the purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty’ of 
AONBs when coming to any decisions or carrying out activities relating to or affecting the designated area. 

 Sections 89 and 90 place a statutory duty on local authorities with an AONB in their area to prepare a Management Plan 
‘which formulates their policy for the management of their area of outstanding natural beauty and for the carrying out of their 
functions in relation to it’, and thereafter to review adopted and published Plans at intervals of not more than five years. 

 Section 92 clarifies that the conservation of natural beauty includes the conservation of ‘flora, fauna and geological and 
physiographical features.’

1.1.2    The AONB Management Plan
This is a place-based plan, derived through local consensus, that is for the area as a whole not just for the AONB team or Partnership 
members. It seeks to define the approach to conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the AONB through the application of local 
solutions to local challenges, that respect the national and international importance of the AONB. This plan is the fourth to be produced by 
the AONB team, at the request of the local authorities covering the AONB - North Devon Council, Torridge District Council and Devon 
County Council. The five-year plan has the following purposes:

P
age 88



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 10

AONB Management Plan Purposes
 To provide a statutory plan that sets out the objectives and policies for the designated AONB
 To identify the special qualities of the area that contribute to its natural beauty
 To inform and influence the determination of planning applications and appeals as the Plan is a ‘material consideration’ in the 

planning system
 To inform public bodies how they can demonstrate compliance with their statutory duty to “have regard to” the AONB 

designation
 To inform and engage local people, visitors and organisations with the AONB’s purpose ‘to conserve and enhance’ through their 

actions to deliver the Management Plan objectives
 To guide the work of the AONB Partnership and other local actors and organisations

1.2   State of the AONB
As part of the review process for the Management Plan, a ‘State of the AONB’ report was produced in 2018 to collate monitoring 
information against performance indicators and measures of progress over the previous four years. Seventeen indicators were reported on 
using a traffic light system, with evidence available for 16 of them. In summary 11 were green showing good progress, 4 were amber 
requiring more work and 1 was red indicating limited progress. The full report is available on the AONB website3.

1.3   Strategic and Policy Context

The following policies, documents and strategies have been considered during the production of this plan: -

International
At an international level, the AONB is classified as a Category V landscape by the International Union for the Conservation of Nature 

recognising it as a ‘cultural landscape’ managed mainly for landscape and seascape protection and for recreation. Additional status is given 
to the area from the North Devon UNESCO World Biosphere international designation covering the whole of the AONB and the catchments 
of the Taw and Torridge rivers. 

At a European level, this plan is under development during the negotiations for the UK to leave the European Union in 2019. The 
consequent political and policy decisions in progress during this period will have an impact on the AONB through new agricultural, 
environmental and economic policies. As examples, the Agriculture Bill 2017-19 is progressing through the various parliamentary stages 

P
age 89



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 11

with proposals on direct payments during an agricultural transition period and other matters. The Environment Bill 2018 proposes that the 
25 Year Environment Plan becomes the government’s Environmental Improvement Plan to be overseen and reported on through a new 
independent scrutiny and advisory body – the Office for Environmental Protection. These may be some of the most significant forces for 
change for the AONB and will be considered through the Delivery Plan produced each year in the AONB Annual Business Plans but are 
only mentioned here once rather than in each of the thematic sections below.

National
A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment (DEFRA, 2018)
Natural England’s Conservation 21 Strategy (2018)
Natural England Framework Document (2017) 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000
Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009
Biodiversity 2020 (DEFRA, 2011)
The National Planning Policy Framework (MHCLG, 2018)
Water Framework Directive (EU, 2000)
Government Forestry Policy Statement (DEFRA, 2013)

Local
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (2018)
Northern Devon Tourism Strategy 2018–2022 (2018)
Heart of the South West Local Enterprise Partnership – Strategic Economic Plan (2014) and Productivity Strategy (2018)
Devon Minerals Plan 2011–2031 (2017)
North Devon Biosphere Strategy for Sustainable Development 2014-2024
North Devon and Somerset Shoreline Management Plan 
Northern Devon Economic Strategy 2014–2020 (2014)

1.4   The North Devon UNESCO World Biosphere

Biospheres are designated by UNESCO to be sites of excellence for demonstrating sustainable development on a bio-regional scale. They 
have 3 functions:

 Conservation of ecosystems, habitats, species and genetic diversity
 Development that is environmentally, economically and socially equitable

P
age 90



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 12

 Knowledge management to promote learning and understanding to be an example for the local and international community.

Biospheres are structured with 3 zones:
 Core Area: Braunton Burrows - a highly protected ecosystem of bioregional significance
 Buffer Zone: the AONB and Taw Torridge Estuary - an area where land/sea management is sympathetic to the conservation 

of the objectives of the core area
 Transition Area: the catchment areas of the Taw and Torridge rivers and the adjacent marine area including Lundy 

Island, taking in the whole of the North Devon and Torridge districts, and parts of Mid and West Devon districts and of 
Dartmoor and Exmoor National Parks - denoted by the extent of the ecosystems where sustainability will be a key aim of the 
community

The interests of the Biosphere and the AONB have much in common ranging from biodiversity to cultural traditions. With a strong focus on 
catchment based and landscape scale approaches, Biospheres seeks adaptation to climate change through the optimisation of natural 
capital and the range of ecosystems services from the area. Both bodies are required to produce a Management Plan and these two 
documents work in tandem. The Biosphere Partnership’s Strategy is delivered through seven working groups on Catchment Partnerships & 
Agriculture, Marine, Woodland, Green Economy & Energy, Nature Improvement, Community & Communications and Research & 
Evidence. This provides a broad conservation, research and development framework for the AONB and its setting (See 
www.northdevonbiosphere.org.uk/).

P
age 91

http://www.northdevonbiosphere.org.uk/


North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 13

The North Devon UNESCO World Biosphere

P
age 92



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 14

1.5   Setting and Boundary Review

1.5.1 Setting 
The North Devon coast’s designated Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty cover a long and narrow sliver of largely coastal land based on 
the catchments of the coastal streams of Hartland and North Devon. This reflects the reasons for designation – coastal cliffs, coastal 
scenery and sand dune systems. In consequence the designation does not cover key areas in its setting which have a significant 
landscape, environmental and economic impact on the AONB because of the narrowness of the area. These include: the majority of the 
Taw Torridge Estuary SSSI and the wider catchments of the Taw and Torridge rivers which specifically affect water quality, biodiversity, 
tranquillity and visual impact; the surrounding marine environment including the Atlantic Ocean, the Bristol Channel and Lundy Island which 
impact on the seascape, visual impact, recreational impact and biodiversity; and the settlements of Ilfracombe and Westward Ho! with 
effects on tranquillity, visual impact and recreation.

Developments and management activities outside of the designated area in its setting, be it on land or at sea, can have a profound effect 
across the entire AONB, and extreme care must be taken when making management decisions within these special areas. This is 
recognised in Section 85 of the CRoW Act 2000 which states that activities and developments outside the boundaries of AONBs that have 
an impact within the designated area, are also covered by the ‘duty of regard’.

This is particularly relevant to Lundy Island which lies outside of the designated AONB but is defined as Heritage Coast and forms an 
important backdrop to the AONB. Some of the AONB’s special qualities include seaward views to Lundy and with the potential 
development of offshore wind farms in the approaches to the Bristol Channel, the seaward setting of the AONB is vulnerable.

Several recent legislative and evidence gathering activities have helped to address some of these issues. Firstly, the completion of the 
North Devon and Exmoor Seascape Assessment in 2016 provides evidence to make informed decisions in relation to onshore and offshore 
planning, management and policy activities by local partners, agencies, developers and planners over the coming years. It will also 
contribute to development of the new Marine Management Plan for South West England. Secondly, the designation in 2016 of two Marine 
Conservation Zones (MCZ) along two thirds of the AONB coastline covering Hartland Point to Tintagel and Bideford to Foreland Point from 
Mean High Water out to 1 nautical Mile. These complement the existing MCZ around Lundy Island, with two further offshore sites at Morte 
and NW of Lundy under consideration in the third Tranche. The MCZ designation helps to strengthen existing legislation and management 
activities along the coast and in the setting of the AONB.

P
age 93



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 15

1.5.2 Reviewing the AONB Boundary

There has been a longstanding objective to extend the AONB boundary to include two significant landscape areas – Lundy Island and 
Braunton Great Field and Marshes. These are iconic places in England of great natural beauty as highlighted in the evidence provided to 
the AONB Landscape Assessment in 1999. Firstly, they are significant in landscape and natural beauty terms as evidenced by their 
definition as Heritage Coast in the 1990’s. Secondly, including the full Heritage Coast defined area as part of the AONB would enhance 
protection of the inter-tidal zone, as this would cover the marine area of up to two nautical miles from the mean low water mark. Thirdly, this 
would provide additional protection for the coastal setting of the AONB, whose value has been clearly demonstrated in the Seascape 
Character Assessment. Finally, both sites are vulnerable to significant threats including: development pressures within the Bristol Channel 
affecting Lundy Island; changes in farming methods, viability and pressures of globalisation affecting traditional farming and land 
management; and the impacts of climate change resulting in coastal re-alignment near Braunton. 

The Review of National Parks and AONBs carried out under the 25 Year Environment Plan is due to report in 2019 and is considering the 
boundary review process for designated landscapes (www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan). During the call for 
evidence for the Review and the consultations on this Management Plan, several Partnership members raised additional boundary 
extension priorities to meet both environmental enhancements and better engagement with local communities. These include parts of the 
Taw-Torridge Estuary and the fringes of Ilfracombe. Both areas have experienced significant change since the AONB boundary was 
determined sixty years ago and provide a range of landscape, wildlife and community benefits which need to be evidenced to inform any 
further ambitions for AONB boundary extensions.

P
age 94

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan


North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 16

2. PLACE

2.1   Landscape and Seascape

The exceptional landscape and seascape of the North Devon coast is the main reason why it was designated an Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty in 1960 and defined as Heritage Coast in 1990 for Hartland and 1992 for North Devon. To assist in the management of 
this valuable landscape several Landscape Character Assessments have been undertaken at different levels and scales which can be 
viewed as maps on the DCC Environment Viewer landscape section at https://new.devon.gov.uk/environment/environmental-maps. 
These Assessments provide an objective appraisal of what special features and qualities make the landscape valuable and worthy of 
conservation. This is important to help understand the potential impact of onshore and offshore development and to inform planning 
decisions. These Assessments look at the pressures and forces for change acting on the landscape and others provide a strategy of 
how to protect, manage and plan the area to keep it special.

2.1.1 National Character Areas 
At a national level, the whole of England has been divided into 159 unique National 
Character Areas (NCA). These National Character Areas are defined by a combination of 
landscape, biodiversity, geodiversity, cultural and economic activity. Their boundaries 
follow natural lines in the landscape, rather than administrative boundaries, making them a 
good decision-making framework for the natural environment. The North Devon AONB is 
split between two National Character Areas: Exmoor (145), which covers the AONB to the 
north of the Taw & Torridge Estuary and The Culm (149) which covers Bideford Bay and 
the Hartland coast.

2.1.2 Devon Character Areas
In 2011, Devon County Council, in partnership with other Devon local authorities, AONBs and Dartmoor National Park produced a new 
set of 68 Landscape Character Areas for Devon13. These areas are geographically unique and recognisable at a County level. It 
provides a valuable evidence base for the AONB, local planning decisions and local development plans including County Council 
minerals and waste plans by articulating what people believe is distinctive and special about each landscape. In addition, it describes 

P
age 95

https://new.devon.gov.uk/environment/environmental-maps


North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 17

the key “forces for change” affecting those landscapes and provides management guidelines. The unique features of the seven Devon 
Character Areas found in the AONB provide a great “sense of place”.

Landscape Character Areas in the AONB – (Insert Photo for each one and description)
North Devon High Coast North Devon Coastal 

Downs
North Devon Downs Taw and Torridge Estuary

Bideford Bay Coast Hartland Peninsula High Torridge Culm Plateau Lundy Island in the Setting

2.1.3 Landscape Character Types 
In 2010, a comprehensive assessment was undertaken on behalf of Torridge and North Devon District Councils4 which uses the 
definition of Landscape Character Type as its base. Landscape Character Types are generic, and they describe key landscape types 
within the area, such as cliffs, estuaries and river valleys. This document was adopted by the respective Local Authorities and assists 
with both spatial planning through the Local Plan and development control decisions. They have also been used as the basis for 
landscape sensitivity assessments to help inform and develop district council strategies for the deployment of renewable energy 
schemes within the North Devon and Torridge areas5. 

P
age 96



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 18

2.1.4 Landscape Description Units
In 2010 the AONB Partnership commissioned a further fine-grained study to produce Landscape Description Units6. This work defined 
some 43 unique Landscape Description Units, which are frequently referred to as the “building blocks” of the other Landscape 
Character Assessments. This is an important baseline document when assessing and describing the landscapes, geology, land use 
and built environment of the AONB.

2.1.5 Seascape Character Assessment
The North Devon AONB was largely designated because of its stunning seascapes, where the land interacts with the sea. In response 
to potential offshore developments which could impact on the designated area, the North Devon Coast AONB in partnership with other 

P
age 97



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 19

organisations commissioned in 2015 a Seascape Character Assessment of the Exmoor and North Devon coast 7. This assessment 
which identified 18 Seascape Character Areas relevant to the North Devon AONB, provides valuable information on how to conserve 
and enhance the coastline of the area to protect it for future generations to enjoy.

In September 2018 the Marine Management Organisation (MMO) completed the Seascape Characterisation and Visual Impact in 
Marine Areas project (MMO1134) with the publication of Seascape Character Assessments for the final four areas, integrating with the 
existing assessments for the east and south marine plan areas. The AONB coastline is covered by four marine character areas within 
the South West Marine Plan8. 

Forces for Change - Issues, Opportunities and Threats
 Number, scale and cumulative impact of renewable energy projects within, and in the setting of, the designated landscape 
 Changes to environmental and agricultural policy may impact on farmers’ priorities and hence the landscape, with possible 

intensification, extensification and/or diversification, alongside increased emphasis on Natural Capital and biodiversity Net Gain
 Glover Review of nationally protected landscapes as part of Defra’s 25 Year Environment Plan
 Farm diversification and changes in technology and techniques are changing the landscape and increasing farm building sizes
 Increased development and continuing impact of car dependency affects the tranquillity of the AONB and facilities for them
 Climate change is reflected in farming changes, and impacts of disease and pests, for example loss of trees from Ash Dieback
 Coastal erosion and sea level rise affecting low lying landscape
 Potential impact of marine plans and management of marine protected areas
 Pressure for development in the setting of the AONB, particularly in the Estuary and adjacent settlements, eroding character, 

tranquillity, dark night skies and quality of views

Work to date
 North Devon and Exmoor Seascape Character Assessment completed in 2016 and training workshops held across the area
 Fixed Post Photography maintained providing comparative landscape assessments for the ‘Coastal Change’ project with Beaford 

Archive in 2016/17
 Contribution to new Local Plan consultations
 Development work for Defra Landscape and Marine Pioneers in North Devon
 Power line removal at Mortehoe and Croyde
 Responding to ‘major developments’ including the Atlantic Array Offshore Wind Farm, Route 39 School and Beckland Slurry Lagoon

P
age 98

https://www.us10.list-manage.com/track/click?u=ab1c7ee88ca09c8ad43de6922&id=7c0b9da2ed&e=7e05ec9b3b


North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 20

Landscape and Seascape
Objective
To conserve and enhance the natural beauty and special landscapes of the AONB

Policies
A1 Ensure that the landscape character, natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB are conserved, enhanced and fully respected 
in all decisions affecting the Area
A2 Preserve the dark skies, peace and tranquillity of the AONB
A3 Ensure developments both onshore and offshore, take account of open views, wilderness and maritime connections
A4 Recommend that no development should be permitted inside or outside the AONB that would harm the natural beauty, character or 
special qualities of the AONB
A5 Ensure developments comply with the North Devon Landscape and Seascape Character Assessments

 Priority Actions
Review of the designated AONB boundary to incorporate all of the declared North Devon Heritage Coast (Lundy island, Braunton Great 
Field and Braunton Marshes) into the AONB
Research and evidence the potential contribution of key areas in the AONB’s setting to deliver environmental enhancement and/or 
increased community engagement for the AONB (e.g. parts of the Taw-Torridge Estuary, Ilfracombe fringes)
Review Devon Landscape Character Assessments working with DCC, NDC and TDC and NE through the Devon Landscape Policy Group
Continue to monitor and respond to landscape change
Promote understanding and use of AONB landscape and seascape character assessments, and DLPG Advice Notes
Deliver Morte Point landscape and habitat enhancements
Engage with and support cross-boundary initiatives to identify and protect tranquil areas

 Indicators
Light Pollution levels
Area of Landscape Enhanced (AONB/NAAONB KPI)

P
age 99



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 21

2.2   Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

The AONB is covered by many designations to protect and conserve its wildlife and geology.
 
2.2.1 Biodiversity
The AONBs varied landscapes support a rich wildlife resource the highlight of which are two internationally designated sites:  Braunton 
Burrows Special Area of Conservation (SAC) includes a spectacular dune system with over 400 plant species whilst the Tintagel-Marsland-
Clovelly Coast SAC is home to western oak woodlands, vegetated seas cliffs and coastal heath.  Small fragments of rare Culm grassland 
survive in the Hartland Peninsula, notably in the Bursdon Moor Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). There are 14 SSSI in or partly in 
the AONB and 54 County Wildlife Sites.  Of the areas designated as SSSI, 94% are now in ‘favourable’ or ‘unfavourable recovering’ 
condition, compared to only 78% in 2008 (Natural England data 2018).

Priority habitats found in the AONB include oak woodland, parkland and wood pasture, species-rich hedgerows, farmland, Culm grassland, 
coastal heathland, sand dunes, estuary and salt marsh, rocky foreshore and seabed9. The Devon list of priority species was updated in 
2018 and includes a list of 96 Special Species for which the county has a particular responsibility10. A number of these Special Species are 
found in the AONB including sea stock, round-headed club-rush and the scrambled-egg lichen found in Braunton Burrows, pink sea fan, 
pearl bordered fritillary and greater horseshoe bats.  See https://www.naturaldevon.org.uk/devons-natural-environment/devons-
wildlife/devonspecialspecies/. Citizen science surveys of marine species in the inter-tidal zone, under the Coastal Creatures project in 
2016-2018, identified 441 different species across four beaches with Lee Bay having the richest wildlife resources. All verified records have 
been uploaded to the National Biodiversity Network website11.

The AONB contains several Strategic Nature Areas, areas with higher than average concentrations of existing wildlife habitats. These are 
largely based on coastal sand dunes, coastal and floodplain grazing marsh and mudflats, see http://www.dbrc.org.uk/strategic-nature-
areas-snas/

P
age 100

https://www.naturaldevon.org.uk/devons-natural-environment/devons-wildlife/devonspecialspecies/
https://www.naturaldevon.org.uk/devons-natural-environment/devons-wildlife/devonspecialspecies/
http://www.dbrc.org.uk/strategic-nature-areas-snas/
http://www.dbrc.org.uk/strategic-nature-areas-snas/


North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 22

Special Sites of Scientific Interest (SSSI) within the North Devon Coast AONB

P
age 101



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 23

In response to the ‘Lawton principles’ from the 2010 review “Making Space for Nature”12 and publication in 2011 of both the Natural 
Environment White Paper and the ‘Biodiversity 2020: A Strategy for England’s Wildlife and Ecosystem Services’, Devon has made 
considerable progress in better understanding and taking action on biodiversity issues. This has been facilitated through the Devon Local 
Nature Partnership (LNP)13 and delivering projects at a more local level working to address their three aims:

1. To protect and improve Devon’s natural environment - We will protect and enhance our natural resources and achieve bigger, 
better, joined-up and resilient wildlife habitats, together with characteristic landscapes.

2. To grow Devon’s green economy - We will support and promote business opportunities which depend on and help to sustain a 
healthy natural environment.

3. To reconnect Devon’s people with nature - We will improve and promote access to the environment for residents and visitors, 
benefiting our physical, mental and spiritual wellbeing and quality of life.

Examples of actions relevant to North Devon include: landscape scale activities and making habitats better connected to provide better 
ecological networks (through Nature Improvement Areas); work on valuing the natural environment through the ecosystem services based 
approach and more recently the Natural Capital approach (www.gov.uk/government/groups/natural-capital-committee) under the Defra 
Pioneer work on landscape and marine habitats; and engaging the public with a wide range of Devon LNP campaigns and awareness 
raising, for example on invasive species, diseases, pollinators and the value of road verges for wildlife.

Strengthening ecological networks is a challenge for the AONB given the development pressures in unprotected areas of its setting, the 
narrowness of the area and private ownership of most of the land in the AONB. It is therefore critical that habitat improvement and creation 
become a stronger part of sustainable land management systems in the AONB, whether through support schemes, one-off targeted 
projects or a changing farming ethos incentivised by payments for public goods. The National Trust’s ‘nature-friendly farming’ approach 
launched in 2016 in response to the recorded decline of species14, is an example of shifting farming methods and priorities to balance food 
production by making space for nature, whether wildlife, water quality, timber production or hedgerows. This is now being implemented with 
a number of the Trust’s tenants across the AONB. The long-term priority for all partners is to deliver a robust and resilient AONB and 
ensure that wildlife-rich sites such as the designated SAC, SSSI, non-designated County Wildlife Sites and other priority habitats are 
conserved, and species are in favourable conservation status.

A new opportunity for wildlife under threat from development is the policy of ‘net gain for biodiversity’ in the North Devon and Torridge Local 
Plan, the revised National Planning Policy Framework (2018) and the Defra 25 Year Environment Plan. Piloting of the net gain metric is 
being carried out under the Defra Pioneer programme in North Devon.
 

P
age 102

http://www.gov.uk/government/groups/natural-capital-committee


North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 24

2.2.2 Geodiversity
The term ‘geodiversity’ encompasses the variety of rocks, minerals, fossils, landforms, sediments and soils in an area, together with natural 
processes, such as erosion and landslips that may still be active. The rocks, fossils and minerals have been formed over millions of years, 
shaping the landforms of the area and providing much of the spectacular scenery along the coastline. 

The underlying geology is a mixture of carboniferous sandstones and shales, Devonian slates, sandstones and volcanics, with an area of 
transition sandwiched in between. Spectacular zig-zag patterns in the carboniferous rocks can be seen along the Atlantic coast at Hartland 
Quay. This illustrates how the rocks were crumpled and contorted by the collision of crustal plates and thrust up into mountains. In the 
northern part of the AONB, the slates and sandstones provide building materials, clearly visible in the village of Mortehoe. A scattering of 
Limestone intrusions around Ilfracombe and Combe Martin have left their legacy in the remains of industrial heritage such as lime kilns and 
burners.

Within the North Devon Coast AONB there are 10 designated geological SSSI of which 94% are in a favourable or favourable recovering 
condition in 2018. Additionally, there are thirteen Regionally Important Geological Sites (RIGS) defined due to their value for education, 
geological research or aesthetic reasons. Whilst they are non-statutory designations, they are recognised as important “material 
considerations” when local authorities assess planning applications. 

Forces for Change - Issues, Opportunities and Threats
 State of Nature 2016 (2018) report stated that over 50% of species in the UK had declined in the previous ten years
 Impact of new developments for housing, infrastructure, business and agriculture
 Changing land management practices and technology in agriculture and forestry in the AONB and in its setting
 Climate change benefits and negative consequences
 Management of marine protected areas that cover majority of the AONB coastline 
 Net gain policies in new Local Plan and National Planning Policy Framework achieving benefits for biodiversity
 Increased numbers and changing recreational and sporting activities bringing people closer to nature
 Community engagement and citizen science opportunities to address resource constraints on knowledge, data, scale and reach
 Invasive species and diseases e.g. ash dieback
 Opportunities for habitat restoration at Braunton Burrows through the ‘Dynamic Dunescapes Project’ led by Plantlife

Work to date
 Devon Wildlife Trust’s 5-year Devon Greater Horseshoe Bat Project – with the AONB team as North Devon lead partner

P
age 103



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 25

 The AONB’s 2-year Coastal Creatures community engagement and citizen science project focussed on the wildlife on four beaches 
and marine litter. This followed on from the Clean Marine project focussed on marine litter and beaches.

 A survey of potential chough nesting sites commissioned with the RSPB, supported by SDF funds to install nest boxes for seabirds
 New wildlife monitoring project started in 2017 across all National Trust sites, to support their Nature Friendly Farming work
 SDF funding provided to the Biosphere - Life on the Verge project to engage communities in managing wildlife on local verges
 SDF funding provided towards a high tide roost and recreational impacts study on the Taw-Torridge Estuary
 New wildlife trails produced for Woolacombe, Ilfracombe and Northam Burrows through Coastal Creatures project
 West Country Buzz project by the Bumblebee Conservation Trust supporting pollinator friendly farming
 AONB team and partners actively involved in the Devon Local Nature Partnership
 A Local Geodiversity Action Plan for the North Devon Coast AONB produced in 201715

 Advice to land owners to manage, connect and improve habitats e.g. work on the Nature Improvement Area and West Country Buzz
 North Devon Defra Pioneer work on Natural Capital approaches

Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Objective
To conserve and enhance the biodiversity and geodiversity of the AONB, in terrestrial, aquatic and marine habitats

Policies
B1 Support and promote approaches to conserve and enhance habitats and species, increase wildlife richness and ensure the 
resilience of the landscape
B2 Identify and address actual and potential impacts on biodiversity from invasive species, disease and climate change 
B3 Encourage actions to enhance, maintain and promote the geodiversity of the AONB through appropriate site management and 
public awareness

Priority Actions
Work with partners to develop Nature Recovery Networks to provide bigger, better, more and joined up habitats building on Strategic 
Nature Areas within the AONB
Support development work on new colonisations and species re-introductions appropriate to the AONB
Support schemes for land managers which will benefit wildlife and farmers in the AONB
Promote community engagement opportunities that benefit wildlife and people – building on the legacy of Coastal Creatures and Devon 
Greater Horseshoe Bat Project work
Identify the Special Species in the AONB and how partners can work together to enhance their populations

P
age 104



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 26

Monitor and reduce the impact of invasive species and diseases on wildlife in the AONB
Play an active role in the Devon Local Nature Partnership
Implement the Local Geodiversity Action Plan for the AONB

Indicators
Percentage of SSSI in favourable condition (NE)
Area of Habitat/Land enhanced (AONB/NAAONB KPI)

2.3   Historic Environment and Culture 

The long social and cultural history of North Devon is reflected in the landscape, shaped by centuries of farming practices as seen in the 
strip field systems, hedge banks with facings of slate and stone or remnants of orchards and soft fruit production. Human habitation of the 
area stretches back to pre-historic times with ancient burial mounds, coastal hillforts, historic farmsteads, remote fishing villages and 
ancient landscape features. The maritime and agricultural heritage are reflected in local culture and traditions often linked to the seasons or 
particular historic events. The remoteness of this landscape at the periphery of South West England and its protection through landscape 
designations, has ensured that many historic features are still visible today whether from the iron age or from the Cold War in the 1950’s. 
There are 25 scheduled monuments in the AONB, 413 listed buildings, 12 conservation areas and one registered Historic Park and 
Garden.

The National Mapping Programme16 carried out analysis of historic hard copy photos (e.g. from the 1940’s), lidar and archaeological aerial 
surveys of the North Devon AONB in 2013 and identified 1100 new monuments. These included a possible southern extension of the iconic 
Iron Age hillfort of Clovelly Dykes, the effect of military action on the landscape such as explosions at Northam Burrows and fish weirs and 
hulks from the eighteenth century onwards. Full details are available on the Devon Historic Environment Record 
https://new.devon.gov.uk/historicenvironment/the-devon-historic-environment-record/ or the Heritage Gateway record of historic sites and 
buildings - http://www.heritagegateway.org.uk/gateway/. Historic Landscape Characterisation is a method for understanding and mapping 
the landscape that we see today with reference to its historical development, using digital maps. The AONB has been analysed at four 
levels and data is available on the Devon Environment viewer - http://map.devon.gov.uk/dccViewer/. 

Forces for Change - Issues, Opportunities and Threats
 Development increasingly impacting on the traditional character of settlements through infill, increased density, inappropriate 

building style and design, loss of non-protected architectural styles and developments in the setting of conservation areas

P
age 105

https://new.devon.gov.uk/historicenvironment/the-devon-historic-environment-record/
http://www.heritagegateway.org.uk/gateway/
http://map.devon.gov.uk/dccViewer/


North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 27

 Reduction in funding, knowledge and skills for appropriate management of archaeological sites and traditional landscape 
features (e.g. field boundaries)

 Lack of management and scrub encroachment for many historic features 
 Challenge to engage people with local heritage including: new people moving into the area; local schoolchildren not accessing 

heritage due to constraints on curriculum and funding; whether the next generations will carry on traditions, customs and skills
 Coastal erosion affecting sites on cliffs and in coastal margins
 Potential in the ‘Place-Making’ and ‘Health and Wellbeing’ agendas to re-engage the public with their heritage

Work to date
 Five new Monuments scheduled in the AONB – Saunton Lynchetts, two wrecks at Westward Ho!, Northam Burrows Radar 

station and extension to Hillsborough SAM
 Three SAMs received conservation work – St Clare’s Well at Philham, Holywell and Butterwell at Clovelly Dykes and a standing 

stone at Damage Barton
 Scrub clearance at Windbury hillfort and Bucks Mills enclosure by National Trust with Historic England support
 Clovelly Dykes hillfort – survey and small excavation of unscheduled southern section in AONB setting
 North Devon Coastal Heritage project developed, and partnership funding obtained in 2018 for 2 years
 SDF grants to restore historic wooden signposts at Hartland and restoration of Mortehoe church clock

Historic Environment and Culture
Objective
To conserve, enhance and understand the historic and cultural features of the AONB

Policies
E1 Support actions to conserve and enhance the historic and cultural features of the AONB, and their setting
E2 Develop approaches to increase understanding of local heritage and culture

 Priority Actions
Delivery of North Devon Coastal Heritage project with local partners including training volunteers to survey and monitor heritage assets, 
75th anniversary of D-Day commemorations, and community archaeology projects in the Hartland Peninsula
Monitoring, maintenance and interpretation of Scheduled Monuments
Seeking protection for undesignated locally important heritage
Repair of East Titchberry Malthouse

P
age 106



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 28

 Indicators
Number of Scheduled Ancient Monuments at risk (NAAONB/Defra KPI)
Heritage Assets enhanced with AONB support (local)

2.4   Environmental Quality and Climate Change

Climate change is one of the most significant pressures on the quality of the environment of South West England that may add to other 
trends in farming and land management to increase pressure on the natural environment. Trends from Met Office data based on a range of 
scenarios indicate the area could experience warmer and drier summers, warmer and wetter winters with more extreme weather events 
resulting in increased flood risks and coastal erosion. The UK Climate Change Predictions for 2018 provide more detail of these trends: 
www.metoffice.gov.uk/research/collaboration/ukcp/about. 
Mitigating and adapting to climate change is Goal 7 of the 25 Year 
Environment Plan and the issue of climate change appears across the Plan 
as a cross-cutting theme. The four areas that need to improve to adapt to 
climate change are resilience of habitats and biodiversity; soil health; flood 
hazard protection; and the marine environment and fisheries. The ability of 
the AONB Partnership to contribute to the mitigation of the effects of climate 
change is minimal in global terms. However, the Partnership can, and 
should, support local adaptation and mitigation initiatives which will have a 
positive impact. 

The high-quality environment within the AONB is reflected in the clean air, 
low levels of light pollution, clean bathing waters and tranquillity that then 
attract significant visitors to the area. This environmental quality provides a 
healthy environment for people living in and visiting the AONB. Whilst 
bathing waters and water bodies have seen quality improvements over the 
last few years, there has been a reduction in tranquillity in some areas with 
new developments and new leisure activities. The more remote areas have 
continued to experience high levels of tranquillity and environmental quality 
although intensive farming has begun to affect some quality measures even 
in the more remote areas such as the Hartland Peninsula. The level of light 
pollution and in consequence the quality of dark skies as a measure of 
tranquillity continue to be at the darkest levels in much of the AONB.17

P
age 107

http://www.metoffice.gov.uk/research/collaboration/ukcp/about


North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 29

Forces for Change - Issues, Opportunities and Threats
 Public understanding of climate change impacts and policy responses and their concern at perceived lack of action
 Climate change impacts on water quality, quantity and flows 
 Climate change impacts on soils, productivity and crop types
 Risk from pests, diseases (such as ash dieback, Phytophthora, bovine Tb etc.) and non-native invasive species 
 Renewables developing more at farm scale than commercial scale
 Natural flood management schemes with landscape impacts
 Marine litter increasing on the coast
 New regulations (e.g. Reduction and Prevention of Agricultural Diffuse Pollution (England) Regulation 2018)
 The North Devon UNESCO World Biosphere Partnership includes priorities on soils, water quality, woodlands and flood risks

Work to date
 North Devon Catchment Partnership working with external funds and contractors to address issues related to water quality, flood 

risk, soil quality and coastal realignment
 Public communication on climate change through ‘Character of our Coast’ talks and displays
 Natural flood management works in Combe Martin and Braunton areas
 Advisory visits and small grants from Environment Agency to reduce diffuse pollution going into the Taw Torridge estuary
 Water quality monitoring in Hartland streams
 Regular beach cleans along the whole coast and Plastic Free North Devon campaigns18

Environmental Quality and Climate Change
Objective
To promote the sustainable management of natural resources and of climate change impacts

Policies
D1 Increase understanding, adaptation and mitigation of climate change impacts on coastal landscapes and communities
D2 Contribute to marine planning and protection to conserve and enhance seascape quality, coastal species and habitats
D3 Improve inland, coastal and bathing water quality through catchment management, local flood management and litter management

 Priority Actions
Support for actions through the North Devon Catchment Partnership and use of Water Environment Grants
Support beach cleans and litter picks in rural, coastal and village locations

P
age 108



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 30

 Indicators
Water Bodies Status – river and coastal (local)
Area of Land Enhanced (beach cleans - local)

3. PEOPLE AND PROSPERITY

3.1   Planning, Development and Infrastructure

3.1.1 Planning Policies and the AONB

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) legislation from 2012, revised in July 2018, provides specific guidance for plan makers 
and decision takers in relation to AONBs. Paragraph 172 states:

“Great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic beauty in National Parks, the Broads and Areas 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the highest status of protection in relation to these issues. The conservation and 
enhancement of wildlife and cultural heritage are also important considerations in these areas and should be given great weight in 
National Parks and the Broads54. The scale and extent of development within these designated areas should be limited. Planning 
permission should be refused for major development55 other than in exceptional circumstances, and where it can be demonstrated 
that the development is in the public interest. Consideration of such applications should include an assessment of: 

a) the need for the development, including in terms of any national considerations, and the impact of permitting it, or refusing 
it, upon the local economy; 
b) the cost of, and scope for, developing outside the designated area, or meeting the need for it in some other way; and 
c) any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape and recreational opportunities, and the extent to which that 
could be moderated.”

Footnote 55 within Paragraph 172 above clarifies how decision-makers must decide what is ‘major development’ which is not just about 
size but significant effects. It should also be recognised that the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’ does not necessarily 
apply within AONBs as confirmed by Paragraph 11, footnote 6 of the NPPF, due to the other restrictions placed on AONBs elsewhere 
within the Framework.

P
age 109



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 31

The North Devon and Torridge Local Plan19 contains specific policies related to the designated AONB and confirms the AONB 
Management Plan is a ‘material consideration’ in the planning process:

Policy ST14: Enhancing Environmental Assets
The quality of northern Devon’s natural environment will be protected and enhanced by ensuring that development contributes to:
conserving the setting and special character and qualities of the North Devon Coast Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty whilst 
fostering the social and economic well-being of the area;

Policy DM08: Landscape and Seascape
(2) Great weight will be given to conserving the landscape and scenic beauty of designated landscapes and their settings. 
Proposals affecting the North Devon Coast Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) or Exmoor National Park or their settings 
should have regard to their statutory purposes including to ensure that their landscape character and natural beauty are conserved 
and enhanced. Development should be appropriately located to address the sensitivity and capacity of these designated areas and 
will not be permitted where it would conflict with the achievement of their statutory purposes.
(3) Proposals within or affecting the setting of the AONB should be informed by, and assist in the delivery of, the North Devon Coast 
AONB Management Plan. Major development within the AONB will be refused subject to the tests of exceptional circumstances and 
where it can be demonstrated that the development is in the public interest as set out in national policy.

3.1.2 Maintaining the Undeveloped Coast and Heritage Coast - additional protection for the coast is within the NPPF and Local Plan: 

The NPPF Paragraph 173 states “Within areas defined as Heritage Coast (and that do not already fall within one of the designated areas 
mentioned in paragraph 172), planning policies and decisions should be consistent with the special character of the area and the 
importance of its conservation. Major development within a Heritage Coast is unlikely to be appropriate unless it is compatible with its 
special character.” This is relevant to the Setting of the AONB, particularly Lundy Island and Braunton Great Field and Marshes.

The Local Plan has specific policies on the Coast that are designed to ensure that it is conserved and enhanced:
Policy ST09: Coast & Estuary states:
The integrity of the coast and estuary as an important wildlife corridor will be protected and enhanced. The importance of the 
undeveloped coastal, estuarine and marine environments, including the North Devon Coast Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, 
will be recognised through supporting designations, plans and policies. The undeveloped character of the Heritage Coasts will be 
protected.
Policy DM08: further includes:
(4) Development within the Heritage Coast should maintain the character and distinctive landscape qualities of the area.

P
age 110



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 32

3.1.3 Sustainable Development and Infrastructure - the AONB designation is not about preventing development within the area, rather it 
is about encouraging sustainable development, which does not harm the purposes of AONB designation. Developments that reflect local 
design and heritage, that use locally distinctive building stone and/or meet clearly evidenced local needs are more likely to be supported. 
Increasing house prices and competition for properties due to demand for holiday homes or second homes presents difficulties for local 
people accessing the housing market either for long term rentals or to purchase their own home. This local need for housing has prompted 
inclusion of a new policy to support affordable housing development within the AONB where they will meet evidenced, local housing need 
and are appropriate to the AONB designation. An additional sustainable development pressure is for essential infrastructure to meet 
transport, utilities, communications and information requirements to ensure the area is a living and working landscape.

Forces for Change - Issues, Opportunities and Threats
 New North Devon and Torridge Local Plan in place
 Ongoing potential for onshore, inshore and offshore renewable energy developments 
 On-going pressure for development inside the AONB and in its setting
 Increasing house prices and lack of affordability for local people, lack of affordable housing
 Development impacts leading to loss of tranquillity and increased light pollution
 The change in size and design of existing buildings is having a negative and cumulative effect on the landscapes of the AONB
 Current unavailability of many of Devon’s traditional building stones
 Impact of new communications technology to support mobile phone and broadband/internet access improvements
 Changes in highway management and maintenance
 Community led initiatives to maintain signage and local distinctiveness
 Landscape improvements achieved through undergrounding of overhead power lines

Work to date
 North Devon and Exmoor Seascape Assessment completed
 Planning protocol signed with the three local planning authorities
 AONB planning panel and planning contractor providing advice on planning application responses
 In 96% of planning applications commented on, the decision matches the recommendation of the AONB
 Provided advice to Neighbourhood Plans in North Devon
 Worked with Western Power, National Trust and other landowners to underground power lines in the AONB
 Provided small grants to support locally distinctive village signage in Hartland and Berrynarbor from the AONB’s Sustainable 

Development Fund
 Contributed to consultations on SW Marine Plan
 Member of the North Devon Marine Pioneer stakeholder group developing a Marine Natural Capital Plan

P
age 111



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 33

Planning, Development and Infrastructure
Objective
To ensure the planning process and infrastructure development protects and enhances the designated AONB and its special qualities

Policies
I1 Provide planning advice and policy guidance to conserve and enhance the natural beauty and special qualities of the designated 
AONB
I2 Promote and maintain the local distinctiveness and historic character of the built environment
I3 Support affordable housing proposals to meet local housing needs, that take full account of the AONB designation
I4 Conserve and enhance the coast and marine environment in relation to onshore and offshore developments
I5 Support appropriate infrastructure, signage and transport networks in the AONB, for the benefit of local and visiting communities
I6 Ensure that new development delivers suitable biodiversity net gain

 Priority Actions
Maintain planning advice service to local planning authorities
Develop Design Guide SPD for North Devon district
Research affordable housing needs within the AONB
Training of local authority officers, planning advisors and agents on landscape issues within the AONB
Development and implementation of the Net Gain for Biodiversity policy to ensure that development minimises impacts on wildlife within the 
AONB and contributes to net gains 
Support the development of a Marine Natural Capital Plan for the North Devon Marine Pioneer as part of the 25 Year Environment Plan

 Indicators
Number of Planning Applications commented on (local)
Percentage of Decisions on Planning Applications commented on, that match the AONB Partnership recommendation (local)

3.2   Farming and Land Management

The North Devon Coast AONB is a farmed landscape reflecting centuries of land management traditions and change. More recent changes 
have been heavily influenced by the European Common Agricultural Policy and its different strands of support to improve productivity, 

P
age 112



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 34

maintain a stable and affordable supply of food and good stewardship of the land (for wildlife, heritage and ecosystem services). Farming is 
not just about food production, it is also about the supply and management of natural resources and a viable rural economy and 
community.

Over 80% of the AONB is agricultural, three quarters of which is managed by owner occupiers. Significant landowners within the AONB 
include the National Trust, Stucley Estate (Hartland), Christie Estate (Braunton) and Clovelly Estate. With over 180 commercial holdings 
and an estimated 100 smallholdings, the majority are engaged in livestock farming including 10% in dairying with only a handful 
specialising in poultry, pigs, forestry or horticulture. However, slight changes in crops and livestock can be seen with a doubling of land 
under horticulture, a 30% increase in poultry, a slight decline in beef cattle but static dairy and sheep numbers over the last five years20. 
These ‘trends’ may not continue given the changing context for agricultural and environmental policy in 2018/19.

Several organisations give advice to farmers and landowners, usually linked to environmental stewardship schemes or specific landscape 
or biodiversity projects. This includes Natural England, the Environment Agency, the Forestry Commission and charities such as Devon 
Wildlife Trust and the National Trust amongst others often working in partnership. 

Forces for Change - Issues, Opportunities and Threats
 Changes to agricultural and environmental policies, with a stronger focus on public goods and environmental services
 Farmers are an ageing population, although there is a growing pool of younger people in farming with more technical knowledge 

and skills 
 Increases in “lifestyle” farming with high land values and consequent impacts on landscape, woodland and biodiversity
 Trends in farming vary across sectors with larger, intensive or extensive livestock farms and more land under poultry and 

horticulture in small units
 Managing and reducing potential pollutants from agricultural and rural economic activities
 Changes to soil structure through compaction due to farming practices causing surface water flooding problems, soil erosion and 

diffuse pollution
 Limited forestry grants and low level of woodland management in the smaller, fragmented and less accessible sites
 Local food products and outlets valued by visitors and residents
 Visitor expectations of landscape, access and land management e.g. reduction in grazing livestock, access for dogs 
 Increasing scale of agricultural buildings and development pressures/opportunities for older building stock
 New regulations requiring upgrades in farm infrastructure with potential impacts on the landscape and natural environment

Work to date
 Engagement with farmers to understand impacts of leaving the European Union

P
age 113



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 35

 Facilitation Fund in the Braunton area to support Greater Horseshoe Bats and environmental improvements coordinated by Devon 
Wildlife Trust

 Conservation grazing by cattle on Woolacombe dunes and Baggy Point using ‘invisible’ fencing

Farming and Land Management
Objective
To promote farming, food production and land management practices that conserve and enhance the special qualities of the AONB

Policies
F1 Support partners to deliver sustainable and exemplar land management, forestry and farming practices in keeping with the AONB 
designation
F2 Work with landowners and managers to maintain landscape features such as hedge-banks and woodlands
F3 Support approaches to enhance the Natural Capital within the AONB including carbon storage, clean water, clean air, timber, 
renewable energy and food, consistent with the designation

 Priority Actions
Support environmental land management trials and work of Defra Landscape Pioneer to support 25 Year Environment Plan
Develop a design guide for new farm buildings and conversions
Provide interpretation about farming and land management for visitors
Facilitate advice services for farmers/land managers to support nature conservation, pollution management and business viability

 Indicators
Percentage of Land in Agri-environment Schemes (NE)
Percentage of Woodland in Management (FC)

3.3 Sustainable Rural and Visitor Economy

The AONB is a living and working landscape requiring a balance between economic activity, societal expectations and environmental 
conservation. The economy of this coastal strip is more dependent on agriculture and tourism than other parts of the region, due to its 
natural beauty and the significant boost from water-sports linked activities on the coast and estuary. This economic activity closely reflects 
the landscape and seascape, the coastal climate and soil types as well as agricultural and economic policies.

P
age 114



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 36

Tourism is a vital part of the local economy with visitors drawn here by the stunning beaches, dramatic coastlines, the South West Coast 
Path and the tranquillity of the Hartland Peninsula. Surfing alone is worth more than £52m per annum to the North Devon economy and 
supports around 1500 jobs21. The North Devon Marketing Bureau has been revived as a private-sector led group to market the area and 
has worked in partnership with the local authorities to produce their ‘Northern Devon Tourism Strategy 2018 – 2022’ following visitor 
surveys in 2017. This acknowledges the very high quality and natural beauty of the landscape and its attraction for most day and staying 
visitors. An action plan is being developed to implement the strategy, to support and maintain a sustainable tourism sector in Northern 
Devon. This sustainability is related to both economic and environmental factors reflecting the need for a very fine balance between these 
two elements that are inter-dependent.

However, Northern Devon is a remote rural area with limited transport networks, a high proportion of micro businesses, few large 
employers and limited markets due to its distance from urban areas and its peripheral location in the UK. In consequence, the area has a 
high level of self-employment and some of the lowest wage levels in the country22. The AONB is even more dependent on tourism and 
agriculture than the sub region as a whole due to more limited other opportunities. The Heart of the South West Local Enterprise 
Partnership covering Devon and Somerset, developed its Strategic Economic Plan in 2014 and produced a Productivity Strategy in 2018 
with the aim of doubling the size of the economy over the next 20 years23. These economic ambitions need to accommodate the 
importance and value of protected landscapes, hence the work of the Devon Local Nature Partnership to produce a Natural Environment 
context to inform the strategy, and the role of the government’s work on valuing Natural Capital and ecosystem services through the 
Natural Capital Committee. 

The protection of the designated landscape requires a sustainable development approach to new and existing economic activities to avoid 
damage to its natural beauty. There is potential for growth within the environmental economy, including wood fuel, local food and drink 
products, sustainable construction, heritage businesses, energy efficiency and sustainable tourism. Sensitive location of communications 
infrastructure can facilitate remote working, reduce commuting and support high-tech businesses in remote rural areas to retain jobs and 
wealth within the AONB.

Forces for Change - Issues, Opportunities and Threats
 Diversity of tourism activities needs guidance and education to ensure protection of area, promote opportunities and avoid negative 

impacts
 Increased recreation and visitor numbers in some areas having negative impacts on heritage assets, wildlife and footpath 

maintenance
 Social media opportunities to better promote local food products, events and outlets and for visitors to share their experiences
 New investments from the Coastal Communities Fund programme, for the A361 Link Road and on the England Coast Path
 Trend towards: specialist and ‘experience’ holidays rather than traditional seaside stay; shorter, more frequent breaks and 

increasing the length of the season through specialist offers.
 Impact of minimum wage on rural and coastal businesses
 High level of repeat visitors offers seasonal and event opportunities

P
age 115



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 37

 Digital challenges in relation to local connectivity and availability of skills in businesses to benefit from new technology and 
communications

Work to Date
 Revised AONB website with improved event listings and beach clean calendar
 Encouraged awareness, understanding and action on marine litter across the AONB (including 2-minute beach clean boards and 

equipment on most public beaches)
 Delivered rockpool rambles and beach cleans for the public, with various partners, on most public beaches in the AONB through the 

Coastal Creatures project
 Group winner of South West Tourism Alliance Outstanding Contribution to Tourism award (2018) with other SW protected 

landscapes
 Northern Devon Tourism Strategy produced in 2018
 Rockham beach access re-opened in 2017 and new public toilets and showers provided at Baggy Point by NT

Sustainable Rural and Visitor Economy
Objective
To promote sustainable development within the AONB that is consistent with the designation

Policies
G1 Take account of the value of the natural environment in economic development decisions using the Natural Capital and Ecosystem 
services approach
G2 Support partners to develop sustainable tourism opportunities that promote the special qualities of the AONB, without damaging 
protected sites and species

 Priority Actions
Improve interpretation of and engagement with heritage by residents and visitors
Review of interpretation information and boards to update/replace as appropriate
Improve visitor facilities
Work with partners on Northern Devon tourism action plan
Work with Devon Local Nature Partnership, Biosphere Partnership and Defra Pioneer projects on valuing the environment

 Indicator
Number of Beaches in AONB meeting the ‘Higher’ Standard for Bathing Water Quality (local)

P
age 116



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 38

3.4Access, Health and Wellbeing

Whilst the primary purpose of the AONB is to conserve and enhance natural beauty, an important activity of many members of the AONB 
Partnership is to engage people and organisations with the landscape at every level. This is vitally important to ensure people understand 
why the area is designated and to ensure future generations look after its natural beauty. Engagement happens in many different ways 
including on a visual, physical and emotional level.
 
Physical access has been a high priority for much of the coast and countryside management activities through provision of public rights of 
way, open access land and opportunities for sport and recreation. The AONB has 334km of Public Rights of Way in the AONB, including 
the 128km South West Coast Path. This well-established National Trail is also within the new England Coast Path which provides 
considerable economic value to the AONB. The South West Coast Path is one of the most popular National Trails in England, and this can 
lead to direct and indirect impacts on the local environment arising from transport, visitor and tourism business pressures.

The 935 hectares of ‘Open Access’ land, as defined under the CRoW Act, covers just over 5% of the total area within the AONB24, much of 
it along the coast path and including the wide sandy beaches found along the coast from Westward Ho! through Saunton, Croyde and 
smaller beaches along to Combe Martin. North Devon is known for its water sports particularly surfing, however other water sports such as 
kayaking, coasteering, paddle boarding and wild swimming have become increasingly popular taking people closer to nature and reaching 
previously inaccessible or less visited sites. All of these have the potential to impact negatively on the AONB if not sensitively managed. 

Although there has been a range of works and projects over the years to improve access for people with varying physical abilities or 
mobility issues, the more recent trend is to take a broader health and wellbeing approach. This has increased attention on the potential of 
protected landscapes to contribute to the health and wellbeing of resident and visiting populations. Evidence of the value of being in or just 
looking at natural environments, particularly green and blue environments, for both physical and mental health is growing25. In response, 
AONB Partnership members have begun to broaden out and customise their activities to meet the needs of very different groups within the 
population. This can range from targeting activities towards children in local schools who have never been to the beach, to offering artistic 
activities linked to the natural environment to encourage older isolated people into the countryside, or organising non-competitive physical 
activities and celebrations, and using special interests to stimulate exploration and activities in the countryside (history, art, music, 
literature, film).

Forces for Change - Issues, Opportunities and Threats
 Public funding constraints affect communications, interpretation, visitor facilities and maintenance of green infrastructure
 Reduction in vegetation, water and erosion management on public rights of way and coast path
 Housing and business developments are affecting longstanding footpaths, changing their character and potential for users
 Reduction in public transport services and increased charges due to reduced subsidies, but community transport schemes available in 

some areas and increasing infrastructure for electric cars with charging points in the AONB

P
age 117



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 39

 Coast less affordable for visits due to rises in parking, accommodation and transport costs
 A surprising proportion of local children and young people have not visited the coast or a beach
 England Coast Path may create more open access land along the coast, improved paths and provide additional marketing
 Increasing recognition of the potential and cost savings from ‘naturally healthy activities’ for the physical and mental wellbeing of the 

whole population, reflected in recent policy and activity in the health and environment sectors 
 Health and wellbeing could be addressed by improving the accessibility of beaches, paths and countryside for all
 Obesity and levels of inactivity are major issues for both adults and children in Northern Devon

Work to Date
 SW Coast Path Association has improved the path at Woolacombe and Watermouth
 AONB updated walks leaflets, produced two heritage trails at Combe Martin and Ilfracombe, plus three wildlife walks
 Coastal Creatures project developed improved engagement with schools and community groups through beach activities
 Biosphere Reserve team produced a coastal code and a good practice guide for marine wildlife activities
 Tramper for public hire and new tramper route provided at Woolacombe by NT with Woolacombe TIC
 Research commissioned with communities on ‘naturally healthy activities’ in the AONB producing a report and action plan
 AONB Health and Wellbeing working group set up and nominated a representative of this theme on to the AONB Partnership
 Devon Local Nature Partnership’s ‘Naturally Healthy May’ with walks and promotion supported in North Devon
 Small grants supported community health and wellbeing projects at Welcombe and Westward Ho!, new interpretation materials for 

Braunton Burrows and four beaches, and setting up a 5km community parkrun at Woolacombe dunes

Access, Health and Wellbeing
Objective
To ensure sustainable access to the AONB for the benefit of the health and wellbeing of local people and visitors, consistent with the 
designation

Policies
H1 Work with partners and landowners to develop improved access to and interpretation of the natural environment
H2 Support new opportunities and reduce barriers to improve the health and wellbeing of local people and visitors

 Priority Actions
Deliver the North Devon Coastal Heritage project providing volunteering and activity opportunities

P
age 118



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 40

Address health and wellbeing issues working with Devon LNP, Biosphere Reserve, local health organisations and charities
Improve information on access and activities on AONB and partner websites
Develop new access and engagement activities using the arts and special interests to reach new audiences

 Indicators
Percentage of Area accessible to the public (local)
Number of Health and Wellbeing initiatives in the AONB (local)

P
age 119



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 41

4. COMMUNICATIONS AND MANAGEMENT

4.1Community Action, Learning and Understanding

The resident community of North Devon and Torridge is very diverse ranging from very affluent areas to some of the most deprived rural 
communities in Devon. This diversity is also visible in the visitor population reflecting historical tourism flows, a wide range of visitor 
accommodation types and changing activity trends among visitors and service providers. North Devon’s coast provides both high end and 
budget opportunities for those wishing to enjoy the AONB. This presents a challenge to the AONB Partnership to provide appropriate 
messages and use a range of communication methods to reach as wide an audience as possible.

Partnership working and community engagement projects (such as Coastal Creatures, Clean Marine, Devon Greater Horseshoe Bat 
project26 and North Devon Coastal Heritage) are used to provide a flexible range of opportunities for community action and understanding. 
In addition, the AONB’s Sustainable Development Fund (SDF) has provided small grants to support different approaches to community 
engagement using art, music, theatre, creative industries and science targeted at children, adults and communities who may be excluded 
from the AONB.

Community action in support of the AONB is directly demonstrated in the ten ‘community representative’ places on the AONB Partnership, 
the public survey and consultation activities held by members and the opportunities presented by the Sustainable Development Fund small 
grants. Action, enjoyment and understanding of the AONB encompasses every element of its natural beauty as well as the opportunities 
linked to sport, recreation, learning, volunteering and employment.

Forces for Change - Issues, Opportunities and Threats
 Changing local population characteristics – ageing and fewer young adults; larger retired community including range of incomes, 

education, fitness and volunteering commitment
 Changes in media and communications methods and formats, but traditional boards and leaflets still required
 School and College engagement needs to be based on curriculum requirements due to time and funding constraints
 Confusion among the public and organisations about the multiple agencies and groups operating in the natural environment
 Challenge of ‘AONB’ brand as long-winded and difficult to communicate to the public, ‘North Devon Coast’ name is more 

comprehensible and potential brand for local communities and businesses
 Improvements to connectivity for internet and telecommunications opening up new digital communication opportunities 
 Challenge of optimising community volunteer potential due to lack of management capacity in local organisations
 Media generated campaigns and content stimulating interest and action from the public (e.g. BBC’s ‘Blue Planet’ programmes, reducing 

single-use plastic, marine litter/beach cleaning, iconic species)

P
age 120



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 42

 Challenge of communicating responsibility and respect for environment alongside positive action, access and enjoyment
 Limited funding and capacity to maintain and renew existing community facilities such as halls, parks, sports and play areas

Work to Date
 Updated website for the AONB, reinstated bi-annual public Forum
 Coastal Creatures community engagement project provided education, training, volunteer capacity and work placements
 Beach cleans supported through delivery, SDF grants, equipment and raising awareness of marine litter through Clean Marine and 

Coastal Creatures projects
 Community, visitor and business engagement through Plastic Free North Devon Community Group and wider agency Consortium to 

support behaviour change and understanding of impact of plastics on people, wildlife, the environment and the sea
 New interpretation materials including walks leaflets and downloads, Spotter Guide and three Wildlife trails
 Devon Greater Horseshoe Bat Project activities engaging communities and schools around Braunton and Combe Martin
 Attended community, public and partner events with AONB stand to promote understanding
 Provided SDF small grants every year totalling £25,000 to support community projects

Community Action, Learning and Understanding
Objective
To support more people to learn about, understand and take action to conserve the AONB

Policies
J1 Raise awareness and understanding of the AONB, its special qualities, natural and cultural heritage
J2 Develop opportunities for people to volunteer and gain appropriate skills and knowledge to deliver AONB policies
J3 Support the provision of community facilities and services to improve the quality of life and sustainability of rural and coastal 
communities
J4 Support communities and businesses to reduce carbon emissions from the designated AONB so long as they are complementary to 
the special qualities of the AONB

 Priority Actions
Provide Beach Clean calendar on AONB website and ongoing support for community beach cleans
Promote the AONB and the work of the Partnership and its member organisations
Provide information, interpretation and educational materials on the AONB for a wide range of interests

P
age 121



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 43

Develop an education strategy for the AONB
Work with Plastic Free North Devon on community and business engagement, understanding and behaviour change
Publicise and celebrate the 70th Anniversary of the 1949 Act and the 60th Anniversary of the North Devon AONB designation
Utilise national campaigns to engage new audiences (e.g. 2019 Year of Green Action, 2021 Year of the Coast)

 Indicators
Number of People Participating in AONB activities (AONB/NAAONB KPI)
Value of Work and Projects secured by the AONB team (local)

4.2Management and Monitoring

4.2.1 Managing the North Devon AONB
The governance arrangements for the Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty were established under the guidance of the former Countryside 
Agency and subsequently Natural England27. Since 2011, Defra has provided direct funding to the host authority to support delivery of the 
Management Plan and running of the Partnership and staff team. This funding covers 75% of the running costs, the remaining 25% coming 
from the local authorities within the AONB. Governance arrangements are specified in a Memorandum of Agreement between the three 
Local Authorities.

The North Devon Coast AONB Partnership is a voluntary, non-executive body which meets three times a year to develop policy, 
champion the AONB, provide advice and guide work within the area. The Partnership has sub-groups overseeing key areas of work such 
as planning, SDF grant allocations and communications. The AONB Partnership is comprised of representatives from:

• Coastwise North Devon
• Country, Land and Business Association
• Devon branch of the Campaign to Protect 
Rural England
• Devon Wildlife Trust
• Environment Agency
• Exmoor National Park Authority
• Forestry Commission
• Historic England

• North Devon Archaeological Society
• North Devon Marketing Bureau
• North Devon UNESCO World Biosphere Partnership
• North Devon+
• Tarka Country Trust
• Taw Torridge Estuary Forum
• Devon County Council
• North Devon Council
• Torridge District Council

P
age 122



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 44

• National Farmers Union
• National Trust
• Natural England

• 2 Parish Council representatives
• Up to 10 Community representatives

MONTAGE OF LOGOS

The Executive Group comprising the Chair, Vice Chair, AONB Manager, representatives of the funding partners and Natural England 
meets four times a year to oversee day-to-day management issues and monitor delivery of the business plan. Devon County Council is the 
host authority employing the team and providing office services in Barnstaple.

The AONB Team is core funded by Defra and the three local authorities providing a Manager, Projects Officer and part time 
Communications and Support Officer (2.6 FTE roles). The Team provides: administrative support and reporting to the governance 
structures; planning and development advice to the local planning authorities; promotion and awareness raising of the AONB designation 
and offer; administration of the Sustainable Development Fund small grant scheme; project development and external funding bids;  
partnership working and engagement at the local, regional and national level including participation in the National Association of AONBs, 
the South West Protected Landscapes Forum, the Devon Landscape Policy Group and the Devon AONBs group. 

Delivery of the AONB Management Plan
The Management Plan has formerly included a five-year Delivery Plan specifying indicative actions and proposed partners to achieve the 
policy objectives. Due to the very changeable context in 2018 in relation to environmental and agricultural policies during the preparation of 
this Plan, a different approach has been adopted. This Plan includes priority actions for the plan period, with a more detailed delivery plan 
being produced within each AONB annual business plan. This will include short and longer-term actions indicating a lead partner where 
known.

The National Association of AONBs
The North Devon Coast AONB is a member of the National Association of AONBS (NAAONB), which is a registered charity28. Its purpose is 
to support and develop a network of ambitious AONB partnerships with a strong collective voice. Four objectives have been agreed that are 
common to all 46 AONBs across the UK. The NAAONB provides learning, support and collaboration across the ‘AONB Family’ through an 
online intranet, joint marketing activities, national meetings and an annual conference. The coordinated ‘Outstanding Week’ in September 
every year raises the profile of AONBs through experiential activities and joint marketing.

4.2.2 Monitoring the North Devon Coast AONB
Monitoring of the North Devon Coast AONB is led by the AONB team with input from Partnership members and other statutory agencies. 
This is dependent on the availability of datasets provided by third parties and funding to commission specific data collection where this is 

P
age 123



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 45

not routinely available. Performance and Progress indicators are shown in the Table below but may be refined to reflect changing issues, 
activity or data availability. Some indicators have been provided from national datasets by Natural England (NE), the Environment Agency 
(EA) and the Forestry Commission (FC) as shown below. Some indicators are reported collectively with other AONBs through the National 
Association to Defra as Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s), others are reported locally as indicated in the table. Monitoring information will 
be communicated in three different ways: -

 ‘State of the AONB’ report produced every five years to inform the five-yearly review of the Management Plan
 Monitoring section included in annual Business Plans
 Public reporting through a bi-annual public forum or review document, plus regular E-news and social media

Table of Performance and Progress Indicators
Landscape and Seascape Environmental Quality and Climate Change Sustainable Rural and Visitor Economy

 Light Pollution levels (local)
 Area of Landscape enhanced 

(AONB/NAAONB KPI)

 Status of Water Bodies - river and coastal 
(EA)

 Area of land enhanced (beach cleans - 
local)

 Number of beaches meeting the ‘Higher’ 
Standard for Bathing Water Quality (EA)

Biodiversity and Geodiversity Planning, Development and Infrastructure Access, Health and Wellbeing
 Percentage of SSSI in favourable condition 

(NE)
 Area of Habitat/Land enhanced 

(AONB/NAAONB KPI)

 Number of planning applications 
commented on (local)

 Percentage of decisions on planning 
applications commented on, that match the 
AONB Partnership recommendation (local)

 Percentage of Area accessible to the public 
(NE)

 Number of Health and Wellbeing Initiatives 
in the AONB (local)

Historic Environment and Culture Farming and Land Management Community Action, Learning and 
Understanding

 Number of Scheduled Ancient Monuments 
at Risk (NAAONB/HE KPI)

 Heritage Assets enhanced with AONB 
Support (local)

 Percentage of Land in Agri-environment 
Schemes (NE)

 Percentage of Woodland in Management 
(FC)

 Number of people participating in AONB 
activities (AONB/NAAONB KPI)

 Value of work and projects secured by the 
AONB team (local)

The Annual Business Plan and Delivery Plan produced early in each calendar year provides an implementation, monitoring and 
reporting function. Firstly, it will include an annual delivery programme for the Management Plan, secondly it will provide monitoring of 
some performance and progress indicators as they become available and thirdly it will provide a report to the public and partners. Annual 
Business Plans are available on the AONB website.

P
age 124



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 46

5. APPENDICES

5.1 Glossary

Affordable housing – housing provided for those whose incomes do not allow them to compete in the open market for house purchase.
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) is an area of high scenic quality which has statutory protection in order to conserve and 
enhance the natural beauty of its landscape.
Biodiversity – the variety and variability of life on Earth measured at the genetic, species or ecosystem level. Includes wildlife and flora.
Biodiversity 2020 – the biodiversity strategy for England.
Conservation Area – an area of special architectural or historic interest, the character of which it is desirable to conserve.
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 – the CRoW Act provides for public access on foot to certain types of land, amends the law 
relating to public rights of way, increases measures for the management and protection for Sites of Special Scientific Interest, strengthens 
wildlife enforcement legislation and provides for better management of Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty.
County Wildlife Site (CWS) – sites of significant wildlife value from a county perspective.
Culm Grassland – damp unimproved grasslands that are found overlying the Culm Measures of N Devon and NE Cornwall.
Ecosystem services – these are the benefits that humans freely gain from the natural environment (see Natural Capital).
Environmental stewardship – a scheme that provides funding to farmers and other land managers in England to deliver effective 
environmental management.
European Landscape Convention (ELC) – this is the first international convention to focus specifically on landscape, created by the 
Council of Europe. The convention promotes landscape protection, management and planning, and European co-operation on landscape 
issues.
Heritage Coast – stretches of undeveloped coast, defined by local authorities, for their outstanding scenic value where resolution of 
conflicts is needed between recreation, conservation, access and agriculture.
Landscape – comprises the visible features of an area of land including: the physical elements of landforms such as mountains, hills, water 
bodies such as rivers, lakes, ponds and the sea; living elements of land cover including indigenous vegetation; human elements including 
different forms of land use, buildings and structures; and transitory elements such as lighting and weather conditions.
Landscape character assessment (LCA) – the tool that is used to help us to understand, and articulate, the character of the landscape. It 
helps us identify the features that give a locality its ‘sense of place’ and pinpoints what makes it different from neighbouring areas.
Landscape character type (LCT) – distinct types of landscape which are generic in character in that they may occur in different parts of 
the country, but wherever they are they share broadly similar combinations of geology, topography, drainage patterns, vegetation and 
historical land use and settlement pattern.

P
age 125



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 47

Landscape description units (LDU) - these are relatively homogenous units of land, each defined using a series of definitive attributes 
including landform, structural geology, rock type, soils, land use, tree cover, settlement and farm type.
Landscape resilience – creating healthy and adaptable landscapes for species and people by establishing large core areas and networks 
that provide both refuges and stepping stones, to support adaptation to climate change, to deliver wider ecosystem benefits and to provide 
opportunities for public enjoyment and engagement.
Listed building – a building of notable architectural or historic interest listed by the Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport 
under the Planning Act 1990. Buildings must be at least 30 years old.
Local nature reserve – land owned or controlled by local authorities protected for their nature conservation value.
National Character Areas (NCAs) - divide England into 159 distinct natural areas, defined by a unique combination of landscape, 
biodiversity, geo-diversity and cultural and economic activity. Their boundaries follow natural lines in the landscape rather than 
administrative boundaries, making them a good decision-making framework for the natural environment.
Natural Capital – the parts of the natural environment that produce value to people. The natural capital assets such as water, soil, food 
and timber, deliver ecosystem services such as natural beauty, cultural heritage, energy and wildlife which then benefit people.
Natural Flood Management – the use of natural processes to reduce the risk of flooding and coastal erosion, for example using 
environmentally sensitive approaches rather than hard flood defences such as planting woodland or creating hedge banks to slow water 
flow, retaining water in the uplands through restoring moorland, changing land management practices to manage water flows.
Net Gain for Biodiversity – is development that leaves biodiversity in a better state than before. Previous policies required mitigation of 
development impacts (e.g. road or house-building) so there was no net loss of biodiversity, but this new policy approach seeks a net gain 
on the site or on an alternative site to address the significant species loss recorded in the UK.
Public Rights of Way – public footpaths, bridleways and cycleways along which the public has the right to travel.
Regionally Important Geological Site (RIGS) – locally important geological and geomorphological sites of value.
Scheduled Monument – a process to provide state protection of a selection of nationally important archaeological sites and monuments.
Seascape - this planning and land use term covers the complex interrelationship between the landforms, coast and sea within a landscape.
Shoreline Management Plan – a document that sets out strategic guidance over the approach to coastal management, providing 
guidance to local authorities, EA, landowners and communities.
Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) – areas designated by Natural England as being of special interest by reason of their flora, 
fauna or geology.
Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) – areas designated under the EU Habitats Directive.
Special Qualities of the AONB – those aspects for which it is considered important, and on which priorities for management are based.
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) – is a process to ensure that significant environmental effects arising from policies, plans 
and programmes are identified, assessed and mitigated for.
Sustainable Development Fund (SDF) - small grant scheme administered by the AONB to help deliver Management Plan policies.

P
age 126



North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 48

5.2 References

1. National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949
2. Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 (CRoW Act)
3. North Devon Coast AONB - State of the AONB Report 2014-2018 https://www.northdevon-aonb.org.uk/resources 
4. Joint Landscape Character Assessment for North Devon and Torridge, North Devon & Torridge District Councils, 2010
5. An assessment of the landscape sensitivity to Onshore Wind Energy and Field-Scale Photovoltaic Development in Torridge District 

Council, Land Use Consultants, 2011
6. North Devon AONB Landscape Character Assessment (2010), https://www.northdevon-aonb.org.uk/our-landscape/landscape-and-

seascape 
7. North Devon and Exmoor Seascape Character Assessment, Land Use Consultants, 2015
8. South West Marine Plan  

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/750228/South_West_-
_Seascape_character_assessment_report.pdf

9. The Nature of Devon. A Biodiversity and Geodiversity Action Plan, Devon County Council, 1998
10. Devon Special Species 2016 https://www.naturaldevon.org.uk/devons-natural-environment/devons-wildlife/devonspecialspecies/ 
11. National Biodiversity Network https://nbn.org.uk/ 
12. Making Space for Nature: a review of England’s wildlife sites and ecological network, Lawton et al., Defra, 2010
13. Devon Local Nature Partnership https://www.naturaldevon.org.uk/ 
14. State of Nature 2016 Report https://www.rspb.org.uk/our-work/conservation/projects/state-of-nature-reporting 
15. North Devon Coast AONB Local Geodiversity Action Plan, 2017 https://www.northdevon-aonb.org.uk/our-landscape/geology 
16. National Mapping Programme https://new.devon.gov.uk/historicenvironment/the-devon-historic-environment-record/nd_aonb_nmp/ 
17. Night Blight – Mapping England’s Light Pollution and Dark Skies, CPRE 2016 https://www.nightblight.cpre.org.uk/ 
18. Plastic Free North Devon – community group @plasticfreenorthdevon and Consortium of local authorities and agencies, 2018
19. North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 (adopted 29/10/18) http://consult.torridge.gov.uk/portal/planning/localplan/adoption/ 
20. Farming Statistics, data to March 2018 supplied to each AONB Partnership by Defra, 2018
21. The Economic Value of Surfing in Northern Devon, TRISURF, Surfing Great Britain, 2008
22. Economic Profiles of North Devon and Torridge, 2013 https://www.devonomics.info/briefings/economic-overview/ 
23. Stepping up to the Challenge - Productivity Strategy 2018, Heart of the South West Local Enterprise Partnership
24. Data supplied to the AONB Partnership by Natural England, 2018
25. Defra Evidence Statement 2017 https://beyondgreenspace.files.wordpress.com/2017/03/evidence-statement-on-the-links-between-

natural-environments-and-human-health1.pdf 

P
age 127

https://www.northdevon-aonb.org.uk/resources
https://www.northdevon-aonb.org.uk/our-landscape/landscape-and-seascape
https://www.northdevon-aonb.org.uk/our-landscape/landscape-and-seascape
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/750228/South_West_-_Seascape_character_assessment_report.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/750228/South_West_-_Seascape_character_assessment_report.pdf
https://www.naturaldevon.org.uk/devons-natural-environment/devons-wildlife/devonspecialspecies/
https://nbn.org.uk/
https://www.naturaldevon.org.uk/
https://www.rspb.org.uk/our-work/conservation/projects/state-of-nature-reporting
https://www.northdevon-aonb.org.uk/our-landscape/geology
https://new.devon.gov.uk/historicenvironment/the-devon-historic-environment-record/nd_aonb_nmp/
https://www.nightblight.cpre.org.uk/
http://consult.torridge.gov.uk/portal/planning/localplan/adoption/
https://www.devonomics.info/briefings/economic-overview/
https://beyondgreenspace.files.wordpress.com/2017/03/evidence-statement-on-the-links-between-natural-environments-and-human-health1.pdf
https://beyondgreenspace.files.wordpress.com/2017/03/evidence-statement-on-the-links-between-natural-environments-and-human-health1.pdf


North Devon Coast AONB $qqy22cre.docx 49

26. Devon Greater Horseshoe Bat Project 2016–2020, hosted by Devon Wildlife Trust http://devonbatproject.org/ 
27. Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty - A guide for the review of AONB Management Plans, Countryside Agency, 2006
28. National Association of AONBs http://www.landscapesforlife.org.uk/ 

Produced by the North Devon Coast AONB, Taw View, North Walk, Barnstaple, Devon EX31 1EE
Website: www.northdevon-aonb.org.uk Email: aonb@devon.gov.uk Tel: 01271 388628

Image Credits
Logos – AONB, NE, DCC, TDC, NDC, NAAONB

P
age 128

http://devonbatproject.org/
http://www.landscapesforlife.org.uk/
http://www.northdevon-aonb.org.uk/
mailto:aonb@devon.gov.uk


REPORT OF Planning and Economy Manager
To: Community and Resources Committee
Subject: Devon County Council Grant Funding for Community Groups and Local 

Projects.
Date: 23rd April 2019 Reference:

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 
To inform Members of changes to the way that Devon County Council will provide grants to it’s 
communities and make recommendation for the use of the 18/19 Communities Together Fund and 
Councillor Community Grant underspend.

1. INTRODUCTION

Devon County Council (DCC) has reviewed its grants programme, and has decided that 
introducing new schemes will mean that a broader range of community groups and local 
projects will be able to get access to financial help.  Application to the Communities Together 
Fund (formerly TAP Fund) had to be through town and parish councils, and it was felt that 
perhaps other groups would be more likely to apply under a different system.

2. REPORT

DCC has announced that the Communities Together Fund has been abolished and in its 
place two new schemes will be launched:

The Doing What Matters Fund, worth £329,000, will give grants of up to £20,000 for projects 
which have significant impact on the wellbeing of local people and communities.  Bids will be 
encouraged from local groups, councils, organisations and collaborations.  Match funding of 
at least 25% of costs will be required.

The Making the Connection Fund, worth £30,000, will give up to £300 per bid to establish or 
support community groups which help people connect with others.  Examples could include 
a walking group, a cooking skills workshop across generations, and room hire for self-help or 
social groups.  The application process will be simple.

DCC has been trialling a project with Crowdfund Devon and will inject an additional 
£100,000 to this.  Torridge has taken part in this trial and some Councillor Grant money has 
been contributed through this scheme.

There is an underspend of Communities Together Funding totalling £4,767.60 from year 
18/19 held by Torridge that DCC have confirmed they will not seek to claw back.

In addition (but not in any way related to DCC funding) there is an underspend of Councillor 
Grant funding totalling £6,463.38 from year 18/19 and the Council must decide how those 
funds are used.

Page 129

Agenda Item 12



3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications
 
None

Financial Implications

As set out in the recommendations

Human Resources Implications

None

Sustainability Implications

Grants funding for communities is intended to enhance sustainability.

Equality/Diversity

Equality and diversity have ben at the heart of the strategy in formulation.

Risk Management

N/A

Compliance with Policies and Strategies

The recommended use of underspend funds is in accordance with how the Council currently 
seeks to provide grant support for community and voluntary sector organisations.

Ward Member and Leader Member Views

None – PURDAH regulations apply

4.       CONCLUSIONS

The County Council will not seek to claw back the Communities Together underspend from 
18/19 and it is for this Council to decide how that money is used for the benefit of it’s 
communities. In addition the council must decide what it intends to do with the 18/19 
Councillor Community Grant underspend.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

1. That members note the changes to DCC grant funding and the establishment of their 
Doing What Matters and Making the Connection Funds.

2. That the Communities Together and Councillor Community Grant underspend from 
year 18/19 totalling £11,230.98 is rolled forward into the 19/20 Community Grants 
Fund.

Page 130



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Consultations: Head Of Paid Service
Strategic Manager Resources
Senior Solicitor and Monitoring Officer
Finance Manager

Contact 
Officer:

Sean Kearney

Background 
Papers:

Page 131



1

REPORT OF: Planning and Economy Manager    Reference:

To: Community and Resources Committee

Subject: Torridge District Council Play Strategy

Date:   23rd April 2019

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 
To make recommendation to committee following consideration  by Internal Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee of the committee’s earlier decision not to make a budget available for 
the provision of a Play Strategy for Torridge. 

1. INTRODUCTION

At Community and Resources Committee on the 14th January 2019 Members refused a 
recommendation that a budget of £15,000 - £20,000 be made available from the Council’s 
Project Reserves to commission consultants to prepare a Torridge Play Space Strategy.

The Chair of Internal Overview and Scrutiny subsequently requested that further 
information be provided to Members with regard to the benefit to be gained and necessity 
for the proposed strategy, which this report includes for the benefit of Members..

The matter was subsequently discussed at Internal Overview and Scrutiny committee on 
the 12th March 2019.

2. REPORT

It seems appropriate that investment in infrastructure, irrespective of the form is guided at a 
strategic level, to ensure a clear vision and objectives are established to guide delivery over 
an extended timescale.

With regard to play space a long term strategic approach is necessary to enable the 
Council to more effectively manage, maintain and improve  the play spaces with its 
ownership and to ensure that play space delivered as a result of development is optimised 
to meet the expanding and changing needs of our communities.

The Council, through its Strategic Plan (2016-2020), has given a commitment to secure 
safe and heathy communities. A stated action within the Strategic Plan is to: facilitate 
opportunities for healthier lifestyles for all our constituents by enabling access to good 
recreational and cultural facilities. It is considered that an up to date play space strategy, 
together with the other recreation based strategies already in place (Torridge Built Facilities 
Strategy and the North Devon and Torridge Play Pitch Strategy) will enhance the delivery 
prospects of the identified action. 

In considering the need to commission consultants to prepare a new play pitch strategy, it 
was suggested at Community and Resources Committee in January that the 2007-2012 
Torridge Play Strategy could be easily reviewed and refreshed. Your officers are of the view 

Page 132

Agenda Item 13



2

that the 2007-2012 strategy is outdated to an extent that it could not be updated and that a 
new strategy is required, which will allow the Council to articulate its vision and objectives 
for play provision. This is a view supported by Internal Overview and Scrutiny committee.  A 
strategy would be expected to:

 provide a strategic framework to guide future planning and funding allocations for 
play space, including opportunities to secure grant funding;

 provide, for play space within the Council’s ownership,  an action plan that sets 
priorities within an achievable and appropriate implementation programme;

 provide best practice guidelines that promote inclusion, improve design quality and 
refine management systems; 

 ensure that the design and upgrade of play spaces is achievable and sustainable 
within the Council’s resources; and 

 ensure the appropriate delivery, quality and future management of play space that is 
secured through the planning system to meet the needs generated by new 
development.

Play Space Assets

The Council owns 34 play spaces, which vary in size, nature, quality and likely longevity. 
The Council’s Property Team currently monitors and maintains its play facility assets to 
ensure they can be safely used. Members will be aware of the challenges that the Council 
faces financially to ensure that play space provision is maintained to meet community 
needs and the consequences of not doing so; if for example, play equipment is removed 
but not replaced.

It is proposed that through a play space strategy, a clear and concise direction relating to 
the Council’s current and future provision of play space would be provided. Through the 
strategy, the Council would have a better understanding of the capacity and outstanding 
lifespan of its play space assets and the gaps in play space provision as well as any 
potential overlaps. 

From an informed position, priorities in terms of capital expenditure, and how developer 
contributions towards play provision should be spent, can be established. With the benefit 
of identified priorities the Council will be better able to manage its assets and draw upon 
other funding opportunities to maintain and improve play provision.

To achieve the sought outcomes from a play space strategy, it is considered necessary to 
appoint consultants. While the Council do hold valuable information relating to its play 
space assets, which could be provided to appointed consultants, further expertise, together 
with an independent perspective, is required to bring forward the strategy; likewise an 
independent consultant will be able to assess play in the area from a holistic perspective 
not merely on its infrastructure and assets.

New Play Space Provision

It is considered necessary from a planning perspective to have a strategic document 
relating to play space provision that can be used in conjunction with the recently adopted 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031. Through the Local Plan infrastructure 
needs generated by development are secured through the planning process. In respect of 
play space, such needs will generally be required to be on-site, but developer contribution 

Page 133



3

may be sought with the consideration of such matters as the level of generated need and 
the accessibly and quality of nearby provision.

The Local Plan established the basis for securing infrastructure generated by development 
and the standards that will be applied to Green Infrastructure, which includes play space. 
The addition of a play space strategy would assist with the implementation of the Local Plan 
by ensuring new play space provision is most appropriately located to meet the needs of 
the generating development and where developer contributions are secured, the resultant 
investment relates to established objectives and local priorities. 

A play space strategy will support the decision making process on development proposals 
from which play space provision or contribution can be sought. Through the identification of 
play space priorities and geographically specific action plans the Council will be better able 
to meet the increasing and changing needs of its community. Having regard to a strategy, 
would add transparency to the decision making process and provide our communities with 
a better understanding of the Council play space priorities. Without such a strategy 
optimum advantage may not be secured in the delivery, maintenance and upgrading of play 
space that can be secured as a result of new development.  

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications
None identified.

Financial Implications
Funding is required to appoint consultants to undertake a play space strategy; it is 
considered with regard to both expertise and available capacity that this project could not 
be undertaken internally. With regard to similar strategic studies relating to recreation 
(Torridge Built Facilities Strategy and the North Devon and Torridge Play Pitch Strategy) it 
is anticipated that to commission consultants to prepare a play space strategy would 
require a budget in the region of £15,000-£20,000. Of course through the Council’s 
procurement process, best value will be sought to achieve identified outputs. 

The Council has recently (since the last debate on the topic) received the sum of £10,646 
form MHCLG for the furtherance of play initiatives.  This amount is provisionally ring fenced 
for use in the production of a district wide Play strategy.

Human Resources Implications
Officer time would be required to: define the parameters of the project, in discussion with 
Members, through the preparation of a project brief; to manage the procurement process; to 
liaise with the appointed consultants during the preparation of the strategy to ensure its 
timely delivery and that it is prepared to a satisfactory standard. 

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
The sustainability of a community is supported by access to a network of high quality open 
spaces and opportunities for sport and physical activity is important for the health and 
wellbeing of communities. 

Page 134



4

There are no direct biodiversity issues arising from the proposed strategy, but such will be 
taken into account in the delivery of play space; North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 
Policy DM08: Biodiversity and Geodiversity will be applied where relevant.

Equality/Diversity
An up to date play space strategy would guide the Council in delivering play space 
requirements that reflect the needs of its communities both now and in the future; ensuring 
improvements in accessibility of play provision across all age groups.

Risk Management
Engaging external consultants will provide expertise to establish a framework to guide 
future planning and funding allocations for play space, including opportunities to secure 
grant funding. The absence of a strategic approach may impact on the overall gains that 
could be achieved through funding opportunities and by defining priorities within an 
achievable implementation programme.   

Compliance with Policies and Strategies
A play space strategy would sit alongside the Council’s other evidenced based strategic 
documents relating to sport and recreation (Torridge Built Facilities Strategy and the North 
Devon and Torridge Play Pitch Strategy) to ensure the existing and future needs of our 
communities are best served through the maintenance and delivery of sport and recreation 
facilities. 

Officers are in the process of preparing a Green Infrastructure Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD), which adds detail to policy contained in the North Devon and Torridge 
Local Plan, which will aid its implementation. The SPD will add detail to the delivery 
requirements both in terms of on-site provision and off site contributions to secure the 
delivery of play space resulting from needs generating from both residential and 
commercial development. A play space strategy would provide a framework to guide project 
delivery, having regard to locally determined priorities, where on site delivery has not been 
achieved.

Lead Members Views 
None – PURDAH Regulations apply

4. CONCLUSIONS

Internal Overview and Scrutiny Committee were keen tom stress that the Torridge Play 
Strategy 2007-2012, is considered to be out of date and ineffective both in respect of 
supporting the Council’s programme of play space maintenance and improvement and as a 
means of maximising the benefit to be derived from development that will generate a need 
for new play space provision. 

In the interest of clearly establishing the Council’s approach to play space in respect of its 
own assets, and maximising the benefit to be derived from future provision, the committee 
consider necessary to prepare a new play space strategy for Torridge. It was further 
considered appropriate that consultants are appointed to undertake the project having 
regard to resource limitations within the Council, both in respect of expertise and capacity.  

Page 135



5

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

That Members consider the recommendation for Internal Overview and Scrutiny:

1. That the recommendation of the Council’s Community and Resources Committee 
(14th January 2019) be rejected and that an amount of up to £20,000 be provided 
from the Council’s Project Reserves to enable the commission of consultants to 
prepare a play space strategy for Torridge because that will provide benefits for 
Torridge that might eventually make more savings than the “up to £20,000”.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Play strategy 2007 - 2012

Consultations: Date of Consultation –  29.01.2019

Officers Consulted  
Jenny Wallace (Head of Paid Service)
Steve Hearse (Strategic Manager Resources)
Sean Kearney (Planning and Economy Manager) 
Dawn Burgess (Senior Planning Policy Officer)
Steve Hearse (Joint Head of Finance)
Staci Dorey (Senior Solicitor and Monitoring 
Officer)

                                                           
Members consulted – Cllr J. Whittaker
                                   
                                 
                                                                      

Contact Officer: Sean Kearney 

Page 136



1

REPORT OF: Strategic Manager - Resources    Reference:

To: Community and Resources Committee

Subject: Fees & Charges – Lease Agreements (Recommendations from Internal 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee

Date:   23rd April 2019

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 
To report recommendations made by Internal Overview & Scrutiny Committee at their 
meeting of 12 March 2019 following the Quarterly Business Review (QBR) Quarter 3. 

1. INTRODUCTION

TDC performance management arrangements are such that Internal Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee review on a quarterly basis how the council is delivering its budget and service 
level performance.  The Committee may make recommendations for Community and 
Resources Committee to consider.

This matter was discussed at Internal Overview and Scrutiny committee on the 12th March 
2019.

2. REPORT

Internal Overview & Scrutiny have during the course of the last couple of years developed 
with officers appropriate areas for introducing and or developing income generating 
opportunities against a backdrop of constant reductions in Government grant funding.

TDC has in place an Income Generation Strategy that provides the framework for 
developing these opportunities, which includes the review of our services to establish 
whether fees and charges are appropriately charged for various functions and activities.

Within quarter 3 of 2018-19 the Senior Solicitor identified an area of work, which can 
consume significant amount of officer time in relation to the legal processes around leases 
that the Council has in place for various matters (land, buildings, etc.).  

It is an area of work that is not subject to charging based on legislation in the same way that 
Planning or Building Control fees are and therefore is at TDC’s discretion.  That said we 
must also take account of the amount of time and resources required to draft, negotiate, 
assign, reassign and cancel lease arrangements and not simply use it as an opportunity to 
simply generate income arbitrarily. 

On this basis the Senior Solicitor and Finance Team have reviewed the levels of work and 
costs for the main areas of work and developed a fee structure, which was reported to 
Internal Overview & Scrutiny on 12 March 2019 (attached as Appendix 1).

Page 137

Agenda Item 14



2

Under TDC’s Constitution the s151 is able to implement charges / change fees and charges 
in a number of circumstances such as where there is an identified loss on income.  
However, there is a provision that these are then retrospectively reported formally approved  
into TDCs Fees and Charges.

This was considered by Internal Overview and Scrutiny on 12 March 2019 and the 
Committee recommend that Community and Resources approve the new fees.    

3. IMPLICATIONS

Legal Implications
None identified.

Financial Implications
Income is generated in an area where a service is currently provided at no cost.

Human Resources Implications
None identified. 

Sustainability/Biodiversity Implications
Non Identified

Equality/Diversity
None identified

Risk Management
None identified

Compliance with Policies and Strategies
A play 

Lead Members Views 

4. CONCLUSIONS

Internal Overview and Scrutiny Committee were keen to support the charging of these fees 
as is an area of work that can consume staff resources and time, which in private practice 
legal fees would be charged.

5. RECOMMENDATIONS

That Members consider the recommendation for Internal Overview and Scrutiny:

1. That the new fees for lease  arrangements are approved.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Page 138



3

Consultations: Date of Consultation –  09 April 2019

Officers Consulted  
Jenny Wallace (Head of Paid Service)
Staci Dorey (Senior Solicitor and Monitoring 
Officer)

Contact Officer: Steve Hearse 

APPENDIX 1 – Extract from QBR3

The legal and property teams undertake substantial work drafting and amending lease 
agreements for tenants. Currently no charges are made for this service. The Council’s 
Constitution (5.3.2) allows the Section 151 officer to approve amendments to the Council’s 
Fees and Charges, which has been done to avoid loss of income. The data below shows 
the new fees pertaining to lease agreements

Description Gross Fee*

Administration/Set Up Fee £72

Termination Fee (if termination occurs within the first year of the term) £72

Termination Fee (if termination occurs after the first year of the term) £48

Amendments (which require a change in the original Lease) £36

Deed of Surrender (termination of lease prior to end of the Break Notice) 
+ Termination Fee as above £36

Garden Lease Administration Fee £30

Garden Lease Termination Fee £30

* VAT is chargeable where the option to tax the property has been exercised

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution Internal O&S are requested to formally 
recommend to C&R inclusion of the charges above into the Council’s Fees and 
Charges.

Page 139



Document is Restricted

Page 140

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 147

Agenda Item 19
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Community & Resources Committee meeting held on 4 March 2019
	Minutes

	4 Forward Plan
	8 Adoption of an Updated Devon Wide Housing Assistance
	8a - Housing Assistance Policy 2019-22

	9 Household Waste Duty of Care - setting of Fixed Penalty Notice Levels
	10 Bideford Port Safety Management System
	10a - Section 2 - Marine Safety Plan
	10b - SMS Policy and PMSC Compliance Plan

	11 Adoption of the North Devon Coast Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan 2019 -2024
	11a - Final Management Plan v150218 with maps

	12 Devon County Council Grant Funding for Community Groups and Local Projects
	13 Torridge District Council Play Strategy
	14 Fees & Charges - Lease Agreements (Recommendations from Internal Overview & Scrutiny Committee)
	18 Property Purchase (Homeless Accommodation)
	19 Application for Hardship Relief

